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PART I

Item 1. Business

Introduction

Our Company

We are the largest recreational boat dealer itJitieed States. Through 55 retail locations in Alala Arizona
California, Colorado, Connecticut, Florida, Geordiaryland, Minnesota, Missouri, New Jersey, Newky dorth
Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Rhode Island, Tennessae,Texas, we sell new and used recreational bioatading
pleasure and fishing boats, with a focus on prentuamds in each segment. We also sell related marimducts,
including engines, trailers, parts, and accessadiriesddition, we arrange related boat financingurance, and
extended service contracts; provide repair and tma@mce services; offer boat and yacht brokeragygcss; and,
where available, offer slip and storage accommodati

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Sea Rapt@oWhaler, Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian recreatiboats
and yachts, all of which are manufactured by Bruokworporation. Sales of new Brunswick boats aated for
approximately 51% of our revenue in fiscal 200uriwick is the world’s largest manufacturer of marproducts
and marine engines. We believe our sales reprasapggoximately 6% of all Brunswick marine salesuding
approximately 31% of its Sea Ray boat sales, duing2009 fiscal year. We are parties to dealezements with
Brunswick covering Sea Ray products and are thkisixe dealer of Sea Ray boats in almost all ofgaographic
markets. We also are the exclusive dealer for Ft¥achts throughout the state of Florida (excigdhe Florida
panhandle) and the states of New Jersey, New Yamidk,Texas; the exclusive dealer for Cabo Yachtatjirout the
states of Florida, New Jersey, and New York; th&uesive dealer for Boston Whaler in many of our keds,
including our locations in the states of New Ydxarth Carolina, and portions of the states of FlariCalifornia,
and Texas; and the exclusive dealer for MeridianhY&in most of our geographic markets. In addjtiee are the
exclusive dealer for Italy-based Azimut-Benetti Godor Azimut and Atlantis mega-yachts, yachts, atiger
recreational boats for the Northeast United Stiites Maryland to Maine and the state of Florida.

We commenced operations as a result of the MartB98 acquisition of five previously independent
recreational boat dealers. Since that time, we hageired 20 additional previously independenteatonal boat
dealers, two boat brokerage operations, and tweéulice yacht repair operations. We capitalizaéh@nexperience
and success of the acquired companies in ordestablesh a new national standard of customer seiu
responsiveness in the highly fragmented retailibgahdustry. As a result of our emphasis on prembrand boats,
our average selling price for a new boat in fi@09 was approximately $133,000, an increase afoxppately 5%
from fiscal 2008, compared with the industry averaglendar 2008 selling price of approximately $8@,based o
industry data published by the National Marine Mawturers Association. Our stores, which operatdelaest
12 months, averaged approximately $11.3 millioannual sales in fiscal 2009. We consider a stoletone or
more retail locations that are adjacent or opeaatene entity. Our sansere sales decreased 28% in fiscal 200t
29% in fiscal 2009, but averaged an annual increaapproximately 11% for the preceding five years.

We adopt the best practices developed by us andaguired companies as appropriate to enhancebdity &
attract more customers, foster an overall enjoyhbling experience, and offer boat manufactutaises and
professional retail distribution and a broad gepbirapresence. We believe that our full range ofises, no hassle
sales approach, prime retail locations, premiundpcbofferings, extensive facilities, strong managat and team
members, and emphasis on customer service anthstitin before and after a boat sale are competéovantages
that enable us to be more responsive to the ndegigsting and prospective customers.

The U.S. recreational boating industry generatgd@apmately $33.6 billion in retail sales in calem®008,
including sales of new and used boats; marine mtsgdsuch as engines, trailers, equipment, andsacdes; and
related expenditures, such as fuel, insurance,idgcg&torage, and repairs. Retail sales of newusied boats,
engines, trailers, and accessories accounted foogimately $24.8 billion of these sales in 2008ézhon industry
data from the National Marine Manufacturers Assibaia The highly fragmented retail boating indusggnerally
consists of small dealers that operate in a simgleket and provide varying degrees of merchandigingfessional
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management, and customer service. We believe thay small dealers are finding it increasingly difli to make
the managerial and capital commitments necessaghi@ve higher customer service levels and upggsiems
and facilities as required by boat manufacturets@@manded by customers. We also believe that mealers lack
an exit strategy for their owners. We believe tHaséors contribute to our opportunity.

Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as the natilm@ding recreational boat dealer. Key elementsuof
operating and growth strategy include the following

« emphasizing customer satisfaction and loyalty l®ating an overall enjoyable boating experienceinméog
with a hassle-free purchase process, superiormasteervice, company-led events called Getaways!, a
premier facilities

« achieving efficiencies and synergies among ouratjmars to enhance internal growth and profitahil
< promoting national brand name recognition and tlaeidMMax connectior

« emphasizing the “best practices” developed by ascam acquired dealers as appropriate throughaut ou
dealerships

« offering additional products and services, inclgdihose involving higher profit margin

* pursuing strategic acquisitions to capitalize ugienconsolidation opportunities in the highly frasmted
recreational boat dealer industry by acquiring toldal dealers and related operations and improtheq
performance and profitability through the implenagiun of our operating strategie

« opening additional retail facilities in our exiggiand new territories
< emphasizing employee training and developm
« expanding our Internet retail operations and mange
 operating with a decentralized approach to theaimeral management of our dealerships;
« utilizing information technology throughout opeats, which facilitates the interchange of inforroati
sharing and enhances cr-selling opportunities throughout our compa
Development of the Company; Expansion of Business

MarineMax was founded in January 1998. MarineMaglftf however, conducted no operations until the
acquisition of five independent recreational bcedldrs on March 1, 1998, and we completed oualmptiblic
offering in June 1998. Since the initial acquigisan March 1998, we have acquired 20 additionedeeional boat
dealers, two boat brokerage operations, and twséulice yacht repair operations. Acquired deabgrsrate under
the MarineMax name.

We continually attempt to enhance our businessroyiging a full range of services, offering exteressand
high-quality product lines, maintaining prime rétacations, pursuing the MarineMax Value Priceesapproach,
and emphasizing the highest level of customer serand customer satisfaction.

We also evaluate opportunities to expand our ojpeErmby acquiring recreational boat dealers to espaur
geographic scope, expanding our product lines,iogarew retail locations within our existing teories, and
offering new products and services for our cust@mner
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Acquisitions of additional recreational boat deslepresent an important strategy in our goal tmeoe our
position as the nation’s leading retailer of reticzaal boats. The following table sets forth infation regarding the

businesses that we have acquired and their gedgraggions.

Acquired Companies

Bassett Boat Company of Flori

Louis Del[Homme Marin

Gulfwind USA, Inc.

Gulfwind South, Inc.

Harrison’s Boat Center, Inc. and
Harrison's Marine Centers of
Arizona, Inc.

Stovall Marine, Inc.

Cochran’s Marine, Inc. and C & N
Marine Corporatior

Sea Ray of North Carolina, In

Brevard Boat Compan

Sea Ray of Las Veg:

Treasure Cove Marina, Inc

Woods & Oviatt, Inc.

Boating World

Merit Marine, Inc.

Suburban Boatworks, Inc

Hansen Marine, Inc

Duce Marine, Inc.

Clark’s Landing, Inc. (selected New
Jersey locations and operatio

Associated Marine Technologies, Ir

Gulfwind Marine Partners, Inc

Seaside Marine, Inc

Sundance Marine, Inc

Killinger Marine Center, Inc. and
Killinger Marine Center of Alabam:i
Inc.

Emarine International, Inc. and Steven

Myers, Inc.
Imperial Marine
Port Jacksonville Marin
Port Arrowhead Marina, Inc
Great American Marina(1

Surfside— 3 Marina, Inc.

(1) Joint Venture

Acquisition Date

March 199!
March 199!
March 199!
March 199!

March 199!
April 199¢

July 199¢

July 199¢
September 19¢
September 19¢
September 19¢
October 199
February 199
March 199
April 199¢
August 199
December 19¢

April 200C
January 20C
April 2002
July 200:
June 200

September 20(

October 200
June 200
June 200

January 20C

February 200

March 200!

Geographic Regiot

Southeast Florid

Dallas and Houston, Tex
West Central Florid,
Southwest Florid:

Northern California (closed 2009) and Arizc
Georgia

Minnesota

North and South Carolir
East Central Florid
Nevadas

Northern Ohic
Southeast Florid
Dallas, Texa:
Southern New Jerse
Central New Jerse
Northeast Florid:
Utah (closed 200¢

Northern New Jerse
Southeast Florid
West Floridz
Southern Californi:
Coloradao

Northwest Florida and Alaban

Southeast Florid

Baltimore, Marylanc

Northeast Florid:

Missouri, Oklahom:

West Floride

Connecticut, Maryland, New York and Rhode
Island

Apart from acquisitions, we have opened 27 newilrizations in existing territories, excluding g®opened
on a temporary basis for a specific purpose. We mlsnitor the performance of our retail locations &lose retail
locations that do not meet our expectations. Baseithese factors and the recent depressed ecocomidions,
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we have closed 47 retail locations since March 18%96luding those opened on a temporary basis $peaific
purpose, including 26 in fiscal 2009.

As a part of our acquisition strategy, we frequeptigage in discussions with various recreationat bdealers
regarding their potential acquisition by us. Ingeation with these discussions, we and each pategquisition
candidate exchange confidential operational arehfifal information; conduct due diligence inquiriaed consider
the structure, terms, and conditions of the poséatiquisition. In certain cases, the prospectopissition candidat
agrees not to discuss a potential acquisition aity other party for a specific period of time, gsams an option to
purchase the prospective dealer for a designated guring a specific time period, and agrees ke tather actions
designed to enhance the possibility of the acdaisisuch as preparing audited financial informatmd converting
its accounting system to the system specified byPatential acquisition discussions frequently taleee over a
long period of time and involve difficult busingssegration and other issues, including in somesafanagement
succession and related matters. As a result oé thed other factors, a number of potential acqorstthat from
time to time appear likely to occur do not resnlbinding legal agreements and are not consummated.

In addition to acquiring recreational boat deaberd opening new retail locations, we also add nendyxt
lines to expand our operations. The following tad#és forth various current product lines that weehadded to our
existing locations during the years indicated.

Product Line Fiscal Year Geographic Region

Boston Whale 1997 West Central Florida; Stuart, Florida; Dallas, T&

Hatteras Yacht 199¢  Florida (excluding the Florida panhand

Boston Whale 200C  North Palm Beach, Floric

Meridian Yachts 200z  Florida, Georgia, North and South Carolina, Nevsdg,
Ohio, Minnesota, Texas, and Delaw

Grady White 200z Houston, Texa

Hatteras Yacht 200z Texas

Boston Whale 200¢  North and South Carolir

Princecraff 200¢  Minnesota

Boston Whale 200t Houston and Dallas, Tex

Meridian Yachts 200t  Chattanooga, Tenness

Azimut 200¢  Northeast United States from Maryland to Ma

Atlantis 200¢  Northeast United States from Maryland to Ma

Cabo 200€  West coast of Florid

Cabo 2007 East coast of Florid

Azimut 200¢  Florida

Cabo 200¢  New Jersey and New Yo

Hatteras Yacht 200¢  New Jersey and New Yo

Meridian Yachts 200¢  Arizona, and Colorad

Meridian Yachts 200¢  Maryland and Delawar

Boston Whale 200¢  Southwest Florid:

As we add a brand, we believe we are offering aatiign path for our existing customer base omfgla gap in
our product offerings. As a result, we do not bhadi¢hat new product offerings will compete withoainnibalize the
business generated from our other prominent braffésalso discontinue offering product lines fromdito time,
primarily based upon customer preferences.

During the nine-year period from the commencemépuo operations through our fiscal year ended
September 30, 2007, our revenue increased from B@8an to $1.2 billion. Our revenue and net incemcreased
in seven of those nine years over the prior yeagmae and net income. This period was marked bgapase in
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retail locations from 41 on September 30, 19983@B8 September 30, 2007, resulting from acquisstamd openir
new stores in existing territories.

Our growth was interrupted during the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2007, primarily as a resulactbfs
related to the deteriorating housing market. Sulbisilly deteriorating economic and financial coratis, reduced
consumer confidence and spending, increases irpfiggs, lower credit availability, stock and bandrket
declines, and asset value deterioration all coutieid to substantially lower financial performancetie fiscal years
ended September 30, 2008 and September 30, 2@0%img significant losses.

We have taken a number of actions to address retamhtet and economic conditions, including defeyidir
acquisition program, slowing our new store openimgducing our inventory purchases, engaging ierimory
reduction efforts, closing a number of our retaddtions, significantly reducing our headcount, enadlifying our
debt structure and credit agreement. We cannotqtriag length or severity of the current recesaigrenvironment
or the magnitude of the effects it will have on operating performance nor can we predict the tifecess of the
measures we have taken to address this environment.

Despite the foregoing, we are maintaining our a@ieies of customer service and satisfaction ana fola
continue to pursue strategies that will enableowschieve long-term growth. We believe that wevee# positioned
for long-term success and growth when economicitiond improve. Upon a return to more normal ecoicom
conditions, we plan to resume expanding our busiti@®ugh acquisitions in new geographical terie®rnew store
openings in existing territories, and adding newadpict lines. In addition, we plan to continue tpaxd other
services, including conducting used boat salegyrioifj yacht and boat brokerage services; offerimgcastomers tt
ability to finance new or used boats; offering exted service contracts; arranging insurance coeeragluding
boat property, credit-life, accident, disabilitpydacasualty coverage; selling related marine prsirecluding
engines, trailers, parts, and accessories; prayidiaintenance and repair services at our retaatioes and at stand-
alone service facilities; and expanding our abiid@yrovide slip and storage accommodations. Opagsion plans
will depend upon the return of normal economic é¢toils.

We maintain our executive offices at 18167 U.S.hHigy 19 North, Suite 300, Clearwater, Florida 3376
our telephone number is (727) 531-1700. We wererpuarated in the state of Delaware in January 1898ss the
context otherwise requires, all references to “MeMax” mean MarineMax, Inc. prior to its acquisgitiof five
previously independent recreational boat dealelarnch 1998 (including their related real estatepanies) and ¢
references to the “Company,” “our company,” “weyis;” and “our” mean, as a combined company, MariagM
Inc. and the 20 recreational boat dealers, two bazkterage operations, and two full-service yaeptir operations
acquired to date (the “acquired dealers,” and togretvith the brokerage and repair operations, ‘afieg
subsidiaries,” or the “acquired companies”).

Our website is located atww.MarineMax.com Through our website, we make available free affgh our
annual report on Form 10-K, our quarterly reportdorm 10-Q, our current reports on Form 8-K, auxy
statements, and any amendments to those repedsoiilfurnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 16{dhe
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These reportsieadable as soon as reasonably practicable atter w
electronically file those reports with the Secestand Exchange Commission, or SEC. We also pastiowebsite
the charters of our Audit, Compensation, and NotmgéCorporate Governance Committees; our Corporate
Governance Guidelines, Code of Business ConducEgmids, and Code of Ethics for the CEO and Sefinancial
Officers, and any amendments or waivers theretth;agny other corporate governance materials contagpby
SEC or the regulations of the New York Stock Exg®ror NYSE. These documents are also availahpeirin to
any stockholder requesting a copy from our corosatretary at our principal executive offices.&mse our
common stock is listed on the NYSE, our Chief EximeuOfficer is required to make an annual cerdfion to the
NYSE stating that he is not aware of any violatigrus of the corporate governance listing standafdse NYSE.
Our Chief Executive Officer made his annual cegéifion to that effect to the NYSE on February 182
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BUSINESS

General

We are the largest recreational boat dealer itUthited States. Through 55 retail locations in Alalba Arizona
California, Colorado, Connecticut, Florida, Geordvearyland, Minnesota, Missouri, New Jersey, Newkydorth
Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Rhode Island, Tenness®® Texas, we sell new and used recreational hioatsding
pleasure boats (such as sport boats, sport crugge yachts, and yachts), and fishing boatd) witocus on
premium brands in each segment. We also sell tetatgine products, including engines, trailerstgpand
accessories. In addition, we arrange related b@hyacht financing, insurance, and extended sepgogracts;
provide repair and maintenance services; offer bodtyacht brokerage services; and, where avajlalyeand
storage accommodations.

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Sea Ragt@oWhaler, Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian recreatiboats
and yachts, all of which are manufactured by Bruokworporation. Sales of new Brunswick boats aated for
approximately 51% of our revenue in fiscal 200ur&wick is the world’s largest manufacturer of marproducts
and marine engines. We believe our sales reprasapgroximately 6% of all Brunswick marine saleg/uding
approximately 31% of its Sea Ray boat sales, dwing2009 fiscal year. We are parties to dealeeegents with
Brunswick covering Sea Ray products and are thkisixe dealer of Sea Ray boats in almost all ofgaographic
markets. We also are the exclusive dealer for IHet¥achts throughout the state of Florida (excigdhe Florida
panhandle) and the states of New Jersey, New Yamidk, Texas; the exclusive dealer for Cabo Yachtatjitout the
states of Florida, New Jersey, and New York; th&uesive dealer for Boston Whaler in many of our keds,
including our locations in the states of New Ydxarth Carolina, South Carolina, and portions ofstees of
Florida, California, and Texas; and the exclusigaldr for Meridian Yachts in most of our geographirkets,
excluding California. In addition, we are the exile dealer for Italy-based Azimut-Benetti Group Azimut and
Atlantis mega-yachts, yachts, and other recreatiooats for the Northeast United States from Margléo Maine
and the state of Florida.

U.S. Recreational Boating Industry

The total U.S. recreational boating industry geteat@pproximately $33.6 billion in retail salescalendar
2008, including retail sales of new and used reitmeal boats; marine products, such as engindiergaparts, and
accessories; and related boating expenditures,asufifel, insurance, docking, storage, and repRetail sales of
new and used boats, engines, trailers, and acoessamcounted for approximately $24.8 billion oflsisales in
2008. Annual retail recreational boating sales v§re.9 billion in the late 1980s, but declined tow of
$10.3 billion in 1992 based on industry data pitdi by the National Marine Manufacturers Assocrative
believe this decline was attributable to severeidis, including a recession, the Gulf War, anditmgosition
throughout 1991 and 1992 of a luxury tax on boald at prices in excess of $100,000. The luxurywtas repealed
in 1993, and retail boating sales increased eaghthereafter except for 1998, 2003, 2007, 2008,2009.

The recreational boat retail market remains higrdgmented with little consolidation having occutte date
and consists of numerous boat retailers, most aflwdwre small companies owned by individuals thrate in a
single market and provide varying degrees of mardising, professional management, and customeicseive
believe that many boat retailers are encounteringeased pressure from boat manufacturers to inegeir levels
of service and systems, increased competition fewvger national retailers in certain product lingsd, in certain
cases, business succession issues.

Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as the natitmading recreational boat dealer. Key elementsuofstrategy
include the following.

Emphasizing Customer Satisfaction and Loyaltye seek to achieve a high level of customerfsation
and establish long-term customer loyalty by crepsin overall enjoyable boating experience beginmiitly a
hassle-free purchase process. We further enhadcsimaplify the purchase process by helping to ayean
financing and insurance at our retail locationsweibmpetitive terms and streamlined
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turnaround. We offer the customer a thorougkvater orientation of boat operations where avadlahs well a
ongoing boat safety, maintenance, and use senmandrdemonstrations for the customer’s entire fanilhe
also continue our customer service after the saledding and sponsoring MarineMax Getaways! group
boating trips to various destinations, rendezvatberings, and on-the-water organized events teiggaur
customers with pre-arranged opportunities to etfjeypleasures of the boating lifestyle. We alsceandr to
provide superior maintenance and repair servidésn through mobile service at the customer’s viptand
with extended service department hours and emeyganeice availability, that minimize the hassléboat
maintenance.

Achieving Operating Efficiencies and Synergiaa/e strive to increase the operating efficiencitand
achieve certain synergies among our dealershipedier to enhance internal growth and profitabilitye
centralize various aspects of certain administeafinctions at the corporate level, such as acaayrfinance,
insurance coverage, employee benefits, marketiraegic planning, legal support, purchasing astridiution,
and management information systems. Centralizatidhese functions reduces duplicative expenses and
permits the dealerships to benefit from a levedasle and expertise that would otherwise be ureailto eac
dealership individually. We also seek to realizet@avings from reduced inventory carrying costa essult of
purchasing boat inventories on a national leveldinetting boats to dealership locations that canemmeadily
sell such boats; lower financing costs throughavadit sources; and volume purchase discountsebates for
certain marine products, supplies, and advertisihg. ability of our retail locations to offer theraplementary
services of our other retail locations, such asroffy customer excursion opportunities, providirgmenance
and repair services at the customer’s boat locasind giving access to a larger inventory, incredise
competitiveness of each retail location. By ceittiiad) these types of activities, our store managaxse more
time to focus on the customer and the developmethiedr teams.

Promoting Brand Name Recognition and the Marinel@axinection. We are promoting our brand name
recognition to take advantage of our status asdien’s only coast-to-coast marine retailer. tiategy also
recognizes that many existing and potential custemwho reside in Northern markets and vacation for
substantial periods in Southern markets will prédgourchase and service their boats from the sagtle
known company. We refer to this strategy as therfiMaMax Connection.” As a result, our sighage ensptes
the MarineMax name at each of our locations, andeveluct national advertising in various print atider
media.

Emphasizing Best PracticesWe emphasize the “best practices” developed ndsour acquired dealers
as appropriate throughout our locations. As an @@mve follow a no-haggle sales approach at e&oluro
dealerships. Under the MarineMax Value-Price apgrpae sell our boats at posted prices, generally
representing a discount from the manufacturer'gested retail price, thereby eliminating the anegebf price
negotiations that occur in most boat purchaseadiition, we adopt, where beneficial, the besttras
developed by us and our acquired dealers in tefriosation, design, layout, product purchases, teaiance
and repair services (including extended servicasand mobile or dockside services), product mixpleyee
training, and customer education and services.

Offering Additional Products and Services, Inclglifhose Involving Higher Profit MarginsWe plan to
continue to offer additional product lines and &g throughout our dealerships or, when appragriat
selected dealerships. We are offering throughoutlealerships product lines that previously havenbeffered
only at certain of our locations. We also may abtdditional product lines through the acquisitadn
distribution rights directly from manufacturers ahe acquisition of dealerships with distributiéghts. In
either situation, such expansion is typically ddmeugh agreements that appoint us as the excldsiaker for .
designated geographic territory. We have increasedised boat sales and yacht brokerage servicagythn an
increased emphasis on these activities, cooperatiogs among our dealerships, and the use ofintieenet.
We also plan to continue to grow our financing arglirance, parts and accessories, service, ancstmage
businesses to better serve our customers and thiex@ease revenue and improve profitability ofstadigher
margin businesses.

Pursuing Strategic AcquisitionsWe capitalize upon the significant consolidatigportunities available
in the highly fragmented recreational boat dealdustry by acquiring independent dealers and
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improving their performance and profitability thghuthe implementation of our operating strategi¢s
primary acquisition focus is on well-establisheidhhend recreational boat dealers in geographiketamot
currently served by us, particularly geographic kets with strong boating demographics, such assaméhin
the coastal states and the Great Lakes region.|S@eray seek to acquire boat dealers that, whdatéml in
attractive geographic markets, have not been ahiealize favorable market share or profitabilindahat can
benefit substantially from our systems and opegadinategies. We may expand our range of prodoes i
service offerings, and market penetration by adogicompanies that distribute recreational boatipeb lines
or boating-related services different from thosecweently offer. As a result of our consideralvidustry
experience and relationships, we believe we arépesitioned to identify and evaluate acquisiti@mdidates
and assess their growth prospects, the qualityedf mnanagement teams, their local reputation witomers,
and the suitability of their locations. We believe are regarded as an attractive acquirer by besders
because of (1) the historical performance and sperence and reputation of our management teahinie
industry; (2) our decentralized operating strategyich generally enables the managers of an aajdiealer tc
continue their involvement in dealership operatjd8% the ability of management and employees ddi@aquiret
dealer to participate in our growth and expansiwaugh potential stock ownership and career advaané
opportunities; and (4) the ability to offer liquigito the owners of acquired dealers through tkeips of
common stock or cash. We have entered into an agmgeregarding acquisitions with the Sea Ray Davigif
Brunswick. Under the agreement, acquisitions of Bap dealers will be mutually agreed upon by us $eal
Ray with reasonable efforts to be made to inclubalance of Sea Ray dealers that have been suaicasdf
those that have not been. The agreement provideS#a Ray will not unreasonably withhold its conige any
proposed acquisition of a Sea Ray dealer by usesiuto the conditions set forth in the agreemastiurther
described in “Business — Brunswick Agreement Retatd Acquisitions.”

Opening New Facilities.We intend to continue to establish additionagitéacilities in our existing and
new markets. We believe that the demographics oégisting geographic territories support the opgrof
additional facilities, and we have opened 27 ndwailréacilities, excluding those opened on a tenappbasis
for a specific purpose, since our formation in Jagu998. We also plan to reach new customers gifirou
various innovative retail formats developed bysugh as mall stores and floating retail facilitidse
continually monitor the performance of our retattdtions and close retail locations that do nottroae
expectations or that were opened for a specifipgag that is no longer relevant. Based on theserfasince
March 1998, we have closed 47 retail locations|ughng those opened on a temporary basis for afspec
purpose, including 26 in fiscal 2009 because ofeged economic conditions.

Emphasizing Employee Training and DevelopmeWe devote substantial efforts to train our emplsyti
understand our core retail philosophies, which $oon making the purchase of a boat and its subaégse as
hassle-free and enjoyable as possible. ThrougMamineMax University, or MMU, we teach our retail
philosophies to existing and new employees at uvariocations and online, through MMU-online. MMUais
modularized and instructor-led educational progtiaat focuses on our retailing philosophies and ioles
instruction on such matters as the sales procasgroer service, F&I, accounting, leadership, amidn
resources.

Utilization of the Internet. Our web initiatives span across multiple websitetuding our core site,
www.MarineMax.com The websites provide customers with the abilitieern more about our company and
our products. Our website generates direct salépeovides our stores with leads to potential custics for
new and used boats, brokerage services, financeandhnce products, and repair and maintenangessr
We also maintain multiple online storefronts fostmmers to purchase a wide variety of boating arts
accessories. In addition, we utilize various feeudelbsites and social networking websites to driditaonal
traffic and leads for our various product and senefferings.

Operating with Decentralized ManagementVe maintain a generally decentralized approacheo
operational management of our dealerships. Thentieteed management approach takes advantage of th
extensive experience of local managers, enabliag tto implement policies and make decisions, irolyithe
appropriate product mix, based on the needs dbttae market. Local management authority also feste
responsive customer service and promotes long-temmunity and customer relationships. In addittbe,
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centralization of certain administrative functiatghe corporate level enhances the ability ofllat@nagers to
focus their efforts on day-to-day dealership operstand the customers.

Utilizing Technology Throughout OperationdVe believe that our management information systenich
currently is being utilized by each of our dealgrsland was developed over a number of years throug
cooperative efforts with a common vendor, enhancesbility to integrate successfully the operagioh our
dealerships and future acquired dealers. The syfsteifitates the interchange of information and @mtes
cross-selling opportunities throughout our compdrhe system integrates each level of operatiors on
company-wide basis, including purchasing, inventoggeivables, financial reporting, budgeting, aakks
management. The system also provides sales repmges with prospect and customer information tids
them in tracking the status of their contacts withspects, automatically generates followeoprespondence
such prospects, facilitates the availability of sc@mpany-wide, locates boats needed to satisficplar
customer requests, and monitors the maintenanceeamite needs of customers’ boats. Our repre$esdat
also utilize the computer system to assist in girapcustomer financing and insurance packagesntamagel
use a web-based tool to access essentially alidinahand operational data from anywhere at angtim

Products and Services

We offer new and used recreational boats and cefat&ine products, including engines, trailersigand
accessories. While we sell a broad range of newuard boats, we focus on premium brand produceddiition,
we assist in arranging related boat financing, riaisce, and extended service contracts; providerhaattenance
and repair services; provide boat brokerage sesvamed offer slip and storage accommodations.

New Boat Sales

We primarily sell recreational boats, includinggsare boats and fishing boats. The principal przdwe offer
are manufactured by Brunswick, the leading worléidanufacturer of recreational boats, including Baa
pleasure boats, Boston Whaler fishing boats, Cadchts, Hatteras Yachts, and Meridian Yachts. kafi2009, we
derived approximately 51% of our revenue from thle ®f new boats manufactured by Brunswick. Weebelithat
we represented approximately 6% of all of Brunsveickarine product sales during that period. Certdiour
dealerships also sell luxury yachts, fishing boait&] pontoon boats provided by other manufactuirechyding
Italy-based Azimut. During fiscal 2009, new bodesaccounted for 60.7% of our revenue.

We offer recreational boats in most market segméiitishave a particular focus on premium qualigaglre
boats and yachts as reflected by our fiscal 20@8ame new boat sales price of approximately $183.80 increase
of approximately 5% from fiscal 2008, compared vdthestimated industry average calendar 2008 gqdliice of
approximately $37,000 based on industry data pudidy the National Marine Manufacturers Associat®iven
our locations in some of the more affluent, offghboating areas in the United States and emphadigh levels o
customer service, we sell a relatively higher petage of large recreational boats, such as medatsja@achts, and
sport cruisers. We believe that the product linesoffer are among the highest quality within thespective mark:
segments, with well-established trade-name reciognénd reputations for quality, performance, atytirsy.
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The following table is illustrative of the rangedaapproximate manufacturer suggested retail pange of ney
boats that we currently offer, but is not all irgilte.

Manufacturer Suggested

Product Line and Trade Name Overall Length Retail Price Range
Motor Yachts
Hatteras Motor Yacht 60 to 10C+ $3,000,000 to $10,000,0+
Azimut 38 to 11€+ 790,000 to 12,000,0+
Convertibles
Hatteras Convertible 54" to 77 + 2,300,000 to 7,000,0+
Cabo 32" to 57 475,000 to 2,000,0+
Pleasure Boats
Sea Ray 17 to 6C 21,000 to 2,500,0¢(
Meridian 34" to 5¢ 300,000 to 1,600,0(
Fishing Boats
Boston Whale 11’ to 37 8,000 to 400,0C
Grady White 18 to 3¢ 40,000 to 500,0(

Motor Yachts. Hatteras Yachts and Azimut are two of the worfafemier yacht builders. The motor yacht
product lines typically include state-of-the-arsidms with live-aboard luxuries. Hatteras offeff/hridge with
extensive guest seating; covered aft deck, which imeafully or partially enclosed, providing the beawith
additional living space; an elegant salon; and iplelstaterooms for accommodations. Azimut yacheskaown for
their Americanized open layout with Italian desaymd powerful performance. The luxurious interickg\pimut
yachts are accented by windows and multiple accodatimns that have been designed for com

Convertibles. Hatteras Yachts and Cabo Yachts are two of thédiggpremier convertible yacht builders and
offer state-of-the-art designs with live-aboarddtigs. Convertibles are primarily fishing vesselhjch are well
equipped to meet the needs of even the most sabausament-class competitor. Hatteras featuresiors that
offer luxurious salon/galley arrangements, multgtiEerooms with private heads, and a cockpititithides a bait
and tackle center, fishbox, and freezer. Cabo ésvknfor spacious cockpits and accessibility to esaks, such as
bait chests, livewells, bait prep centers, andléaldckers. Cabo interiors offer elegance, highighby teak
woodwork, halogen lighting, and ample storage areas

Pleasure Boats.Sea Ray and Meridian pleasure boats target bethukury and the family recreational boat
markets and come in a variety of configurationsuib each customer’s particular recreational bgasityle. Sea Ray
sport yachts and yachts serve the luxury segmethieafecreational boating market and include tofhefline living
accommodations with a salon, a fully equipped gabed multiple staterooms. Sea Ray sport yachis/anhts are
available in cabin, bridge cockpit, and cruiser mledSea Ray sport boat and sport cruiser modeldesmigned for
performance and dependability to meet family reftweal needs and include many of the features and
accommodations of Sea Ray’s sport yacht and yaolels. Meridian sport yachts and yachts are knawthieir
solid performance and thoughtful use of space @6b-degree views and spacious salon, galley, aterebm
accommodations. Meridian sport yachts and yacletsweailable in sedan, motoryacht, and pilothousdetso All
Sea Ray and Meridian pleasure boats feature custnumentation that may include an electronickpge;
various hull, deck, and cockpit designs that cafuihe a swim platform; bow pulpit and raised bridaed various
amenities, such as swivel bucket helm seats, loseges, sun pads, wet bars, built-in ice chestsrefreshment
centers. Most Sea Ray and Meridian pleasure beatare Mercury or MerCruiser engines.

Fishing Boats. The fishing boats we offer, such as Boston Whatet Grady White, range from entry level
models to advanced models designed for fishingveatdr sports in lakes, bays, and off-shore wateith, cabins
with limited live-aboard capability. The fishing dts typically feature livewells, in-deck fishboxesdholders,
rigging stations, cockpit coaming pads, and fresh saltwater washdowns.
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Used Boat Sale

We sell used versions of the new makes and modelsfier and, to a lesser extent, used boats of otlages
and models generally taken as tragke-During fiscal 2009, used boat sales accoufmed?2.5% of our revenue, ai
74.7% of the used boats we sold were Brunswick sode

Our used boat sales depend on our ability to scaumgply of high-quality used boats at attracfisiees. We
acquire substantially all of our used boats throaggtomer trade-ins. We intend to continue to iasecour used
boat business as a result of the availability @fligyiused boats generated from our new boat dfeds, the
increasing number of used boats that are well-ragiatl through our service initiatives, including ®&semium
Certified Pre-Owned Program, our ability to manke¢d boats throughout our combined dealership mktigo
match used boat demand, and the experience ofaahit prokerage operations. Additionally, substdigtell of our
used boat inventory is posted on our websiteyw.MarineMax.com which expands the awareness and availability
of our products to a large audience of boating Esi#sts.

To further enhance our used boat sales, we laurelfrdmium Certified Pre-Owned Program, or PCPO, in
fiscal 2008. Generally, PCPO boats are less thanyfears old, have passed a 150+ point inspediwhcarry a one
year warranty. Additionally, we offer the Sea Raghcy warranty plan available for used Sea Raysteas thai
six years old. The Legacy plan applies to eachifyira used Sea Ray boat, which has passed a 48-psipection,
and provides protection against failure of mostima@ical parts for up to three years. We believedhgograms
enhance our sales of used Sea Ray boats by motyadrchasers of used Sea Ray boats to complétgthehases
through our Sea Ray dealerships.

Marine Engines, Related Marine Equipment, and Boagj Accessories

We offer marine engines and propellers, substangdll of which are manufactured by Mercury Mariae,
division of Brunswick. We sell marine engines amdgellers primarily to retail customers as replaeats for their
existing engines or propellers. Mercury Marine imioduced various new engine models that redugeen
emissions to comply with current Environmental Betibn Agency requirements. See “Business — Enwiremtal
and Other Regulatory Issues.” An industry leadeafmost six decades, Mercury Marine specializes in
state-of-the-art marine propulsion systems andsasweés. Many of our dealerships have been recedriy
Mercury Marine as “Premier Service Dealers.” Thesignation is generally awarded based on meetirigine
standards and qualifications.

We also sell related marine parts and accessamigading oils, lubricants, steering and contratgyns,
corrosion control products, engine care, mainte@aaid service products (primarily Mercury Marin@sicksilver
line); high-performance accessories (such as piepglnd instruments; and a complete line of Ingagiccessories,
including life jackets, inflatables, and water g§paquipment. We also offer novelty items, suchkrags, caps, and
license plates bearing the manufacturer’s or dadiggo.

The sale of marine engines, related marine equipraed boating accessories accounted for 5.0% rofiseal
2009 revenue.

Maintenance, Repair, and Storage Services

Providing customers with professional, prompt meaince and repair services is critical to our safests anc
contributes to our success. We provide maintenandeepair services at most of our retail locatiovith extended
service hours at certain of our locations. In additin many of our markets, we provide mobile ni@rance and
repair services at the location of the customeva bWe believe that this service commitment ismgetitive
advantage in the markets in which we compete andtisal to our efforts to provide a trouble-frbeating
experience. To further this commitment, in certaiour markets, we have opened stand-alone mainterand
repair facilities in locations that are more corieanfor our customers and that increase the avilitlaof such
services. We also believe that our maintenanceepalir services contribute to strong customeriagriahips and
that our emphasis on preventative maintenance aalityjservice increases the potential supply of-waintained
boats for our used boat sales.
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We perform both warranty and non-warranty repaivises, with the cost of warranty work reimbursertie
manufacturer in accordance with the manufactusegganty reimbursement program. For warranty wor&st
manufacturers, including Brunswick, reimburse acpatage of the dealer’s posted service labor refiéls the
percentage varying depending on the dealer’s cuatsatisfaction index rating and attendance aie®tvaining
courses. We derive the majority of our warrantyeraxe from Brunswick products, as Brunswick prodaotsiprise
the majority of products sold. Certain other mantifeers reimburse warranty work at a fixed amouantrppair.
Because boat manufacturers permit warranty wobletperformed only at authorized dealerships, weivec
substantially all of the warranted maintenancerapair work required for the new boats we sell. Tied-party
extended warranty contracts we offer also resudinimngoing demand for our maintenance and repaiices for
the duration of the term of the extended warraotyti@act.

Our maintenance and repair services are performenanufacturer-trained and certified service teciamis. In
charging for our mechanics’ labor, many of our destiips use a variable rate structure designeeflect the
difficulty and sophistication of different types i&pairs. The percentage markups on parts aresslynbased on
manufacturer suggested prices and market conditwrdifferent parts.

At many of our locations, we offer boat storagesees, including in-water slip storage and insidd autside
land storage. These storage services are offermzhgtetitive market rates and includeseason and winter storay

Maintenance, repair, and storage services accotion&dd9% of our revenue during fiscal 2009. Thislides
warranty and non-warranty services.

F&I Products

At each of our retail locations, we offer our cumtgs the ability to finance new or used boat puseland to
purchase extended service contracts and arrangeiree coverage, including boat property, crefiit And
accident, disability, and casualty insurance cayei@ollectively, “F&I").

We have relationships with various national mapneduct lenders under which the lenders purchasad re
installment contracts evidencing retail sales aftb@nd other marine products that are originayeastin
accordance with existing pre-sale agreements betweand the lenders. These arrangements peritaitraseive a
portion of the finance charges expected to be éavnehe retail installment contract based on &taof factors,
including the credit standing of the buyer, thewaimpercentage rate of the contract charged toulger, and the
lender’s then current minimum required annual paiage rate charged to the buyer on the contracs. Th
participation is subject to repayment by us if liger prepays the contract or defaults within agieged time
period, usually 90 to 180 days. To the extent neguby applicable state law, our dealerships asned to
originate and sell retail installment contractsfining the sale of boats and other marine products.

We also offer third-party extended service contraetder which, for a predetermined price, we prewtl
designated services pursuant to the service camjtadelines during the contract term at no addaicharge to the
customer above a deductible. While we sell all heats with the boat manufacturer’s standard huitavay of
generally five years and standard engine warrah@jenerally one year, extended service contracteige
additional coverage beyond the time frame or safpee manufacturer’s warranty. Purchasers of tsexds
generally are able to purchase an extended sesoitteact, even if the selected boat is no longeeed by the
manufacturer’s warranty. Generally, we receiveeafée arranging an extended service contract. vexgtired
services under the contracts are provided by ugaittfor by the third-party contract holder.

We also are able to assist our customers with pip@runity to purchase credit life insurance, aeotdand
disability insurance, and property and casualtyriasce. Credit life insurance policies providergpayment of the
boat financing contract if the purchaser dies witike contract is outstanding. Accident and disghitisurance
policies provide for payment of the monthly contralligation during any period in which the buysidisabled.
Property and casualty insurance covers loss or gartethe boat. We do not act as an insurance bovkagent or
issue insurance policies on behalf of insurers.d&ehowever, provide marketing activities and otiedaited
services to insurance companies and brokers farhwilue receive marketing fees. One of our stratagitsgenera
increased marketing fees by offering more competitisurance products.
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During fiscal 2009, fee income generated from Fé&dducts accounted for 2.7% of our revenue. We belie
that our customers’ ability to obtain competitiueaincing quickly and easily at our dealerships clemgnts our
ability to sell new and used boats. We also belmwueability to provide customer-tailored financiog a
“same-day” basis gives us an advantage over manyrofompetitors, particularly smaller competittirat lack the
resources to arrange boat financing at their dglailes or that do not generate sufficient volumattmact the
diversity of financing sources that are availabl@s$.

Brokerage Services

Through employees or subcontractors that are lextbsat or yacht brokers, we offer boat or yacbkérage
services at most of our retail locations. For a wassion, we offer for sale brokered boats or yadrgsng them on
the “BUC” system, advising our other retail locasoof their availability through our integrated qmuter system,
and posting them on our web siteyw.MarineMax.com The BUC system, which is similar to a real estatstiple
listing service, is a national boat or yacht ligtservice of approximately 900 brokers maintaing@bC
International. Often sales are co-brokered, withabmmission split between the buying and sellirgkérs. We
believe that our access to potential used boabowests and methods of listing and advertising custsitbrokered
boats or yachts is more extensive than is typicadray brokers. In addition to generating revenumfbwokerage
commissions, our brokerage services also enahie affer a broad array of used boats or yachtsamitlincreasing
related inventory costs. During fiscal 2009, braiggr services accounted for 1.2% of our revenue.

Our brokerage customers generally receive the $aghelevel of customer service as our new and beed
customers. Our waterfront retail locations enablesater demonstrations of an on-site brokered lfat.
maintenance and repair services, including moleiteise, also are generally available to our brogereustomers.
The purchaser of a boat brokered through us alsdad@ advantage of MarineMax Getaways! weekenddagd
trips and other rendezvous gatherings and in-veatents, as well as boat operation and safety sesavie believe
that the array of services we offer are uniqué@lirokerage business.

Retail Locations

We sell our recreational boats and other marindymrts and offer our related boat services throughetail
locations in Alabama, Arizona, California, Colora@mnnecticut, Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Minnesdlissouri,
New Jersey, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklalmmhode Island, Tennessee, and Texas. Eachlogtailon
generally includes an indoor showroom (includinmeaof the industry’s largest indoor boat showrooars) an
outside area for displaying boat inventories, drmss office to assist customers in arranging firepand
insurance, and maintenance and repair facilities.

Many of our retail locations are waterfront propeston some of the nation’s most popular boaticgtions,
including the Mission Bay in California; Norwalk Heor in Connecticut; multiple locations on the &uoastal
Waterway, the Atlantic Ocean, Biscayne Bay, Booeg@iBay, Naples Bay (next to the Gulf of Mexicaanipa
Bay, and the Caloosahatchee River in Florida; Uakaer in Georgia; Chesapeake Bay in Maryland; hdeske
and the St. Croix River in Minnesota; Lake of thea€ks, Table Rock Lake, and the Mississippi Rive¥lissouri;
Barnegat Bay, the Hudson River, Lake Hopatcondlel Egg Harbor, and the Manasquan River in Newejers
Great Sound Bay, the Hudson River, and Huntingtarbbir in New York; the Intracoastal Waterway in
North Carolina; Lake Erie in Ohio; Grand Lake inl&oma; Tennessee River in Tennessee; and Clear, hak
Lake Lewisville in Texas. Our waterfront retail &dions, most of which include marina-type facikt@nd docks at
which we display our boats, are easily accessibthe boating populace, serve as in-water showrpantsenable
the sales force to give customers immediate indgenonstrations of various boat models. Most afather
locations are in close proximity to water.

Operations
Dealership Operations and Management

We have adopted a generally decentralized appitoaitte operational management of our dealershigsleN
certain administrative functions are centralizethatcorporate level, local management is primagbkponsible for
the day-to-day operations of the retail locatideech retail location is managed by a store managey,oversees
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the day-to-day operations, personnel, and finapaéormance of the individual store, subject ® dlirection of a
regional manager, who generally has responsibidityhe retail locations within a specified geodriypregion.
Typically, each retail location also has a staffigieting of an F&l manager, a parts manager, asehéce manager,
sales representatives, maintenance and repairitéis) and various support personnel.

We attempt to attract and retain quality employaesur retail locations by providing them with onep
training to enhance sales professionalism and ptdcowledge, career advancement opportunitiesinvdgtarger
company, and favorable benefit packages. We maiatédrmal training program, called MarineMax Unisigy or
MMU, which provides training for employees in afipgects of our operations. Training sessions acdtedur
various regional locations covering a variety qfits. MMU-online offers various modules over the Interneghty
trained, professional sales representatives ammportant factor to our successful sales effortese sales
representatives are trained at MMU to recognizértiportance of fostering an enjoyable sales prodessducate
customers on the operation and use of the boadgoaassist customers in making technical and dedggisions in
boat purchases. The overall focus of MMU is to leagr core retailing values, which focus on custosssvice.

Sales representatives receive compensation prin@rih commission basis. Each store manager imaezh
employee with incentive bonuses based on the pedioce of the managed dealership. Maintenance gadf re
service managers receive compensation on a saary With bonuses based on the performance of their
departments. Our management information systemgee\each store and department manager with dadpdial
and operational information, enabling them to mamtiheir performance on a daily, weekly, and montidsis. We
have a uniform, fully integrated management infdrarasystem serving each of our dealerships.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales philosophy focuses on selling the plessof the boating lifestyle. We believe that thigaal
elements of our sales philosophy include our appgaétail locations, no-hassle sales approachnigained sales
representatives, high level of customer servicgleasis on educating the customer and the custoffiaenity on
boat usage, and providing our customers with opipdties for boating. We strive to provide supegastomer
service and support before, during, and after #he s

Each retail location offers the customer the opputy to evaluate a large variety of new and useatdin a
comfortable and convenient setting. Our full-sesvietail locations facilitate a turn-key purchasgrgcess that
includes attractive lender financing packages,reddd service agreements, and insurance. Many aktait
locations are located on waterfronts and marin&gtwattract boating enthusiasts and enable custoto®perate
various boats prior to making a purchase decision.

We sell our boats at posted value prices that gdgeepresent a discount from the manufacturarggested
retail price. Our sales approach focuses on custegrgice by minimizing customer anxiety associat@t price
negotiation.

As a part of our sales and marketing efforts, vge alrticipate in boat shows and in-the-water salests at
area boating locations, typically held in Januargt Bebruary and toward the end of the boating seas@ach of
our markets and in certain locations in close prity to our markets. These shows and events araallyrheld at
convention centers or marinas, with area deal@tinge space. Boat shows and other offsite prometame an
important venue for generating sales orders. Tla¢ fltows also generate a significant amount oféstén our
products resulting in boat sales after the show.

We emphasize customer education through one-oredneation by our sales representatives and, at some
locations, our delivery captains, before and atsale, and through in-house seminars for theeefatinily on boat
safety, the use and operation of boats, and pratkrobnstrations. Typically, one of our delivery teéps or the
sales representative delivers the customer’s lboat tarea boating location and thoroughly instrtietscustomer
about the operation of the boat, including hand#structions for docking and trailering the boed. enhance our
customer relationships after the sale, we leadsapdsor MarineMax Getaways! group boating tripgaigous
destinations, rendezvous gatherings, and on-therwaganized events that promote the pleasurdwedidating
lifestyle. Each company-sponsored event, plannddethby a company employee, also provides a félera
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medium for acclimating new customers to boatingyristy exciting boating destinations, creating fdgiips with
other boaters, and enabling us to promote actively product offerings to boating enthusiasts.

As a result of our relative size, we believe weeéhavcompetitive advantage within the industry bipgeble to
conduct an organized and systematic advertisingrvearéteting effort. Part of our marketing effortluides an
integrated prospect management system that trhekstatus of each sales representative’s contétttayprospect,
automatically generates follow-up corresponderaeijifates company-wide availability of a partiaubmat or other
marine product desired by a customer, and tracksniintenance and service needs for the custoineats

Suppliers and Inventory Management

We purchase substantially all of our new boat inegndirectly from manufacturers, which allocatevnigoats
to dealerships based on the amount of boats saldebgiealership. We also exchange new boats whitkr atealers t
accommodate customer demand and to balance inyentor

We purchase new boats and other marine-relatedipt®ffom Brunswick, which is the world’s largest
manufacturer of marine products, including Sea Bagton Whaler, Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian. Ve al
purchase new boats and other marine related podhoch other manufacturers, including Azimut, Gratlhite,
and Tracker Marine. In fiscal 2009, sales of newrBwick boats accounted for approximately 51% afreuenue.
No other manufacturer accounted for more than 10&uorevenue in fiscal 2009. We believe our Sew Rzat
purchases represented approximately 31% of SeaRaw boat sales and approximately 6% of all Bruclsw
marine product sales during fiscal 2009.

We have entered into agreements with Brunswick iogesea Ray products. The dealer agreements kgth t
Sea Ray division of Brunswick do not restrict aight to sell any Sea Ray product lines or competirgglucts. The
terms of each dealer agreement appoints a desijgatgraphical territory for the dealer, whichxslesive to the
dealer so long as the dealer is not in breacheofrtaterial obligations and performance standardsiutie
agreement and Sea Ray’s then current materialipsland programs following notice and the expiratibany
applicable cure periods without cure.

Upon the completion of the Surfside-3 acquisitiwe,became the exclusive dealer for Azimut-Benettiup'’s
Azimut product line in the Northeast United StafHse Azimut dealer agreement provides a geographitory to
promote the product line and to network with thprapriate clientele through various independenations
designated for Azimut retail sales.

We typically deal with each of our manufacturetsieo than the Sea Ray division of Brunswick, urater
annually renewable, noexclusive dealer agreement. Manufacturers genegathblish prices on an annual basis
may change prices in their sole discretion. Manufaes typically discount the cost of inventory after inventory
financing assistance during the manufacturers’ sleasons, generally October through March. To oliaver cost
of inventory, we strive to capitalize on these nfanturer incentives to take product delivery durihg
manufacturers’ slow seasons. This permits us to gacing advantages and better product availghilitring the
selling season. Arrangements with certain otherufaarturers may restrict our right to offer someduct lines in
certain markets.

We transfer individual boats among our retail lamad to fill customer orders that otherwise migiket
substantially longer to fill from the manufactur&his reduces delays in delivery, helps us maxinmizentory
turnover, and assists in minimizing potential ot@ck or out-of-stock situations. We actively monitar inventory
levels to maintain levels appropriate to meet curamticipated market demands. We are not bounzmbhtractual
agreements governing the amount of inventory tleatnwst purchase in any year from any manufacthtegrthe
failure to purchase at agreed upon levels maytrésthe loss of certain manufacturer incentive® pérticipate in
numerous end-of-summer manufacturer boat showghwhanufacturers sponsor to sell off their remajnin
inventory at reduced costs before the introduationew model year products, typically beginningluty.

Inventory Financing

Marine manufacturers customarily provide interessistance programs to retailers. The interesttassis
varies by manufacturer and may include periodsex financing or reduced interest rate programs.iifiterest
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assistance may be paid directly to the retailéherfinancial institution depending on the arrangets the
manufacturer has established. We believe thatinanéing arrangements with manufacturers are stenaihin the
industry.

We account for consideration received from our weadn accordance with FASB Accounting Standards
Codification 605-50, “Revenue Recognition, Custodayments and Incentives” (ASC 605-50), previousfgrred
to as Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 02Ad;dunting by a Customer (Including a Reseller)Gertain
Consideration Received from a Vendor.” ASC 605-5istisignificantly requires us to classify interassistance
received from manufacturers as a reduction of itorgrcost and related cost of sales as opposedttmg the
assistance against our interest expense incurtbdowr lenders. Pursuant to ASC 605-50, amountsivred by us
under our co-op assistance programs from our maturkxs are netted against related advertisingresgse

We are party to a second amended and restated anebisecurity agreement, which has been amended on
various occasions since its original executionuineJ2006. As amended, our credit facility proviftesa line of
credit with asset-based borrowing availability ampproximately $230 million, stepping down to $1iilion by
September 30, 2010, with interim decreases betweeim dates. The amended facility has certain fiahnovenant
as specified in the agreement. The covenants iaghuolvisions that our leverage ratio not excee8l &71; that our
current ratio must be greater than 1.25 to 1 dd 1021 depending on the time of year; and thathoaximum
EBITDA loss and annual EBITDA, both as definedhe agreement, comply with certain thresholds asriesi
below. The EBITDA covenant requires that we doexateed the allowable cumulative negative EBITDA, as
defined in the agreement, for the first nine momthiscal 2010, which is $22 million as of DecemBé&, 2009 and
March 31, 2010 and $15 million as of June 30, 20¥8.are required to have a cumulative EBITDA gretiten or
equal to our interest expense for the fiscal yadirg September 30, 2010. EBITDA, as defined inaheement, is
our earnings before interest, taxes, depreciatind,amortization plus an add back for stock-basetpensation
expense and 50% of the proceeds of our SeptembB8rs20ck offering or approximately $10 million. Tamended
facility provides for a variable interest rate margf LIBOR plus 490 basis points through Septen8#r2010 and
thereafter at LIBOR plus 150 to 400 basis poingpeshding upon our financial and operating perforceaiiVe paid
the lenders approximately $2.4 million in amendnfees during fiscal 2009. The amended facility megun May
2011, but includes two one-year renewal optionkjest to lender approval.

At September 30, 2009, we owed an aggregate of 8ilian under our revolving credit facility and weein
compliance with all of the credit facility covenanfdvances under the facility accrued interest i@te of 5.2% as
of September 30, 2009, and the facility providedavith an additional net borrowing availability giroximately
$60 million. All indebtedness associated with cealrestate holdings were repaid during the fiseal ynded
September 30, 2008.

Management Information System

We believe that our management information systeimich currently is being utilized by each of our
dealerships and was developed over a number o yearugh cooperative efforts with the vendor, emcea our
ability to integrate successfully the operation®wf dealerships and future acquisitions, facéahe interchange
information, and enhances cross-selling opportesitiroughout our company. The system integrates leael of
operations on a companyide basis, including purchasing, inventory, reabies, financial reporting and budgeti
and sales management. The system enables us ttomeeih dealership’s operations in order to idgmfilickly
areas requiring additional focus and to managenitorg. The system also provides sales represeatatith
prospect and customer information that aids thetraitking the status of their contacts with prosgpesutomaticall
generates follow-up correspondence to such prospradilitates the availability of a particular beampany-wide,
locates boats needed to satisfy a particular custoaguest, and monitors the maintenance and semeieds of
customers’ boats. Company representatives aldmautiie system to assist in arranging financingiaadrance
packages.
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Brunswick Agreement Relating to Acquisitions

We and the Sea Ray Division of Brunswick are partiean agreement extending through December 25 t
provides a process for the acquisition of additi@ea Ray boat dealers that desire to be acquyred bUnder the
agreement, acquisitions of Sea Ray dealers withbwially agreed upon by us and Sea Ray with redderdforts
to be made to include a balance of Sea Ray ddhlkgrfiave been successful and those that haveeeat hhe
agreement provides that Sea Ray will not unreadpnéthhold its consent to any proposed acquisitiba Sea Ra
dealer by us, subject to the conditions set fartthe agreement. Among other things, the agreepremides for us
to provide Sea Ray with a business plan for eachqsed acquisition, including historical financald five-year
projected financial information regarding the asifion candidate; marketing and advertising plaesyice
capabilities and managerial and staff personnfyimation regarding the ability of the candidateathieve
performance standards within designated period$jrE#ormation regarding the success of our preveguisitions
of Sea Ray dealers. The agreement also contem@ateRay reaching a good faith determination whekiee
acquisition would be in its best interest base@dwndedication and focus of resources on the SgébRad and Sea
Ray’s consideration of any adverse effects thaafigroval would have on the resulting territory faguration of
adjacent or other dealers and the absence of atatien of applicable laws or rights granted by Reg to others.

Dealer Agreements with Brunswick

Brunswick, through its Sea Ray division, and wegtigh our dealerships, are parties to Sales andcger
Agreements relating to Sea Ray products extentiraugh December 2015. Each of these dealer agréemen
appoints one of our dealerships as a dealer foretiadl sale, display, and servicing of design&ed Ray products,
parts, and accessories currently or in the futale sy Sea Ray. Each dealer agreement designalesignated
geographical territory for the dealer, which islegove to the dealer as long as the dealer ismbteach of the
material obligations and performance standardsmuheeagreement and Sea Rathien current material policies ¢
programs following notice and the expiration of @pplicable cure periods without cure. Each desdeeement
also specifies retail locations, which the dealaymot close, change, or add to without the priotten consent of
Sea Ray, provided that Sea Ray may not unreasonatbhilyold its consent. Each dealer agreement &swicts the
dealer from selling, advertising (other than inoggized and established marine publications), biolicfor sale, or
offering for resale any Sea Ray products outsgleeitritory without the prior written consent oféSRay as long as
similar restrictions also apply to all domestic &=y dealers selling comparable Sea Ray productddition, each
dealer agreement provides for the lowest produceprcharged by Sea Ray from time to time to odoenestic Sea
Ray dealers, subject to the dealer meeting altefairements and conditions of Sea Ray’s applicplgrams and
the right of Sea Ray in good faith to charge lepsiees to other dealers to meet existing competitircumstances,
for unusual and non-ordinary business circumstarareer limited duration promotional programs.

Among other things, each dealer agreement reqtiieedealer to

« devote its best efforts to promote, display, adsertand sell Sea Ray products at each of itd tetaitions in
accordance with the agreement and applicable |

« display and utilize at each of its retail locati@igns, graphics, and image elements with Sea Ray’s
identification that positively reflect the Sea Rmage and promote the retail sale of Sea Ray pteg

« purchase and maintain at all times sufficient inegnof current Sea Ray products to meet the ressen
demand of customers at each of its locations amdetet Sea Ray’s applicable minimum inventory
requirements

* maintain at each retail location, or at anotheeptable location, a service department that isgngstaffed
and equipped to service Sea Ray products promptlypaofessionally and to maintain parts and supyte
service Sea Ray products properly on a timely b

 perform all necessary product rigging, installatiand inspection services prior to delivery to pasers in
accordance with Sea Ray’s standards and perfortrsptes services of all Sea Ray products sold by dades
and brought to the dealer for servi
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« provide or arrange for warranty and service workSea Ray products regardless of the selling dealer
condition of sale

« exercise reasonable efforts to address circumstanaghich another dealer has made a sale to gmati
retail purchaser who permanently resides withindaalers territory where such sale is contrary to thdrsg
deale’s Sales and Service Agreeme

 provide appropriate instructions to purchasersmm to obtain warranty and service work from thelde:

« furnish product purchasers with Sea Ray’s limitedranty on new products and with information and
training as to the safe and proper operation andtereance of the product

« assist Sea Ray in performing any product defectracall campaigns

 achieve sales performance in accordance with fairaasonable standards and sales levels estabbghe
Sea Ray in consultation with the dealer based ciofs.such as population, sales potential, maheates
percentage of Sea Ray products sold in the teyrdtompared with competitive products sold in tireitizry,
local economic conditions, competition, past shistry, number of retail locations, and other $alec
circumstances that may affect the sale of Sea Rajupts or the dealer, in each case consistent with
standards established for all domestic Sea Ragdestlling comparable produc

« provide designated financial information that acghful and accurate

« conduct its business in a manner that preservesmmahces the reputation and goodwill of both SsadRd
the dealer for providing quality products and sezsi

* maintain the financial ability to purchase and nteimon hand and display Sea I's current product mode
* maintain customer service ratings in compliancé\Bita Ra’s criteria;

« comply with those dealer’s obligations that mayirhposed or established by Sea Ray applicable to all
domestic Sea Ray deale

« maintain a financial condition that is adequateatisfy and perform its obligations under the agreset;

« achieve within designated time periods or maintagior dealer status (which is Sea Ray’s highest
performance status) or other applicable certifaratiequirements as established from time to tim&éy Ra
applicable to all domestic Sea Ray deal

» notify Sea Ray of the addition or deletion of aatail locations

« sell Sea Ray products only on the basis of SeaRaylished applicable limited warranty and makether
warranty or representations concerning the limitadranty, expressed or implied, either verballynor
writing;

« provide timely warranty service on all Sea Ray pigid presented to the dealer by purchasers in dacoe
with Sea Ray'’s then current warranty program applie to all domestic Sea Ray dealers selling coaipar
Sea Ray products; al

» provide Sea Ray with access to the dealer’s boo#tsecords and such other information as Sea Rgy ma
reasonably request to verify the accuracy of theamty claims submitted to Sea Ray by the dealdr wi
regard to such warranty clain

Sea Ray has agreed to indemnify each of our deadmisst any losses to third parties resulting f&ea Ray’s
negligent acts or omissions involving the desigmanufacture of any of its products or any breach bf the
agreement. Each of our dealers has agreed to infjeBea Ray against any losses to third partiesltiag from the
dealer’s negligent acts or omissions involvingdealer’s application, use, or repair of Sea Raylpets, statements
or representation not specifically authorized bg Bay, the installation of any after market compasi@r any othe
modification or alteration of Sea Ray products, ang breach by the dealer of the agreement.
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Each dealer agreement may be terminated

« by Sea Ray, upon 60 days prior written noticehéf dealer fails or refuses to place a minimum stackrder
of the next model year’s products in accordancé vatuirements applicable to all Sea Ray dealarergdy
or fails to meet its financial obligations as thmcome due to Sea Ray or to the d¢'s lenders

» by Sea Ray or the dealer, upon 60 days writtercadti the other, in the event of a breach or defauthe
other with any of the of the material obligatiopsrformance standards, covenants, representations,
warranties, or duties imposed by the agreemeriteoBea Ray manual that has not been cured withdag®
of the notice of the claimed deficiency or withimesmsonable period when the cure cannot be condplete
within a 60-day period, or at the end of the 60-gasiod without the opportunity to cure when thasma
constitutes bad faitt

* by Sea Ray or the dealer if the other makes a frleatl misrepresentation that is material to theagrent or
the other engages in an incurable act of bad 1

« by Sea Ray or the dealer in the event of the irsaly, bankruptcy, or receivership of the otl

« by Sea Ray in the event of the assignment of theemgent by the dealer without the prior written st of
Sea Ray

« by Sea Ray upon at least 15 days’ prior writtericean the event of the failure to pay any sums aiue
owing to Sea Ray that are not disputed in gooth;faitd

« upon the mutual consent of Sea Ray and the d¢

Employees

As of September 30, 2009, we had 1,245 employe&85 bf whom were in store-level operations an@50
whom were in corporate administration and managéniée are not a party to any collective bargaining
agreements. We consider our relations with our eygas to be excellent.

Trademarks and Service Marks

We have registered trade names and trademarkgheitt.S. Patent and Trademark Office for variounes
including “MarineMax,” “MarineMax Getaways,” “MargMax Care,” “Delivering the Dream,” “MarineMax
Delivering the Boating Dream,” “Newcoast Financsarvices,” “MarineMax Boating Gear Center,” and “fvien
on Water.” We have registered the name “MarineMaxhe European Community. We have trade name and
trademark applications pending in Canada for varimames, including “MarineMax,” “Delivering the m,” and
“The Water Gene.” There can be no assurance tlyadfathese applications will be granted.

Seasonality and Weather Conditions

Our business, as well as the entire recreatioreigp industry, is highly seasonal, with seasopnafétrying in
different geographic markets. Over the three-yegiod ended September 30, 2009, the average re¥entie
quarters ended December 31, March 31, June 3G5epimber 30 represented approximately 20%, 25%, aad
25%, respectively, of our average annual revenith the exception of Florida, we generally real&gnificantly
lower sales and higher levels of inventories amated short-term borrowings, in the quarterly pesiending
December 31 and March 31. The onset of the pubkd &Bnd recreation shows in January stimulatesdades and
typically allows us to reduce our inventory levelsl related short-term borrowings throughout timeaieder of the
fiscal year.

Our business is also subject to weather patterhighwnay adversely affect our results of operatiéius
example, drought conditions (or merely reducedfadlifevels) or excessive rain, may close areaibhgdbcations o
render boating dangerous or inconvenient, therebaiting customer demand for our products. In tddj
unseasonably cool weather and prolonged winterittond may lead to a shorter selling season inageibcations.
Hurricanes and other storms could result in disomgtof our operations or damage to our boat iroréed and
facilities, as has been the case when Florida émet onarkets were affected by hurricanes. Althooigh
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geographic diversity is likely to reduce the ovkimbact to us of adverse weather conditions in amy market are
these conditions will continue to represent pot#nthaterial adverse risks to us and our futurarfaial
performance.

Environmental and Other Regulatory Issues

Our operations are subject to extensive regulasopervision, and licensing under various fedestake, and
local statutes, ordinances, and regulations. Winddoelieve that we maintain all requisite licensed permits and
are in compliance with all applicable federal, st@nd local regulations, there can be no assuthateve will be
able to maintain all requisite licenses and perniite failure to satisfy those and other regulateuirements
could have a material adverse effect on our busjrigmncial condition, and results of operatiofise adoption of
additional laws, rules, and regulations could &dlave a material adverse effect on our businessoWafederal,
state, and local regulatory agencies, includingQbeupational Safety and Health AdministrationQ@HA, the
United States Environmental Protection Agency, BAEand similar federal and local agencies, haxisdiction
over the operation of our dealerships, repair itéesl, and other operations with respect to matach as consumer
protection, workers’ safety, and laws regardinggetion of the environment, including air, watandasoil.

The EPA has various air emissions regulations fitlb@ard marine engines that impose more strictsans
standards for two-cycle, gasoline outboard marirgirees. The majority of the outboard marine engimesell are
manufactured by Mercury Marine. Mercury Marine’squct line of low-emission engines, including theti®ax,
Verado, and other four-stroke outboards, have dyrezhieved the EPA’s mandated 2006 emission el
increased costs of producing engines resulting &M standards, or the inability of our manufacatsite comply
with EPA requirements, could have a material advefect on our business.

Certain of our facilities own and operate undergmstorage tanks, or USTs, for the storage of uario
petroleum products. The USTs are generally subjefetderal, state, and local laws and regulatibas tequire
testing and upgrading of USTs and remediation afaminated soils and groundwater resulting frorkilgaUSTSs.
In addition, if leakage from company-owned or opedldJSTs migrates onto the property of others, \ag be
subject to civil liability to third parties for resdiation costs or other damages. Based on histexperience, we
believe that our liabilities associated with US$tieg, upgrades, and remediation are unlikely wetemmaterial
adverse effect on our financial condition or opeagatesults.

As with boat dealerships generally, and parts @andice operations in particular, our business imgslthe use,
handling, storage, and contracting for recyclingligposal of hazardous or toxic substances or waisteluding
environmentally sensitive materials, such as motipwaste motor oil and filters, transmission fluantifreeze,
freon, waste paint and lacquer thinner, batteselvents, lubricants, degreasing agents, gasamediesel fuels.

Accordingly, we are subject to regulation by fedlestate, and local authorities establishing regments for th
use, management, handling, and disposal of thesariala and health and environmental quality stad&leand
liability related thereto, and providing penaltfes violations of those standards. We are alsoestitip laws,
ordinances, and regulations governing investigadioth remediation of contamination at facilities eperate to
which we send hazardous or toxic substances oewé#st treatment, recycling, or disposal.

We do not believe we have any material environnidiafailities or that compliance with environmentaivs,
ordinances, and regulations will, individually arthe aggregate, have a material adverse effegtiohusiness,
financial condition, or results of operations. Hek soil and groundwater contamination has beemvkrto exist
at certain properties owned or leased by us. We h#o been required and may in the future be redto remove
aboveground and underground storage tanks conggirdinardous substances or wastes. As to certaiurof
properties, specific releases of petroleum have beare in the process of being remedied in aecoare with state
and federal guidelines. We are monitoring the @od groundwater as required by applicable statdfedetal
guidelines. In addition, the shareholders of thguared dealers have indemnified us for specificiemmental
issues identified on environmental site assessnpamfermed by us as part of the acquisitions. Wantaan
insurance for pollutant cleanup and removal. Theecage pays for the expenses to extract pollufamts land or
water at the insured property, if the dischargspelisal, seepage, migration, release, or escape pbllutants is
caused by or results from a covered cause of Wesalso have additional storage tank liability irgice and
“Superfund” coverage where applicable. In additicertain of our retail locations are located onematys that are

20




Table of Contents

subject to federal or state laws regulating navigalaters (including oil pollution prevention), isnd wildlife, and
other matters.

Two of the properties we own were historically ussdyasoline service stations. Remedial action regpect
to prior historical site activities on these prdje= has been completed in accordance with fedachktate law.
Also, two of our properties are within the boundarof a “Superfund” site, although neither propésg been nor is
expected to be identified as a contributor to thetamination in the area. We, however, do not belibat these
environmental issues will result in any materiabliities to us.

Additionally, certain states have required or amesidering requiring a license in order to opeeatecreational
boat. While such licensing requirements are noeetqd to be unduly restrictive, regulations magaisage
potential first-time buyers, thereby limiting futusales, which could adversely affect our busirfesancial
condition, and results of operations.

Product Liability

The products we sell or service may expose us tengial liabilities for personal injury or propertiamage
claims relating to the use of those products. Hiisatly, the resolution of product liability clainteas not materially
affected our business. Our manufacturers genaraiytain product liability insurance, and we maimthird-party
product liability insurance, which we believe todmequate. However, we may experience legal clairascess of
our insurance coverage, and those claims may nodvered by insurance. Furthermore, any significtaitms
against us could adversely affect our businesantial condition, and results of operations andltés negative
publicity. Excessive insurance claims also couiiliein increased insurance premiums.

Competition

We operate in a highly competitive environmentadidition to facing competition generally from restien
businesses seeking to attract consumers’ leismeedind discretionary spending dollars, the reaeatiboat
industry itself is highly fragmented, resultingiitiense competition for customers, quality produlstat show
space, and suitable retail locations. We rely ¢tergain extent on boat shows to generate salesin@bility to
participate in boat shows in our existing or taegemarkets could have a material adverse effeouoibusiness,
financial condition, and results of operations.

We compete primarily with single-location boat @égaland, with respect to sales of marine equipnpamts,
and accessories, with national specialty marinesta@atalog retailers, sporting goods stores aags merchants.
Dealer competition continues to increase baseth®wquality of available products, the price andigadf the
products, and attention to customer service. Tises@nificant competition both within markets wariently serve
and in new markets that we may enter. We competadh of our markets with retailers of brands aitb@and
engines we do not sell in that market. In addite®yeral of our competitors, especially thosersgltioating
accessories, are large national or regional chbatshave substantial financial, marketing, anéotksources.
However, we believe that our integrated corpornafi@structure and marketing and sales capabilitiescost
structure, and our nationwide presence enable cartpete effectively against these companies. fersales of
used boats is an additional significant sourceoofipetition.
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Executive Officers
The following table sets forth information conceieach of our executive officers:

Name Age Position

William H. McGill Jr. 66 Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executive
Officer, and Directo

Michael H. McLamb 44  Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,
Secretary, and Directt

Edward A. Russe 49 Executive Vice President of Operations and S

Kurt M. Frahn 41 Vice President of Finance and Treast

Jack P. Ezze 39 Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer, and Colier

Jay J. Avelinc 59 Vice President of Human Resourt

Paulee C. Da 40 Vice President, General counsel and Assistant &g

William H. McGill Jr. has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Malviax since January 23, 1998 and as
the Chairman of the Board and as a director ofconnpany since March 6, 1998. Mr. McGill servedtesRresider
of our company from January 23, 1988 until Septar8b@000 and re-assumed the position on July 0220
Mr. McGill was the principal owner and presidentGilfwind USA, Inc., one of our operating subsi@ar from
1973 until its merger with us.

Michael H. McLambhas served as Executive Vice President of our cosnpmce October 2002, as Chief
Financial Officer since January 23, 1998, as Sagyetince April 5, 1998, and as a director sinceéaber 1, 200:
Mr. McLamb served as Vice President and Treasureuncompany from January 23, 1998 until OctoligrZ002.
Mr. McLamb, a certified public accountant, was eoyeld by Arthur Andersen LLP from December 1987 to
December 1997, serving most recently as a senioagd.

Edward A. Russehas served as Executive Vice President of Opeiatiod Sales of our company since
February 2008. Mr. Russell served as Vice Presioe@perations of our company from March 2006 uRéibruary
2008, and as a Vice President of our company fratolter 22, 2002 until March 2006. Mr. Russell sdras the
Regional Manager of our Florida operations from éstgl, 2002 until October 22, 2002 and as the Diddresider
for our Central and West Florida operations frontéhal998 until August 1, 2002. Mr. Russell was amer and
General Sales Manager of Gulfwind USA Inc., onewfoperating subsidiaries, now called MarineMaxehtral
Florida, from 1984 until its merger with our comgan March 1998.

Kurt M. Frahnhas served as Vice President of Finance and Trerastiour company since October 22, 2002.
Mr. Frahn served as Director of Taxes and Acquisgiof our company from May 15, 1998 until OctoB2y 2002.
Mr. Frahn was employed by Arthur Andersen LLP fr8aptember 3, 1991 until May 15, 1998, serving most
recently as a tax consulting manager.

Jack P. Ezzelhas served as Vice President and Chief Accountiifiged of our company since October 22,
2002 and as Corporate Controller of our compangesitune 1, 1999. Mr. Ezzell served as AssistantrGiter from
January 13, 1998 until June 1, 1999. Mr. Ezzatkuified public accountant, was employed by ArtAndersen
LLP from August 1996 until January 1998, servingstrecently as a senior auditor.

Jay J. Avelindhas served as Vice President of Human Resouraasr @ompany since February 2008.
Mr. Avelino served as Vice President of Team Depalent of our company from May 2000 until Februadp@
Previously, Mr. Avelino was employed by Caliper @aration, a New Jersey-based personality assessmeént
human resources consulting company, most recesitBeaior Vice President.

Paulee C. Dayas served as Vice President of our company siebeugiry 2009 and as General Counsel and
Assistant Secretary since January 2003. Ms. Dagictive member of the Florida Bar, was employed/ayxxim
Medical from May 1999 to November 2002, serving/ase President, General Counsel, and Secretargr Rrithat
time, Ms. Day was Corporate Attorney at Eckerd @oaion from June 1997 through May 1999 and a aaitgo
attorney at the law firm Trenam, Kemker, Scharfrtkda Frye, O'Neill and Mullis, P.A. from Januar®5 through
June 1997. Ms. Day is a graduate of the Indianaéssity School of Law and a graduate of Vandetbiitversity
where she attained both her Bachelor's and MastdBsisiness Administration.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

General economic conditions and consumer spendidgt@rns can negatively impact our operating resuylsd
the severe recession that began in late 2007 haseskly affected the boating industry and our compa

General economic conditions and consumer spenditigrps can negatively impact our operating results
Unfavorable local, regional, national, or globabeomic developments or uncertainties regarding-éuiconomic
prospects could reduce consumer spending in thkatsawve serve and adversely affect our businessdfaic
conditions in areas in which we operate dealersipggicularly Florida in which we generated 44%% and 45%
of our revenue during fiscal 2007, 2008, and 208Spectively, can have a major impact on our ojmrait Local
influences, such as corporate downsizing and myjlitase closings, also could adversely affect parations in
certain markets.

In an economic downturn, consumer discretionaryndimg levels generally decline, at times resulimg
disproportionately large reductions in the sal&ugtiry goods. Consumer spending on luxury goods miay declin
as a result of lower consumer confidence levelenéfprevailing economic conditions are favoral#lghough we
have expanded our operations during periods ohatagor modestly declining industry trends, thelicat nature of
the recreational boating industry or the lack afustry growth could adversely affect our businéagncial
condition, or results of operations in the futukay period of adverse economic conditions or lowsianer
confidence has a negative effect on our business.

Lower consumer spending resulting from a downtarthe housing market and other economic factors
adversely affected our business in fiscal 2007cmdinued weakness in consumer spending resultomg f
substantial weakness in the financial markets ateribrating economic conditions had a very sultistanegative
effect on our business in fiscal 2008 and 2009. ®venue decreased from $1.2 billion in fiscal 2067
$885.4 million in fiscal 2008, to $588.6 million fiscal 2009. Our earnings have decreased front amceme of
$20.1 million in fiscal 2007 to a net loss of $134iillion in fiscal 2008 (including a $122.1 milliagoodwill
impairment charge) and a net loss of $76.8 miliiofiscal 2009. These substantially deterioratingreomic and
financial conditions have had a greater impact amyrother participants in the boating industry hvaertain
manufacturers and dealers ceasing business operatidiling for bankruptcy. While the reductionbinating
industry participants might have a long-term pusiimpact on our company’s competitive position,axe facing
and expect to continue to face short-term competjressure resulting from decreased selling pasesresult of
forced sales and other liquidations of excess itorgn

These conditions caused us to defer our acquigitiogram, slow our new store openings, reducerougritory
purchases, engage in inventory reduction effoltssecsome of our retail locations, and reduce eadbount. While
we believe the steps we have taken to date wilblenas to emerge from the current economic enviemtras a
stronger and more profitable company, we canndtigr¢he length or severity of these unfavorableneenic or
financial conditions or the extent to which theyladversely affect our operating results nor canpredict the
effectiveness of the measures we have taken t@sslthiis environment or whether additional measwiiébe
necessary. A continuation of depressed economioriacould have additional negative effects onammpany,
including interfering with our supply of certainadmds by manufacturers, reduced marketing and stigort by
manufacturers, decreased revenue, additional pessen margins, and our failure to satisfy covemanter our
credit agreement.

The availability and costs of borrowed funds canvadsely affect our ability to obtain adequate baatentory
and the ability and willingness of our customersfinance boat purchases.

The availability and costs of borrowed funds caveasely affect our ability to obtain and maintadegquate
boat inventory as well as the ability and willingseof our customers to finance boat purchasesf Ssmember 30,
2009, we had no long-term debt. We rely on ouritfadility to purchase and maintain our inventofyboats. Our
ability to borrow under our credit facility depenais our ability to continue to satisfy our coversaand other
obligations under our credit facility. The agingaefr inventory limits our borrowing capacity asidefl provisions
in our credit facility reduce the allowable advamate as our inventory ages. Our access to fundsruur credit
facility also depends upon the ability of the batilet are parties to that facility to meet theinding commitments,
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particularly if they experience shortages of cdmiteexperience excessive volumes of borrowing estgifrom
others during a short period of time. A continuatid depressed economic conditions, weak consupegrdng,
turmoil in the credit markets, and lender difficedt could interfere with our ability to maintainropliance with our
debt covenants and to utilize the credit agreentefutnd our operations. Accordingly, it may be resagy for us to
close additional stores, further reduce our expstrseture, or modify the covenants with our lesdémy inability
to utilize our credit facility or the acceleratiohamounts owed, resulting from a covenant violatiasufficient
collateral, or lender difficulties, could require to seek other sources of funding to repay amauutstanding under
the credit agreement or replace or supplementmagitcagreement, which may not be possible atralinaler
commercially reasonable terms.

Our current revolving credit facility, as amendpohvides a line of credit with asset-based borrgwin
availability of up to approximately $230 milliortepping down to $175 million by September 30, 204/@. have
pledged various of our assets, including boat itm@®s, accounts receivable, equipment, fixtured, r@al estate, to
secure borrowings under our credit facility. AsSSafptember 30, 2009, we were in compliance witbfale credit
facility covenants and our additional availablerbeaings under our credit facility were approximst&60 million.

Similarly, the decreases in the availability ofditeand increases in the cost of credit adverstgcathe ability
of our customers to purchase boats from us aneéltlyeadversely affects our ability to sell our proguand impact
the profitability of our finance and insurance aitiés. Tight credit conditions during fiscal 2088d fiscal 2009
adversely affected the ability of customers tofiiceboat purchases, which had a negative affeationperating
results.

Our success depends to a significant extent onwredl being, as well as the continued popularity areputation
for quality of the boating products, of our manufaerers, particularly Brunswick’'s Sea Ray, Boston \&ler,
Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian boat lines and AzimBénetti Group’s Azimut and Atlantis products.

Approximately 51% of our revenue in fiscal 2009ulesxd from sales of new boats manufactured by Brigls
including approximately 37% from Brunswick’s SeayRivision and approximately 14% from Brunswickther
divisions. The remainder of our fiscal 2009 revefroen new boat sales resulted from sales of pradirotn a
limited number of other manufacturers, none of Wtdccounted for more than 10% of our revenue.

We depend on our manufacturers to provide us witldycts that compare favorably with competing paislu
in terms of quality, performance, safety, and adearfeatures, including the latest advances inysign and
navigation systems. Any adverse change in the ptauefficiency, product development efforts, teclogical
advancement, marketplace acceptance, marketingititipa, and financial condition of our manufactts,
particularly Brunswick given our reliance on Seg/Rgoston Whaler, Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian, ldtave a
substantial adverse impact on our business. Afigdifies encountered by any of our manufacturgasticularly
Brunswick, resulting from economic, financial, dher factors could adversely affect the quality antbunt of
products that they are able to supply to us andéneices and support they provide to us.

The interruption or discontinuance of the operaiohBrunswick or other manufacturers could caustou
experience shortfalls, disruptions, or delays wétbpect to needed inventory. Although we belieat ddequate
alternate sources would be available that coulthoepany manufacturer other than Brunswick as duymisource,
those alternate sources may not be available dinigeof any interruption, and alternative produutisy not be
available at comparable quality and prices.

We maintain dealer agreements with Brunswick comp8ea Ray products. Each dealer agreement haliia mu
year term and provides for the lowest product griciearged by the Sea Ray division of Brunswick ftame to time
to other domestic Sea Ray dealers. These ternmsubject to

« the dealer meeting all the requirements and canditof Sea Ré¢ s applicable programs; ai
« the right of Brunswick in good faith to charge lkesprices to other deale

— to meet existing competitive circumstanc
— for unusual and nc¢-ordinary business circumstances
— for limited duration promotional prograr
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Each dealer agreement designates a specific gdogahperritory for the dealer, which is exclusieethe deale
so long as the dealer is not in breach of the nadtligations and performance standards undeagineement and
Sea Ray'’s then current material policies and progréollowing notice and the expiration of any apable cure
periods without cure.

We also maintain dealer agreements with Hatterasrowy Hatteras products. Each agreement allowtekest
to revise prices at any time, and such new pridésupersede previous prices. Pursuant to theemgeats, we must
bear any losses we incur as a result of such phiaages and may not recover from Hatteras for @sgek. In
addition, certain of our dealerships may not regmeésnanufacturers or product lines that competctir with
Hatteras without its prior written consent.

Upon the completion of the Surfside-3 acquisitiwr,became the exclusive dealer for Azimut-Benettiup'’s
Azimut product line. In September 2008, our geofgraperritory was expanded to include Florida. Breémut
dealer agreement provides a geographic territopramote the product line and to network with tperapriate
clientele through various independent locationsgiheded for Azimut retail sales.

As is typical in the industry, we generally deathwinanufacturers, other than the Sea Ray division o
Brunswick, under renewable annual dealer agreeméhése agreements do not contain any contractaaigmons
concerning product pricing or required purchasigls. Pricing is generally established on a mgdat basis, but
is subject to change in the manufacturer’s solerdigon. Any change or termination of these arramgs for any
reason could adversely affect product availabditgl cost and our financial performance.

Boat manufacturers exercise substantial control owair business.

We depend on our dealer agreements. Through degleements, boat manufacturers, including Brunswick
exercise significant control over their dealerstniet them to specified locations, and retain appl rights over
changes in management and ownership, among othgstiThe continuation of our dealer agreements mibst
manufacturers, including Brunswick, depends upamrag other things, our achieving stated goals tistamer
satisfaction ratings and market share penetratidhd market served by the applicable dealersljufe to meet
the customer satisfaction, market share goalsp#ret conditions set forth in any dealer agreemeuntd have
various consequences, including the following:

« the termination of the dealer agreem

« the imposition of additional conditions in subsetfudgealer agreement

« limitations on boat inventory allocatior

« reductions in reimbursement rates for warranty waekormed by the deale
« loss of certain manufacturer to dealer incentioe:

« denial of approval of future acquisitior

Our dealer agreements with certain manufactunecfyding Brunswick, do not give us the exclusiyghtito
sell those manufacturers’ products within a giveongyaphical area. Accordingly, a manufacturer udilg
Brunswick, could authorize another dealer to starew dealership in proximity to one or more of lmaations, or
an existing dealer could move a dealership to atioc that would be directly competitive with uheBe events
could have a material adverse effect on our conipeosition and financial performance.

The failure to receive rebates and other dealeremntives on inventory purchases or retail sales abul
substantially reduce our margins.

We rely on manufacturers’ programs that provideimives for dealers to purchase and sell partidwdat
makes and models or for consumers to buy parti@idat makes or models. Any eliminations, reductions
limitations, or other changes relating to rebatemoentive programs that have the effect of redytie benefits we
receive, whether relating to the ability of mandfaes to pay or our ability to qualify for such @mtive programs,
could increase the effective cost of our boat pasels, reduce our margins and competitive posiiod,have a
material adverse effect on our financial perforneanc
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Fuel prices and supply may affect our busine

All of the recreational boats we sell are powergdliesel or gasoline engines. Consequently, amrimg&on in
the supply, or a significant increase in the pacéax on the sale, of fuel on a regional or natldrasis could have a
material adverse effect on our sales and operagisigjts. Increases in fuel prices (such as thaseottcurred during
fiscal 2008) negatively impact boat sales. At vasitimes in the past, diesel or gasoline fuel leenifficult to
obtain. The supply of fuels may be interruptedprahg may be imposed, or the price of or tax oglunay
significantly increase in the future, adversely &ofing our business.

The availability of boat insurance is critical tour success.

The ability of our customers to secure reasonatitydable boat insurance that is satisfactory twégs that
finance our customergurchases is critical to our success. Historicaffordable boat insurance has been avail:
With the hurricanes that have impacted the statdafda and other markets over the past sevealyénsurance
rates have escalated and insurance coverage hamdacore difficult to obtain. Any difficulty of ctemers to
obtain affordable boat insurance could impede bakt#s and adversely affect our business.

Other recreational activities and poor industry maption can adversely affect the levels of boatghases.

Other recreational activities and poor industrycpetion can adversely affect the levels of boatipases. As a
seller of high-end consumer products, we must céenfoe discretionary spending with a wide varietyther
recreational activities and consumer purchaseadfdiition, perceived hassles of boat ownership atadively poor
customer service and customer education througheuttail boat industry represent impedimentsoat b
purchases. Our customer-centric strategy is ingbal@vercome these perceptions.

Adverse federal tax policies can have a negativieafon us.

Changes in federal and state tax laws, such amwosition of luxury taxes on new boat purchasesgiases in
prevailing tax rates, and weak stock market peréoroe also influence consumers’ decisions to puechesducts
we offer and could have a negative effect on oléss&or example, during 1991 and 1992, the fedgraérnment
imposed a luxury tax on new recreational boats sétles prices in excess of $100,000, which coinkidi¢h a shar,
decline in boating industry sales from a high ofrenthan $17.9 billion in the late 1980s to a lové0.3 billion in
1992. Any increase in tax rates, including thoseapital gains and dividends, particularly thoseéhih-income
taxpayers, could adversely affect our boat sales.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to tane to make successful acquisitions and to intatg the
operations of acquired dealers and each dealer weqidre in the future.

Since March 1, 1998, we have acquired 20 recredtiomat dealers, two boat brokerage operationsfvand
full-service yacht repair facilities. Each acquidkghler operated independently prior to its actjaisby us. Our
success depends, in part, on our ability to coetioumake successful acquisitions and to integh&®perations of
acquired dealers, including centralizing certaimctions to achieve cost savings and pursuing progi@nd
processes that promote cooperation and the shafriogportunities and resources among our dealesstife may
not be able to oversee the combined entity effijesr to implement effectively our growth and ogeng strategie
To the extent that we successfully pursue our adipn strategy, our resulting growth will placgsificant
additional demands on our management and infragtescOur failure to pursue successfully our adtjors
strategies or operate effectively the combinedyntiuld have a material adverse effect on ouraftgowth and
operating performance.

Unforeseen expenses, difficulties, and delays freqtly encountered in connection with rapid expansio
through acquisitions could inhibit our growth and egatively impact our profitability.

Our growth strategy of acquiring additional recieaal boat dealers involves significant risks. Tétismtegy
entails reviewing and potentially reorganizing doe business operations, corporate infrastrucacesystems, al
financial controls. Unforeseen expenses, diffiegltiand delays frequently encountered in conneutitin

26




Table of Contents

rapid expansion through acquisitions could inhdlit growth and negatively impact our profitability/e may be
unable to identify suitable acquisition candidaieso complete the acquisitions of candidates weidentify.
Increased competition for acquisition candidatemoreased asking prices by acquisition candidai#g increase
purchase prices for acquisitions to levels beyamdfinancial capability or to levels that would result in the
returns required by our acquisition criteria. Agitibns also may become more difficult in the fatas we acquire
more of the most attractive dealers. In additioa,may encounter difficulties in integrating the gi®ns of
acquired dealers with our own operations or margpgaquired dealers profitably without substantats, delays,
or other operational or financial problems.

We may issue common or preferred stock and indostantial indebtedness in making future acquisitidrne
size, timing, and integration of any future acdiosis may cause substantial fluctuations in opegatésults from
quarter to quarter. Consequently, operating re$oitany quarter may not be indicative of the resstilat may be
achieved for any subsequent quarter or for a gl year. These fluctuations could adverselycafiiee market
price of our common stock.

Our ability to continue to grow through the acqtiigi of additional dealers will depend upon varifastors,
including the following:

« the availability of suitable acquisition candidat¢sttractive purchase price
« the ability to compete effectively for availablegagsition opportunities

« the availability of borrowed funds or common stedgkh a sufficient market price to complete the
acquisitions

« the ability to obtain any requisite manufacturegovernmental approval
« the ability to obtain approval of our lenders under current credit agreement; ¢

« the absence of one or more manufacturers attematimgpose unsatisfactory restrictions on us innemtion
with their approval of acquisition

As a part of our acquisition strategy, we frequertigage in discussions with various recreationat bealers
regarding their potential acquisition by us. Ingeation with these discussions, we and each pategquisition
candidate exchange confidential operational arehfifal information, conduct due diligence inquiriasd consider
the structure, terms, and conditions of the poséatiquisition. In certain cases, the prospectopissition candidat
agrees not to discuss a potential acquisition ity other party for a specific period of time, dsams an option to
purchase the prospective dealer for a designated guring a specific time, and agrees to takeraibBons
designed to enhance the possibility of the acdaisisuch as preparing audited financial informatmd converting
its accounting system to the system specified byatential acquisition discussions frequently tplexe over a
long period of time and involve difficult busingsgegration and other issues, including in somesasanagement
succession and related matters. As a result oé thed other factors, a number of potential acdqorstthat from
time to time appear likely to occur do not resnlbinding legal agreements and are not consummated.

We may be required to obtain the consent of Brunskvand various other manufacturers prior to the
acquisition of other dealers.

In determining whether to approve acquisitions, afiacturers may consider many factors, including our
financial condition and ownership structure. Martiigers also may impose conditions on granting tugprovals
for acquisitions, including a limitation on the nben of their dealers that we may acquire. Our hiii meet
manufacturers’ requirements for approving futurguasitions will have a direct bearing on our agilio complete
acquisitions and effect our growth strategy. Thene be no assurance that a manufacturer will notinate its
dealer agreement, refuse to renew its dealer agmenefuse to approve future acquisitions, or tatker action the
could have a material adverse effect on our adiprsprogram.

We and the Sea Ray Division of Brunswick have are@ment extending through June 2015 that provides a
process for the acquisition of additional Sea Ragtlolealers that desire to be acquired by us. Uthdesigreement,
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acquisitions of Sea Ray dealers will be mutuallsead upon by us and Sea Ray with reasonable eftolts made
to include a balance of Sea Ray dealers that hese successful and those that have not been. Teeragnt
provides that Sea Ray will not unreasonably withtitd consent to any proposed acquisition of aFsadealer by
us, subject to the conditions set forth in the agrent. Among other things, the agreement requsée provide Sea
Ray with a business plan for each proposed actuisincluding historical financial and five-yearmpected
financial information regarding the acquisition datate; marketing and advertising plans; servigeabdities and
managerial and staff personnel; information regaydhe ability of the candidate to achieve perfarosastandards
within designated periods; and information regagdime success of our previous acquisitions of Ssadealers.
The agreement also contemplates Sea Ray reaclgiogdafaith determination whether the acquisitioruldidoe in

its best interest based on our dedication and fotussources on the Sea Ray brand and Sea Rays&eoation of
any adverse effects that the approval would havia@mesulting territory configuration and adjacenbther dealers
sales and the absence of any violation of applkckhls or rights granted by Sea Ray to others.

Our growth strategy also entails expanding our pebtines and geographic scope by obtaining adwitio
distribution rights from our existing and new maawtfirers. We may not be able to secure additiastiltlition
rights or obtain suitable alternative sources @ipdyif we are unable to obtain such distributiaghts. The inability
to expand our product lines and geographic scopebbgining additional distribution rights could leaa material
adverse effect on the growth and profitability af dbusiness.

Our growth strategy may require us to secure sigrait additional capital, the amount of which wilepend
upon the size, timing, and structure of future adgitions and our working capital and general corpate needs

If we finance future acquisitions in whole or inrparough the issuance of common stock or seegriti
convertible into or exercisable for common stockisting stockholders will experience dilution iretkioting power
of their common stock and earnings per share doelldegatively impacted. The extent to which we talable and
willing to use our common stock for acquisitiondlwepend on the market value of our common stotkthe
willingness of potential sellers to accept our camnrstock as full or partial consideration. Our iitiabto use our
common stock as consideration, to generate cashdperations, or to obtain additional funding thghwlebt or
equity financings in order to pursue our acquisifowogram could materially limit our growth.

Any borrowings made to finance future acquisitiongor operations could make us more vulnerabke to
downturn in our operating results, a downturn iaremmic conditions, or increases in interest ratebarrowings
that are subject to interest rate fluctuationsuif cash flow from operations is insufficient toeheur debt service
requirements, we could be required to sell addii@guity securities, refinance our obligationsdispose of assets
in order to meet our debt service requirementadutition, our credit arrangements contain finanaral operational
covenants and other restrictions with which we neoshply, including limitations on capital expend#s and the
incurrence of additional indebtedness. Adequatniimg may not be available if and when we need may not b¢
available on terms acceptable to us. The failu@btain sufficient financing on favorable terms aadditions coul
have a material adverse effect on our growth prcispend our business, financial condition, andltesd
operations.

Our internal growth and operating strategies of agiag new locations and offering new products invelvisk.

In addition to pursuing growth by acquiring boaakges, we intend to continue to pursue a stratégyawth
through opening new retail locations and offeriegvrproducts in our existing and new territoriescémplishing
these goals for expansion will depend upon a nurabfactors, including the following:

« our ability to identify new markets in which we caltain distribution rights to sell our existingantditional
product lines

our ability to lease or construct suitable faahtiat a reasonable cost in existing or new mar
« our ability to hire, train, and retain qualifiedrpennel;

the timely integration of new retail locations ir@risting operations
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« our ability to achieve adequate market penetraidiavorable operating margins without the acqoisiof
existing dealers; an

« our financial resource

Our dealer agreements with Brunswick require Bruok\w consent to open, close, or change retailtlona
that sell Sea Ray products, and other dealer agnatsngenerally contain similar provisions. We maylve able to
open and operate new retail locations or introchesg product lines on a timely or profitable baMereover, the
costs associated with opening new retail locatmriatroducing new product lines may adversely @fteur
profitability.

As a result of these growth strategies, we exmeekpend significant time and effort in opening acduiring
new retail locations and introducing new produ€tar systems, procedures, controls, and financ&lueces may
not be adequate to support expanding operatioresinbility to manage our growth effectively cohlave a
material adverse effect on our business, finargatition, and results of operations.

Our planned growth also will impose significant addesponsibilities on members of senior managearaht
require us to identify, recruit, and integrate éiddal senior level managers. We may not be abidentify, hire, or
train suitable additions to management.

Our business, as well as the entire recreationabhbing industry, is highly seasonal, with seasonglitarying in
different geographic markets. In addition, weatheonditions may adversely impact our business.

During the three-year period ended September 319,28e average revenue for the quarterly periodee
December 31, March 31, June 30, and Septembempd@sented 20%, 25%, 30%, and 25%, respectivelguof
average annual revenue. With the exception of @éorive generally realize significantly lower sakeghe quarterly
periods ending December 31 and March 31. The arigbe public boat and recreation shows in Jansainyulates
boat sales and allows us to reduce our inventwgideand related short-term borrowings throughbetremainder
of the fiscal year. Our business could become aukisily more seasonal as we acquire dealers frexate in colde
regions of the United States.

Weather conditions may adversely impact our opsgatesults. For example, drought conditions, reduce
rainfall levels, and excessive rain may force b@ptireas to close or render boating dangerousconuenient,
thereby curtailing customer demand for our produatsiddition, unseasonably cool weather and pg#dnwinter
conditions may lead to shorter selling seasongitam locations. Many of our dealerships sell baatcustomers
for use on reservoirs, thereby subjecting our lassirto the continued viability of these reservfairdoating use.
Although our geographic diversity and any futuregr@phic expansion will reduce the overall impatus of
adverse weather conditions in any one market areather conditions will continue to represent ptéématerial
adverse risks to us and our future operating pexdoice. As a result of the foregoing and other factmur operatin
results in some future quarters could be belovettpectations of stock market analysts and investors

In addition, hurricanes and other storms couldltésuhe disruption of our operations or damageuo boat
inventories and facilities as has been the case Wwhwida and other markets has been affected hychnes. While
we traditionally maintain property and casualtyirace coverage for damage caused by hurricanesthed
storms, there can be no assurance that such itgucanerage is adequate to cover losses that wesnségin as a
result of hurricanes and other storms.

We face intense competition.

We operate in a highly competitive environmentadidition to facing competition generally from nooaking
recreation businesses seeking to attract disceatyaspending dollars, the recreational boat inguelf is highly
fragmented and involves intense competition fotamers, product distribution rights, and suitalgail locations,
particularly on or near waterways. Competition @ages during periods of stagnant industry growth.

We compete primarily with single-location boat aaland, with respect to sales of marine partesswries,
and equipment, with national specialty marine pants accessories stores, catalog retailers, spagtinds stores,
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and mass merchants. Competition among boat desleesed on the quality of available products ptiee and
value of the products, and attention to customesicg® There is significant competition both withirarkets we
currently serve and in new markets that we mayreife compete in each of our markets with retaitérsrands of
boats and engines we do not sell in that markeddttition, several of our competitors, especidilyse selling
marine equipment and accessories, are large nhtonegional chains that have substantial finanomarketing,
and other resources. Private sales of used bgatssent an additional source of competition.

Due to various matters, including environmentalasons, permitting and zoning requirements, and @&titign
for waterfront real estate, some markets in theddhStates have experienced an increased waisinfptimarina
and storage availability. In general, the markets/fich we currently operate are not experiencimgunusual
difficulties. However, marine retail activity couls adversely effected in markets that do not Isaficient marine
and storage availability to satisfy demand.

We depend on income from financing, insurance, aextended service contracts.

A portion of our income results from referral faEsived from the placement or marketing of variboance
and insurance, or F&I, products, consisting of eoer financing, insurance products, and extendedcse
contracts, the most significant component of whgcthe participation and other fees resulting fraum sale of
customer financing contracts. During fiscal 2008| products accounted for 2.7% of our revenue.

The availability of financing for our boat purchesand the level of participation and other feegeaeive in
connection with such financing depend on the paldicagreement between us and the lender and thentuate
environment. Lenders may impose terms in their Boahcing arrangements with us that may be untablerto us
or our customers, resulting in reduced demand dorcastomer financing programs and lower partiégraand othe
fees. Customer financing became more difficulteéouse during fiscal 2008, which continued in fis2&09.

The reduction of profit margins on sales of F&I gwets or the lack of demand for or the unavailgbdf these
products could have a material adverse effect oroperating margins.

We depend on key personnel.

Our success depends, in large part, upon the eongrefforts and abilities of our executive offiseAlthough
we have employment agreements with certain of recaétive officers, we cannot assure that theselaro
executive personnel will remain with us. Expanding operations may require us to add additionatetiee
personnel in the future. As a result of our de@izgd operating strategy, we also rely on the gament teams of
our dealerships. In addition, we likely will depemad the senior management of any significant bssies we
acquire in the future. The loss of the servicesraf or more of these key employees before we deg@hattract and
retain qualified replacement personnel could adfgraffect our business.

The products we sell or service may expose us temt@l liability for personal injury or property dmage
claims relating to the use of those products.

Manufacturers of the products we sell generallyntaan product liability insurance. We also mainttiird-
party product liability insurance that we belieeebe adequate. We may experience claims that amorered by o
that are in excess of our insurance coverage. fidteltion of any significant claims against us ldosubject us to
damages, result in higher insurance costs, and barrusiness reputation with potential customers.

Environmental and other regulatory issues may impatr operations.

Our operations are subject to extensive regulasopervision, and licensing under various fedestake, and
local statutes, ordinances, and regulations. Tihgréeto satisfy those and other regulatory requiats could have
material adverse effect on our business, finargatition, and results of operations.

Various federal, state, and local regulatory agesiéncluding the Occupational Safety and Health
Administration and the Environmental Protection Agg or the EPA, and similar federal and local aigs) have
jurisdiction over the operation of our dealershiggpair facilities, and other operations, with msto matters suc
as consumer protection, workers’ safety, and laganding protection of the environment, includifg &ater, and
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soil. The EPA promulgated emissions regulationofdgboard marine engines that impose stricter eomss
standards for two-cycle, gasoline outboard marirgirees. The majority of the outboard marine enginesell are
manufactured by Mercury Marine. Mercury Marine’sqguct line of low-emission engines, including theti®ax,
Verado, and other four-stroke outboards, have dyrezhieved the EPA’s mandated 2006 emission el
increased costs of producing engines resulting 6 standards or the inability of our manufactsitercomply
with EPA requirements, could have a material adveffect on our business.

Certain of our facilities own and operate undergmstorage tanks, or USTs, for the storage of uario
petroleum products. USTs are generally subjeatderal, state, and local laws and regulationsréwatire testing
and upgrading of USTs and remediation of contarethabils and groundwater resulting from leaking 6.9
addition, we may be subject to civil liability thitd parties for remediation costs or other daméfigeskage from
our owned or operated USTs migrates onto the ptppéothers.

Our business involves the use, handling, storaggcantracting for recycling or disposal of hazarslor toxic
substances or wastes, including environmentallgisea materials, such as motor oil, waste motband filters,
transmission fluid, antifreeze, freon, waste paimi lacquer thinner, batteries, solvents, lubrigastgreasing
agents, gasoline, and diesel fuels. Accordinglyareesubject to regulation by federal, state, andllauthorities
establishing investigation and health and enviramadeguality standards, and liability related therend providing
penalties for violations of those standards.

We also are subject to laws, ordinances, and régntagoverning investigation and remediation of
contamination at facilities we operate or to whiah send hazardous or toxic substances or wasté®&ment,
recycling, or disposal. In particular, the Comprediee Environmental Response, Compensation andlityafsct,
or CERCLA or “Superfund,” imposes joint, strict,caseveral liability on

« owners or operators of facilities at, from, or thigh a release of hazardous substances has occ
« parties that generated hazardous substances thateleased at such facilities; ¢
* parties that transported or arranged for the tramnapon of hazardous substances to such facil

A majority of states have adopted Superfund statcbenparable to and, in some cases, more stritiggmt
CERCLA. If we were to be found to be a responsjiaietly under CERCLA or a similar state statute, weld be
held liable for all investigative and remedial soassociated with addressing such contaminatiosddiition, claims
alleging personal injury or property damage maypimeight against us as a result of alleged expdsunazardous
substances resulting from our operations. In amfuittertain of our retail locations are locatedvaterways that are
subject to federal or state laws regulating navigalaters (including oil pollution prevention), isnd wildlife, and
other matters.

Soil and groundwater contamination has been knovexist at certain properties owned or leased by\es
have also been required and may in the future dpgined to remove aboveground and underground stdeatks
containing hazardous substances or wastes. Astaircef our properties, specific releases of detrm have been
or are in the process of being remediated in acocae with state and federal guidelines. We are toong the soil
and groundwater as required by applicable statdedtetal guidelines. We also may have additiorabste tank
liability insurance and Superfund coverage whegdiegble. Environmental laws and regulations amaglex and
subject to frequent change. Compliance with amended, or more stringent laws or regulations, nstriet
interpretations of existing laws, or the futurecdigery of environmental conditions may require &ddal
expenditures by us, and such expenditures may beriala

Two of the properties we own were historically ussdyasoline service stations. Remedial action regpect
to prior historical site activities on these prdjeesr has been completed in accordance with fedeiaktate law.
Also, two of our properties are within the boundarof a Superfund site, although neither propea/lieen
identified as a contributor to the contaminatiornhia area.

Additionally, certain states have required or aresidering requiring a license in order to opeeatecreational
boat. These regulations could discourage potemtigérs, thereby limiting future sales and adveraéfigcting our
business, financial condition, and results of opens.
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The market price of our common stock could be sudbj®o wide fluctuations as a result of many facto
Factors that could affect the trading price of cmmmon stock include the following:

« variations in our operating resul

« the thin trading volume and relatively small pulfl@at of our common stocl
« our ability to continue to secure adequate levéfgancing;

* variations in sarr-store sales

« general economic, political, and market conditic

» changes in earnings estimates published by ana

« the level and success of our acquisition prograchreaw store opening
« the success of dealership integrati

« relationships with manufacture:

« seasonality and weather conditio

« governmental policies and regulatio

« the performance of the recreational boat industryaneral; an

« factors relating to suppliers and competiti

In addition, market demand for small-capitalizat&tacks, and price and volume fluctuations in tioels
market unrelated to our performance could resuignificant fluctuations in the market price ofr@mammon stock

The performance of our common stock could adverséct our ability to raise equity in the publiarkets
and adversely affect our acquisition program.

The issuance of additional capital stock in the fue, including shares that we may issue pursuantstock-
based grants, including stock option grants, andute acquisitions, may result in dilution in the neéangible
book value per share of our common stock.

Our board of directors has the legal power andaithto determine the terms of an offering of gsof our
capital stock, or securities convertible into oclexngeable for these shares, to the extent ofhaues of authorized
and unissued capital stock. The issuance of additicommon stock in the future, including shared the may
issue pursuant to stock-based grants, includingksiption grants, and future acquisitions, may lteaudilution in
the net tangible book value per share of our comgtock. The issuance of additional capital stocthanfuture,
including shares that we may issue pursuant tkdtased grants, including stock option grants, fahde
acquisitions, may result in dilution in the netdédie book value per share of our common stock.

A substantial number of shares are eligible for fue sale.

As of September 30, 2009, there were outstanding0B3]759 shares of our common stock. Substantdliyf
these shares are freely tradable without restriatiofurther registration under the securities lawdess held by an
“affiliate” of our company, as that term is definiedRule 144 under the securities laws. Shares Ingkffiliates of
our company, which generally include our directofficers, and certain principal stockholders, subject to the
resale limitations of Rule 144 described below.gtariding shares of common stock issued in conmewgtith the
acquisition of any acquired dealers are availatiedsale beginning six months after the respectates of the
acquisitions, subject to compliance with the primns of Rule 144 under the securities laws.

As of September 30, 2009, we had issued optiopsitchase approximately 1,995,232 shares of commoak s
and 740,957 restricted stock awards under our thaeastock plan, and we issued 264,493 of the Zghares of
common stock reserved for issuance under our 20Q8oyee stock purchase plan. We have
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filed a registration statement under the securities to register the common stock to be issue@utiebse plans.
As a result, shares issued under these plans evilidely tradable without restriction unless acediby affiliates of
our company, who will be subject to the volume atiter limitations of Rule 144.

We may issue additional shares of common stockefepred stock under the securities laws as paahgf
acquisition we may complete in the future. If isspeirsuant to an effective registration statemthiese shares
generally will be freely tradable after their issua by persons not affiliated with us or the aceghitcompanies.

We do not pay cash dividends.

We have never paid cash dividends on our commak skdoreover, financial covenants under our credit
facility restrict our ability to pay dividends.

Our stockholders’ rights plan may adversely affantisting stockholders.

Our Stockholders’ Rights Plan may have the effécteterring, delaying, or preventing a change inted that
might otherwise be in the best interests of outldtolders. Under the Rights Plan, we issued a divddof one
Preferred Share Purchase Right for each shareraoonmon stock held by stockholders of record abefclose of
business on September 7, 2001.

In general, subject to certain limited exceptidhs, stock purchase rights become exercisable wipensan or
group acquires 15% or more of our common stocktender offer or exchange offer for 15% or morewf
common stock is announced or commenced. After aoly svent, our other stockholders may purchasdiaddi
shares of our common stock at 50% of the then-ntimarket price. The rights will cause substardihition to a
person or group that attempts to acquire us onstexwhapproved by our board of directors. The gghay be
redeemed by us at $0.01 per stock purchase rigimyetime before any person or group acquires 15686ave of ou
outstanding common stock. The rights should n&rfate with any merger or other business combinajgproved
by our board of directors. The rights expire on Asi?8, 2011.

Certain provisions of our restated certificate afdorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may make a
change in the control of our company more difficuid complete, even if a change in control were et
stockholders’ interest or might result in a premiuover the market price for the shares held by the
stockholders.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws dividier board of directors into three classes of diecelected
for staggered three-year terms. The certificat@adrporation also provides that the board of doecmay
authorize the issuance of one or more series ééipesl stock from time to time and may determireerights,
preferences, privileges, and restrictions andHexriumber of shares of any such series of prefetoak, without
any vote or action by our stockholders. The bodirectors may authorize the issuance of prefestedk with
voting or conversion rights that could adversefgetfthe voting power or other rights of the hoklef common
stock. The certificate of incorporation also alloges board of directors to fix the number of digestand to fill
vacancies on the board of directors.

We also are subject to the anti-takeover provisafrSection 203 of the Delaware General Corporattiaw,
which prohibits us from engaging in a “business boration” with an “interested stockholder” for arjwel of three
years after the date of the transaction in whiehgérson became “interested stockholder,” unless the business
combination is approved in a prescribed manner.

Certain of our dealer agreements could also mattiiitult for a third party to attempt to acquiaesignificant
ownership position in our company. In addition, sheckholders’ agreement and governance agreenikiiawe
the effect of increasing the control of our direste@xecutive officers, and persons associated twéim.

Our sales of Azimut products may be adversely aifddy fluctuations in currency exchange rates been the
U.S. dollar and the euro.

Products purchased from Italy-based Azimut areesutip fluctuations in the euro to U.S. dollar exape rate,
which ultimately may impact the retail price at ainiwe can sell such products. As a result, fluginatin the
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value of the euro compared with the U.S. dollar imayact the price points at which we can sell patifiy Azimut
products, and such price points may not be conmpetitith other product lines in the United Stat&scordingly,
such fluctuations in exchange rates ultimately ingyact the amount of revenue, cost of goods salsh ¢lows, an
earnings we recognize for the Azimut product lindse impact of these currency fluctuations couldéase,
particularly if our revenue from the Azimut prodsidicrease as a percentage of our total revenualsecould
incur losses from hedging transactions designeddoce our risk to fluctuation in exchange rates. d&nnot predi
the effects of exchange rate fluctuations or cuayaate hedges on our operating results. Thereforgrtain cases,
we may, from time to time, enter into foreign cmaeg cash flow hedges to reduce the variabilityasftcflows
associated with firm commitments to purchase baatsyachts from Azimut. We cannot assure that ategjies
will adequately protect our operating results friiva effects of exchange rate fluctuations.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties

We lease our corporate offices in Clearwater, BerWe also lease 30 of our retail locations utekeses,
many of which contain multi-year renewal optionsl @ome of which grant us a first right of refusaptirchase the
property at fair value. In most cases, we pay edirent at negotiated rates. In substantially fathe leased
locations, we are responsible for taxes, utilitiesurance, and routine repairs and maintenanceowvethe propert
associated with 25 other retail locations we ogeaaid one joint venture as noted below. Additignalle own four
retail locations that are currently closed anddhetail locations that are closed and availabieséde.

The following table reflects the status, approxiensize, and facilities of the various retail looas we operate
as of the date of this report.

Square Operated
Location Location Type Footage(1 Facilities at Property Since(2 Waterfront
Alabama
Gulf Shores Company owne 4,000 Retail and servic 199¢ —
Retail only; 7 wet
Gulf Shores Third-party leas 1,117 slips 200¢ Intracoastal Waterwa
Arizona
Tempe Company owne 34,000 Retail and servic 199z —
California
Retail and service; 2
San Diego (Shelter Islan  Third-party leas 93C wet slips 200t Mission Bay
Colorado
Retail, service, and
Grand Junctiot Third-party leas  9,30( storage 198¢ —
Connecticut
Norwalk Third-party leas: 7,000 Retail and servic 199¢ Norwalk Harbor
Florida
Cape Hazt Company owne 18,000 Retail; 8 wet slip: 1972z Intracoastal Waterwa
Retail and service; 2
Clearwate! Company owne 42,000 wet slips 197 Tampa Bay
Cocoa Company owne 15,00( Retail and servic 196¢ —
Retail only; 24 wet
Coconut Grove Third-party leass 2,000 slips 200z Biscayne Bay
Repair and service;
Dania Company owne 32,000 16 wet slips 1991 Port Everglade
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Location

Destin

Fort Myers
Jacksonville

Jacksonville
Key Largo
Miami
Miami

Naples
Pensacol;

Pompano Beac
Pompano Beac
Sarasot:

St. Petersburg(:

Stuart
Tampa

Venice
Georgia
Buford (Atlanta)

Cumming (Atlanta

Maryland
Baltimore
Joppa
White Marsh
Minnesota
Bayport
Rogers

Walker

Walker

Square Operated
Location Type Footage(1 Facilities at Property Since(2
Retail only; 24 wet
Third-party leas  2,20C slips 200t
Retail and service; 1
Third-party leas: 8,000 wet slips 198:
Company owne 15,000 Retail and servic 200¢
Retail only; 7 wet
Third-party leas 1,00C slips 199t
Retail and service; 6
Third-party leas:  8,90( west slips 200z
Retail and service; 1
Company owne 7,20C wet slips 198(
Service only; 11 wet
Company owne 5,00C slips 200t
Retail and service; 1
Company owne 19,60( wet slips 1997
Third-party leas  24,30( Retail and servic 1974
Retail and service; 1
Company owne 23,000 wet slips 199(
Retail and service; 2
Company owne 5,40C wet slips 200t
Retail, service, and
Third-party leas  26,50( storage; 15 wet slig 1972
Yacht service, 20 wet
Joint venture 15,00C slips 200¢
Retail and service; €
Company owne 29,100 wet slips 200z
Company owne 13,10( Retail and servic 199t
Retail, service, and
Company owne 62,000 storage; 90 wet slig 1972
Company owne 13,500 Retail and servic 2001
Retail and service; 5
Third-party leas  13,00( wet slips 1981
Retail and service; 1
Third-party leas 7,600 wet slips 200t
Retail, service, and
Company owne 28,40( storage; 294 wet sli 196¢
Company owne 19,80( Retail and servic 195¢
Retail only; 10 wet
Third-party leas 45C slips 199¢
Retail, service, and
Company owne 70,000 storage 1991
Retail, service, and
Company owne 76,400 storage 198¢
Retail and service; ¢
Company owne 6,80C wet slips 1971
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Waterfront

Destin Harboi

Caloosahatchee Riv

St Johns Rive
Card Sounc
Little River
Little River

Naples Bay

Intracoastal Waterwa
Intracoastal Waterwa
Sarasota Ba

Boca Ciega Ba

Intracoastal Waterwa

Intracoastal Waterwa
Lake Lanietr

Baltimore Inner
Harbor

Gunpowder Rive

St Croix River

Leech Lake
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Location

Missouri

Lake Ozark
New Jersey

Brant Beact
Brick

Lake Hopatconi
Ship Bottom

Somers Poin
New York
Copiague

Huntington
Lindenhurst (Delivery
Center)

Lindenhurst (Marina
Manhattar
New Rochelle

North Carolina

Wrightsville Beact
Ohio

Port Clinton
Oklahoma

Afton
Rhode Island

Wakefield
Tennesset

Chattanoogi
Texas
Lewisville (Dallas)

Seabrool

Square Operated
Location Type Footage(1 Facilities at Property Since(2
Retail and service;
Company owne 60,30( 300 wet slips 1987
Retail and service; 3
Third-party leas  3,80( wet slips 196¢
Retail and service;
Company owne 20,000 225 wet slips 1971
Retail and service; 8
Third-party leas: 4,600 wet slips 199¢
Third-party leas: 19,30( Retail and servic 1972
Retail, service and
Affiliate lease 31,000 storage; 33 wet slig 1987
Third-party leas  15,00( Retail only 199:
Third-party leas 1,20C Retail and servic 199t
Retail, service, and
Third-party leas: 54,000 dry storage 196¢
Marina and service;
Third-party leas  14,60( 370 wet slips 196¢
Retail only; 75 wet
Third-party leas 1,20C slips 199¢
Third-party leas:  4,65( Retail and servic 200¢
Retail, service, and
Third-party leas 34,500 storage 199¢
Retail, service and
Third-party leas  93,30( storage; 8 wet slip 1997
Retail and service; 2
Third-party leass  3,50( wet slips 200z
Retail only; 3 wet
Third-party leas 1,80C slips 200¢
Retail only; 12 wet
Third-party leas 3,00 slips 200t
Company owne 22,000 Retail and servic 200z
Retail and service; 3
Company owne 32,000 wet slips 200z
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Waterfront

Lake of the Ozark

Barnegat Ba
Manasquan Rive

Lake Hopatcon

Little Egg Harbor Bay

Huntington Harbor ar
Long Island Soun
Neguntatogue Creek
Great South Ba
Neguntatogue Creek
Great South Ba
Hudson Rivel

Long Island Soun
Intracoastal Waterwa
Lake Erie

Grand Lake

Narragansett Ba

Tennessee Rive

Clear Lake
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(1) Square footage is approximate and does not in@utkide sales space or dock or marina facili
(2) Operated since date is the date the facility waneg by us or opened prior to its acquisition hy
(3) Joint venture entered into with Brunswick to acguirarina and service facilit

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

We are party to various legal actions arising eahdinary course of business. While it is not iftdlaso
determine the actual outcome of these actions &gptember 30, 2009, we do not believe that thegters will
have a material adverse effect on our consolidi@@dcial condition, results of operations, or céisiws.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a VVote of Security Hold¢

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for the Registrar's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, aisduer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Our common stock has been traded on the New YarékIExchange under the symbol HZO since our initial
public offering on June 3, 1998 at $12.50 per shHne following table sets forth high and low spit&es of the
common stock for each calendar quarter indicatae@@rted on the New York Stock Exchange.

High Low

2007

First quartel $26.1C  $20.01

Second quarte $24.05  $18.8(

Third quartel $21.9¢  $14.3(

Fourth quarte $16.6¢  $13.5(
2008

First quarte $16.1¢  $10.3¢

Second quarte $13.82 $ 6.9¢

Third quartel $9.66 $ 4.92

Fourth quarte $ 7.4 $ 1.2¢
2009

First quartel $ 354 $1.1¢

Second quarte $ 6.0 $ 2.1:

Third quartel $ 8.3¢ $ 3.0¢

Fourth quarter (through November 30, 20 $ 83/ $ 6.5t

On November 30, 2009, the closing sale price ofoamnmon stock was $7.00 per share. On November 30,
2009, there were approximately 100 record holdedsapproximately 5,000 beneficial owners of our owon stock

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooa@umon stock. We currently plan to retain anyngays
to finance the growth of our business rather tlgpaty cash dividends. Payments of any cash divelenthe future
will depend on our financial condition, resultsogferations, and capital requirements as well aard#tttors deeme
relevant by our board of directors. Moreover, ficiahcovenants under certain of our credit fa@$talso restrict ol
ability to pay dividends.
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Performance Graph

The following line graph compares cumulative tataickholder returns for the five years ended Sepézi®0,
2008 for (i) our common stock, (ii) the Russell QdAdex, and (iii) the Nasdaq Retail Trade Indelxe Graph
assumes an investment of $100 on September 30, 2884 alculations of cumulative stockholder retomthe
Russell 2000 Index and the Nasdaq Retail Tradexlimi#ude reinvestment of dividends. The calculatid
cumulative stockholder return on our common stamésthot include reinvestment of dividends becatesdid not

pay any dividends during the measurement period.hi$torical performance shown is not necessardjcative of
future performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among MarineMax, Inc., The Russell 2000 Index
And The NASDAQ Retail Trade Index

160 -

2y 8IS =08 anT e L]

— = MasineMax, Ine — & — Russell 2000 - - 3 - - NASDAG Retail Trade

* $100 invested on 9/30/04 in stock or index, inalgdieinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending September

The performance graph above shall not be deemledi™fior purposes of Section 18 of the Securitizstiange
Act of 1934, as amended, or Exchange Act, or otlsenaubject to the liability of that section. Trerformance

graph above will not be deemed incorporated byreefee into any filing of our company under the Exude Act or
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Dat:

The following table contains certain financial amkrating data and is qualified by the more dedaile
consolidated financial statements and notes thémetaded elsewhere in this report. The balancetshed stateme
of operations data were derived from the consadéinancial statements and notes thereto that beee audited
by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registeredifded public accounting firm. The financial datacsvn below
should be read in conjunction with the consoliddieadncial statements and the related notes tharedo
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations” included elserg in
this report.

Fiscal Year Ended September 3C
2005(1) 2006 2007 2008 2009
(Amounts in thousands except share, per share, andtail location data)

Statement of OperationsData:

Revenue $ 947,34 $ 121354 $ 1,25598! $ 88540 $ 588,58
Cost of sale: 712,84: 906,78: 956,25: 679,16 499,92!
Gross profi 234,50: 306, 76! 299,73: 206,24: 88,66(
Selling, general, and administrative exper 169,97! 222,80t 245,22: 217,42t 159,99¢
Goodwill and intangible asset impairment che — — — 122,09: —
Income (loss) from operatiol 64,52¢ 83,95¢ 54,51( (133,279 (71,339
Interest expense, n 9,291 18,61¢ 26,95¢ 20,16¢ 14,06+
Income (loss) before income tax provision (bent 55,23¢ 65,33¢ 27,55k (153,439 (85,409
Income tax provision (benefi 21,41: 25,95¢ 7,48¢ (19,169 (8,630
Net income (loss $ 3382t $ 3938 $ 20,06¢ $ (134,27) $ (76,779
Net income (loss) per shal

Diluted $ 1.8¢ $ 208 $ 1.04 $ (730 $ (4.11)
Weighted average number of shai

Diluted 18,032,53 18,928,73  19,289,23 18,391,48 18,685,42
Other Data (as of yea-end):
Number of retail locations(Z 71 87 88 8C 55
Sales per store(3)(! $ 16,38 $ 17,060 $ 1524¢ $ 12,49: $ 11,28¢
Same-store sales growth(4)(! 23% 7% (1)% (28)% (299%

September 30,

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
Balance Sheet Data

Working capital $163,43. $153,46¢ $170,38¢ $134,45( $ 97,17¢
Total asset 539,49( 801,56: 825,87¢ 661,321 393,64
Long-term debt (including current portion)( 30,08t 37,18¢ 30,83 — —
Total stockholdel' equity 283,59¢ 349,88° 373,55¢ 248,58 197,75t

(1) Amounts exclude the effects of stock-based compemsaxpense recognized under the provisions of BFAS
Accounting Standards Codification 718, “Compensatie Stock CompensationASC 718), previously referr
to as Statement of Financial Accounting Standamlsl23R, “Share-Based Payment,” as the standard was
adopted October 1, 200

(2) Includes only those retail locations open at peend.
(3) Includes only those stores open for the entireqatig12-monthperiod.

(4) New and acquired stores are included in the corbpatzmse at the end of the s’s thirteenth month of
operations

(5) A store is one or more retail locations that arj@@eht or operate as one entity. Sales per statsame-store
sales growth is intended only as supplemental im&bion and is not a substitute for revenue ormeaime
presented in accordance with generally acceptenuationg principles

(6) Amount excludes our shi-term borrowings for working capital and inventonyancing.
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Item 7. Managemen's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionnal Results of Operations

The following should be read in conjunction withrAaincluding the matters set forth in the “Riskctors”
section of this report, and our Consolidated Firarftatements and notes thereto included elsewhehés report.

Overview

We are the largest recreational boat retailer énUhited States with fiscal 2009 revenue in exoéss
$588 million. Through our current 55 retail locaiioin 18 states, we sell new and used recreatimadb and relate
marine products, including engines, trailers, pantsl accessories. We also arrange related baaiciimg, insuranc
and extended warranty contracts; provide boat regpal maintenance services; and offer yacht antlivolerage
services, and where available, offer slip and g®@@ccommodations.

MarineMax was incorporated in January 1998. We cenuad operations with the acquisition of five
independent recreational boat dealers on MarcB898.1Since the initial acquisitions in March 19@&, have
acquired 20 recreational boat dealers, two bodtdveme operations, and two full-service yacht nefaailities. As a
part of our acquisition strategy, we frequently &gein discussions with various recreational beatats regarding
their potential acquisition by us. Potential acdigia discussions frequently take place over a Ipagod of time an
involve difficult business integration and othesuss, including, in some cases, management sucoessi related
matters. As a result of these and other factonsinaber of potential acquisitions that from timeitoe appear likely
to occur do not result in binding legal agreemeamis are not consummated. We did not complete amyfisiant
acquisitions during the fiscal years ended Septer@d®e2008 and 2009.

General economic conditions and consumer spenditigrps can negatively impact our operating results
Unfavorable local, regional, national, or globabeemic developments or uncertainties regardingréuéconomic
prospects could reduce consumer spending in thkatsawe serve and adversely affect our businegsdfaic
conditions in areas in which we operate dealersipggicularly Florida in which we generated 44%%\ and 45%
of our revenue during fiscal 2007, 2008, and 2088pectively, can have a major impact on our ofmaTst Local
influences, such as corporate downsizing, militaage closings, and inclement weather, also couldradly affect
our operations in certain markets.

In an economic downturn, consumer discretionarydppgy levels generally decline, at times resulting
disproportionately large reductions in the saléugfiry goods. Consumer spending on luxury goods miay declin
as a result of lower consumer confidence levelenéfprevailing economic conditions are favoral#lghough we
have expanded our operations during periods ofatatgor modestly declining industry trends, thelicgt nature of
the recreational boating industry or the lack afustry growth could adversely affect our businéagncial
condition, or results of operations in the futukay period of adverse economic conditions or lowsianer
confidence has a negative effect on our business.

Lower consumer spending resulting from a downtarthe housing market and other economic factors
adversely affected our business in fiscal 2007,@mdinued weakness in consumer spending resutomg
substantial weakness in the financial markets amerabrating economic conditions had a very sulisthmegative
effect on our business in fiscal 2008 and fisc&l20 hese conditions caused us to defer our atiguigirogram,
slow our new store openings, reduce our inventargipases, engage in inventory reduction efforasech
significant number of our retail locations, andrsfigantly reduce our headcount. We cannot prettiietiength or
severity of these unfavorable economic or financialditions or the extent to which they will adwadysaffect our
operating results nor can we predict the effectdgsrof the measures we have taken to addressithisrament or
whether additional measures will be necessary.

Although economic conditions have adversely afigécter operating results, we have capitalized oncoue
strengths to substantially outperform the indugtegulting in leading market share. Our abilityptoduce such
market share supports the alignment of our retasinategies with the desires of consumers. Wewelhe steps v
have taken to address weak market conditions veltlyan increase in future revenue. As general @cin trends
improve, we expect our core strengths and retadtrategies will position us to capitalize on growpportunities ¢
they occur and will allow us to emerge from thisibdnging environment with greater earnings posnti
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Application of Critical Accounting Policies

We have identified the policies below as critiabtir business operations and the understandingratesults
of operations. The impact and risks related todhmsicies on our business operations is discu$sedghout
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@hdition and Results of Operations when such pedieiffect
our reported and expected financial results.

In the ordinary course of business, we make a nuwibestimates and assumptions relating to thertigygpof
results of operations and financial condition ia greparation of our financial statements in caniftyr with
accounting principles generally accepted in thetidéhStates. We base our estimates on historicarexqere and on
various other assumptions that we believe are nedde under the circumstances. The results fornbaises for
making judgments about the carrying values of asmed liabilities that are not readily apparentrfrather sources.
Actual results could differ significantly from thegstimates under different assumptions and condit\WWe believe
that the following discussion addresses our mastaraccounting policies, which are those that mmost important
to the portrayal of our financial condition anduks of operations and require our most difficalibjective, and
complex judgments, often as a result of the needake estimates about the effect of matters tleaindwerently
uncertain.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from boat, motor, and tradgdes, and parts and service operations at thethieneoat,
motor, trailer, or part is delivered to or accepbgdhe customer or service is completed. We reizegrommissions
earned from a brokerage sale at the time the telatekerage transaction closes. We recognize reviom slip
and storage services on a straight-line basistheeterm of the slip or storage agreement. We neizceg
commissions earned by us for placing notes withrfaial institutions in connection with customer iir@ancing
when we recognize the related boat sales. We atsmmnize marketing fees earned on credit life,dertdi and
disability, and hull insurance products sold bydkparty insurance companies at the later of cust@nceptance of
the insurance product as evidenced by contractutioecor when the related boat sale is recognivéel also
recognize commissions earned on extended warrantice contracts sold on behalf of third-party iasice
companies at the later of customer acceptanceefdtvice contract terms, as evidenced by congsastution or
recognition of the related boat sale.

Certain finance and extended warranty commissiodsngarketing fees on insurance products may begelar
back if a customer terminates or defaults on théedging contract within a specified period of tinBased upon o
experience of repayments and defaults, we maimataimargeback allowance that was not material tdinancial
statements taken as a whole as of September 38,@®D09. Should results differ materially fronr distorical
experiences, we would need to modify our estimafatare chargebacks, which could have a matedakese
effect on our operating margins.

Vendor Consideration Received

We account for consideration received from our wesdn accordance with FASB Accounting Standards
Codification 605-50, “Revenue Recognition, Custofayments and Incentives” (ASC 605-50), previousfgrred
to as Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 02Ad;dunting by a Customer (Including a Reseller)Geirtain
Consideration Received from a Vendor.” ASC 605-Fsnsignificantly requires us to classify interassistance
received from manufacturers as a reduction of itagrrcost and related cost of sales as opposedttimg the
assistance against our interest expense incurithdowr lenders. Pursuant to ASC 605-50, amountsived by us
under our co-op assistance programs from our maturkxs are netted against related advertisingresgse

Inventories

Inventory costs consist of the amount paid to aeghie inventory, net of vendor consideration anctpase
discounts, the cost of equipment added, recondlitipoosts, and transportation costs relating taigicgy inventory
for sale. We state new boat, motor, and traileeimuries at the lower of cost, determined on aiipeidentification
basis, or market. We state used boat, motor, afldrtinventories, including trade-in’s, at the
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lower of cost, determined on a specific-identificatbasis, or market. We state parts and accessattbe lower of
cost, determined on an average cost basis, or m&¥eeutilize our historical experience, the agaighe
inventories, and our consideration of current maniends as the basis for determining lower of cosharket
valuation allowance. As of September 30, 2008 d@@B2our lower of cost or market valuation allowamas

$5.1 million and $17.7 million, respectively. If@vs occur and market conditions change, causmfpthvalue to
fall below carrying value, the lower of cost or tketrvaluation allowance could increase.

Valuation of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We account for goodwill and identifiable intangilalssets in accordance with FASB Accounting Stargdard
Codification 350, “Intangibles — Goodwill and Oth¢ ASC 350), previously referred to as Statemerfiofncial
Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Oth@ahgible Assets.” Under this standard, we as$ess t
impairment of goodwill and identifiable intangitdssets at least annually and whenever events ngeklan
circumstances indicate that the carrying value nybe recoverable. The first step in the assessinémne
estimation of fair value. If step one indicates fih@airment potentially exists, we perform thew®t step to
measure the amount of impairment, if any. Goodawilll identifiable intangible asset impairment exigten the
estimated fair value is less than its carrying galu

During the three months ended June 30, 2008, werixeed a significant decline in stock market atitn
driven primarily by weakness in the marine retadlustry and an overall soft economy, which hindenedfinancial
performance. Accordingly, we completed a step orayais (as noted above) and estimated the fairevad the
reporting unit as prescribed by ASC 350, which ¢atiéd potential impairment. As a result, we congulet fair
value analysis of indefinite lived intangible assatd a step two goodwill impairment analysis,eagiired by ASC
350. We determined that indefinite lived intangibfsets and goodwill were impaired and recordezhacash
charge of $121.1 million based on our assessmeatwilV not be required to make any current or fataash
expenditures as a result of this impairment charge.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

FASB Accounting Standards Codification 360-10-48xdperty, Plant, and Equipment, Impairment of Désjo
of Long-Lived Assets” (ASC 360-10-40), previousifarred to as Statement of Financial Accountingn&ads
No. 144 “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lidé\ssets,” requires that long-lived assets, such as
property and equipment and purchased intangibleiesuto amortization, be reviewed for impairmemenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate tleatdtlrying amount of an asset may not be recowerabl
Recoverability of the asset is measured by compaiad its carrying amount to undiscounted futureaash flows
the asset is expected to generate. If such ageetomasidered to be impaired, the impairment teebegnized is
measured as the amount by which the carrying amafuthe asset exceeds its fair market value. Estisnaf
expected future cash flows represent our best atitmased on currently available information armdoeable and
supportable assumptions. Any impairment recognizedcordance with ASC 360-10-40 is permanent aay mot
be restored. As of September 30, 2009, we hadesognized any impairment of long-lived assets imeeztion
with ASC 360-10-40 based on our reviews.

During the three months ended June 30, 2008, werexed a significant decline in market valuatioiven
primarily by weakness in the marine retail industnd an overall soft economy, which adversely afg@our
financial performance. As a result of this weaknessrealized a goodwill and intangible asset impant charge,
as noted above. Based on these events, we revibe@emluation of our investment in Gulfport in aatance with
ASC 323 and recoverability of the assets contawi¢itin the joint venture. ASC 323 requires the igruition of a
loss in value of an investment, which is other taaamporary decline. We reviewed our investmedtassets
contained within the Gulfport joint venture, whicbnsists of land, buildings, equipment, and goddw# a result,
we determined that our investment in the joint vemtvas impaired and recorded a non-cash chargg.@fmillion
based on our assessment. We will not be requirethtee any current or future cash expendituresrasudt of this
impairment charge.
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Stock-Based Compensatio

Effective October 1, 2005, we adopted the provisiohFASB Accounting Standards Codification 718,
“Compensation — Stock Compensation” (ASC 718), jmesly referred to as Statement of Financial Ac¢mgn
Standards No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” fosbare-based compensation plans. We adopted ASGsMig
the modified prospective transition method. Undiés transition method, compensation cost recogrniizelddes
(a) the compensation cost for all share-based angmahted prior to, but not yet vested as of Oatdh&005, based
on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordavith the original provisions of ASC 718 and (g t
compensation cost for all share-based awards giantesequent to September 30, 2005, based onahedate fair
value estimated in accordance with the provisidnsSIC 718. Additionally, we accounted for restrittgtock
awards granted using the measurement and recagpitdwvisions of ASC 718. Accordingly, the fair valaf the
restricted stock awards is measured on the grdetatfal recognized in earnings over the requisitdcseperiod for
each separately vesting portion of the award.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with FA8Bounting Standards Codification 740, “Income
Taxes” (ASC 740), previously referred to as Statenoé Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Aaating for
Income Taxes” and Financial Accounting StandardrBdaterpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertsirin
Income Taxes.” Under ASC 740, we recognize defetawdissets and liabilities for the future tax eapsences
attributable to temporary differences between tharicial statement carrying amounts of existinggssand
liabilities and their respective tax basis. We nueasleferred tax assets and liabilities using ehiztx rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the yeawshith we expect those temporary differences toebevered or
settled. We record valuation allowances to reduredeferred tax assets to the amount expected tedhieed by
considering all available positive and negativedeuce.

Pursuant to ASC 740, we must consider all posaive negative evidence regarding the realizatiatteférred
tax assets, including past operating results anotdisources of taxable income. Under the provs@mASC 740,
we determined that our net deferred tax asset detedee fully reserved given recent earnings addstry trends.

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@dssued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes, also included in ASID.7The Interpretation clarifies the accountingdacertainty ir
income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s findistéements and prescribes a recognition thresirodd
measurement attributes of income tax positionsitakesxpected to be taken on a tax return. The d@tngfaan
uncertain tax position taken or expected to bertaean income tax return must be recognized ivitiaacial
statements at the largest amount that is moreylitteln-not to be sustained upon audit by the reletaxing
authority. An uncertain income tax position willtri® recognized in the financial statements uritasamore likely
than not of being sustained.

For a more comprehensive list of our accountingcped, including those which involve varying degged
judgment, see Note— “Significant Accounting Policies” of Notes to Cawlidated Financial Statements.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth certain financiatalas a percentage of revenue for the periodsatetic

Fiscal Year Ended September 3(

2007 2008 2009
(Amounts in thousands)
Revenue $1,255,98! 100.(% $885,40° 100.(% $588,58' 100.(%
Cost of sale: 956,25 76.1% 679,16« 76.7% 499,92!  84.9%
Gross profit 299,73: 23.%  206,24: 23.2% 88,66( 15.1%

Selling, general, and administrative exper 245,22: 19.€% 217,42t 24.% 159,99t 27.2%
Goodwill and intangible asset impairment

charge — 0.C% 122,09: 13.&% — 0%
Income (loss) from operatiol 54,51( 4.3% (133,27) (15.)% (71,33) (12.)%
Interest expense, n 26,95¢ 2.1% 20,16« 2.2% 14,06+ 2.4%
Income (loss) before income tax provision

(benefit) 27,55t 2.2% (153,43) (17.9% (85,407 (14.5%
Income tax provision (benefi 7,48¢ 0.6% (19,16) (2.2% (8,630) (1L.5%
Net income (loss $ 20,06¢ 1.6% $(134,27) (15.2% $(76,77) (13.0%

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2009 Compared Wwislital Year Ended September 30, 2008

Revenue. Revenue decreased $296.8 million, or 33.5%, & ¥bmillion for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2009 from $885.4 million for thedisgear ended September 30, 2008. Of this decrease,
$234.4 million was attributable to a decline in garable-store sales and $62.5 million was attrliletto 26 stores
closed in fiscal 2009 that are not eligible forlusion in the comparable-store base for the 12 hwended
September 30, 2009. The decline in our comparable-sales was due to the widely reported weakaoan
conditions and tighter retail lending environmenmilhjch have adversely impacted our retail sales.

Gross Profit. Gross profit decreased $117.5 million, or 57.68488.7 million for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2009 from $206.2 million for thedisgear ended September 30, 2008. Gross profip@saentage
of revenue decreased to 15.1% for fiscal 2009 28m3% for fiscal 2008. The decrease in gross pddfitars
reflected the combination of the significant reductn revenue because of the soft economic enmient and the
decreases in gross profit percentage. The decie@sess profit as a percentage of revenue wasaoergin
pressure arising from the difficult retail enviroant and the aggressive pricing strategy that wéogtegd to drive a
significant reduction to our inventory levels. Atldnally, during the fiscal 2009, we incurred lossad increased
reserves for expected losses associated with mdelctines in brands we no longer carry by approtefya
$12.6 million. Lastly, we strategically decidedftoego certain manufacturer purchase incentivesoatered
substantially less boats in fiscal 2009 than indi2008.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenseelling, general, and administrative expensescdsed
$57.4 million, or 26.4%, to $160.0 million for tfiscal year ended September 30, 2009 from $217libmfor the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2008. Selling,rgérend administrative expenses as a percentagxefiue
increased to 27.2% for the year ended Septembe&0B®, from 24.6% for the year ended September@08.2The
fiscal year ended September 30, 2009 included ®@l®n in charges associated with store closufém fiscal year
ended September 30, 2008 included $3.0 milliorherges associated with store closures, partiatseboby
$1.0 million in gains recorded as an expense offdated to proceeds from business interruptioargrsce claims
and the favorable settlement of certain interest swaps. Excluding these items would result ioramarable
selling, general, and administrative expense réolucf $65.1 million, or 29.8%, and selling, gerieeand
administrative expenses as a percent of revenueased to 26.0% for the year ended September 89, f20m
24.7% for the year ended September 30, 2008. mbisése in selling, general, and administrativeeagps as a
percentage of revenue was primarily attributablthéoreported same-store sales decline, whichtezbsid a
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reduction in our ability to leverage our expensadtre. The reduction in the dollar level of salli general, and
administrative expenses was due to the significathictions we have made in personnel, retail lonatiand most
other expense categories.

Goodwill and intangible asset impairmenDuring the fiscal year ended September 30, 2@@8yere required
to write-off our goodwill and indefinite lived imtgible assets as a result of the decline in ouketafaluation and
the continuation of the difficult retail environnteas prescribed by ASC 350.

Interest Expense.Interest expense decreased $6.1 million, or 3pt8%14.1 million for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2009 from $20.2 million for the flsesar ended September 30, 2008. Interest expenae a
percentage of revenue increased to 2.4% for f&@@9 from 2.3% for fiscal 2008. The decrease iargdt expense
was primarily a result of the decline in averagedwings throughout fiscal 2009.

Income Tax Provision.Our income tax benefit decreased $10.5 millioa tenefit of $8.6 million for the fisc
year ended September 30, 2009 from an income taafibef $19.2 million for the fiscal year endedpBeEmber 30
2008, primarily as a result of limitations on theryback of our pretax loss and recording a vaduagillowance on
the carryforward pretax loss. The effective tae ffat the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008raidf from
previous periods primarily as a result of the rdawg of a non-cash valuation allowance that offietsmajority of
income tax benefit that would have arisen fromghedwill and intangible asset impairment charge.

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2008 Compared Wwitital Year Ended September 30, 2007

Revenue. Revenue decreased $370.6 million, or 29.5%, & $Bmillion for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2008 from $1.3 billion for the fisgaar ended September 30, 2007. Of this decredge} #illion
was attributable to stores opened, closed, or aadjtinat were not eligible for inclusion in the quamablestore bas
and $343.2 million was attributable to a 28% dexlimcomparable-store sales in fiscal 2008. Théirkemn our
same-store sales resulted primarily from softenentic conditions because of the turmoil in the fiicial markets,
which impacted our results as well as those of rotier retailers. In response to these declinesire@djusting ot
structure, including store closures, in a mannavhiich we believe will reduce operating costs battnesult in
market share losses.

Gross Profit. Gross profit decreased $93.5 million, or 31.284206.2 million for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2008 from $299.7 million for thedisgear ended September 30, 2007. Gross profip@saentage
of revenue decreased to 23.3% for fiscal 2008 288% for fiscal 2007. The decrease in gross pvedi a result
of the significant reduction in revenue resultingnf the soft economic environment. The decreagedss profit as
a percentage of revenue was due to margin preassieg from the difficult retail environment andales mix shift
to larger products, which historically carry lowgoss margins.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expense&elling, general, and administrative expenseseédsed
$27.8 million, or 11.3%, to $217.4 million for tfiscal year ended September 30, 2008 from $245I®mfor the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2007. Selling,rgérend administrative expenses as a percentagyefiue
increased to 24.6% for the year ended Septemb&0B® from 19.6% for the year ended September @W7.2The
fiscal year ended September 30, 2008 included $8li@n in charges associated with store closupestially offset
by $1.0 million in gains recorded as an expenssetffelated to proceeds from business interrugtisurance clairnr
associated with ice storms damage at certain Mistmations in 2007 and the favorable settlemédrtestain
interest rate swaps accounted for as cash flowdsedglditionally, the fiscal year ended Septemifer2B07
included $3.7 million in gains recorded as an espenffset related to business interruption inswgroceeds that
was received for claims associated with Hurricarikr&in 2006, the sale of our corporate jet, arslirance
proceeds we received associated with the ice slanmage at certain Missouri locations. Excluding¢hiégems
would result in a comparable selling, general, adichinistrative expense reduction of $33.3 million13.4% and
selling, general, and administrative expensesms@ent of revenue increased to 24.4% for the grded
September 30, 2008 from 19.8% for the year endete8der 30, 2007. This increase in selling, genaral
administrative expenses as a percentage of reweasi@rimarily attributable to the reported sameessales
decline, which resulted in a reduction in our &pito leverage our expense structure.
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Goodwill and intangible asset impairmenDuring the fiscal year ended September 30, 2@@8yere required
to write-off our goodwill and indefinite lived imgible assets as a result of the decline in ouketafaluation and
the continuation of the difficult retail environnteas prescribed by ASC 350.

Interest Expense.Interest expense decreased $6.8 million, or 25t2%20.2 million for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2008 from $27.0 million for the flsesar ended September 30, 2007. Interest expenae a
percentage of revenue increased to 2.3% for f&@@8 from 2.1% for fiscal 2007. The decrease iargdt expense
was primarily a result of a more favorable interag¢ environment in fiscal 2008, which accountadsf decrease «
approximately $6.6 million in interest expense.

Income Tax Provision.Income taxes decreased $26.6 million to a beo&#t9.2 million for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2008 from an income tax expdr&e5 million for the fiscal year ended Septem®@, 2007,
primarily as a result of our pretax loss. The dffectax rate for the fiscal year ended SeptemBe2808 differed
from previous periods primarily as a result of teeording of a non-cash valuation allowance thiged$ the
majority of income tax benefit that would have anigrom the goodwill and intangible asset impairtrdrarge.

Quarterly Data and Seasonality

Our business, as well as the entire recreatioreigpindustry, is highly seasonal, with seasopalérying in
different geographic markets. With the exceptiofrlokida, we generally realize significantly lonsales and highe
levels of inventories, and related short-term bemgs, in the quarterly periods ending Decembeai®d March 31.
The onset of the public boat and recreation showlsnhuary stimulates boat sales and allows usiteesour
inventory levels and related short-term borrowitigsughout the remainder of the fiscal year. Owilbess could
become substantially more seasonal as we acquaferdehat operate in colder regions of the UnBttes.

Our business is also subject to weather patterhighwnay adversely affect our results of operatidizs
example, drought conditions (or merely reducedfadlifevels) or excessive rain may close area ngdtcations or
render boating dangerous or inconvenient, therebaiting customer demand for our products. In tddij
unseasonably cool weather and prolonged winteritond may lead to a shorter selling season inagetbcations.
Hurricanes and other storms could result in disomgtof our operations or damage to our boat iroréed and
facilities, as has been the case when Florida &met onarkets were hit by hurricanes. Although cemgyaphic
diversity is likely to reduce the overall impactus of adverse weather conditions in any one manies, these
conditions will continue to represent potential tenal adverse risks to us and our future finangeaformance.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash needs are primarily for working capitastipport operations, including new and used bodtelated
parts inventories, off-season liquidity, and growtrough acquisitions and new store openings. \Welagly
monitor the aging of our inventories and currentkeatrends to evaluate our current and futureritwey needs. W
also use this evaluation in conjunction with owieg of our current and expected operating perforceaand
expected customer demand to determine the adegdiacy financing needs. These cash needs haveibaty
been financed with cash generated from operatinds$arrowings under our line of credit facility. Cability to
utilize our credit facility to fund operations deyks upon the collateral levels and compliance thighcovenants of
the credit facility. Turmoil in the credit markeaed weakness in the retail markets may interfeti aur ability to
remain in compliance with the covenants of the itfagility and therefore utilize the credit fatylito fund
operations. At September 30, 2009, we were in ciampé with all of the credit facility covenants. fing the fiscal
years ended September 30, 2008 and 2009, we dbngilete any acquisitions. We currently dependu
dividends and other payments from our dealershpsoarr line of credit facility to fund our curremperations and
meet our cash needs. Currently, no agreementstbatstestrict this flow of funds from our dealepsh

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2007 @08, Zash provided by operating activities apprated
$20.0 million and $209.1 million, respectively. Rbe fiscal year ended September 30, 2008, cashinsperating
activities was approximately $8.8 million. For fiecal year ended September 30, 2007, cash provigegberating
activities was due primarily to net income, adjdsk@r non-cash depreciation, amortization, andlstmsed
compensation charges, and increases in customesittiepnd accrued expenses, partially offset bgcasdise in
accounts payable and an increase in inventorieagare appropriate inventory levels. For the figear ended
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September 30, 2008, cash used in operating aetwitas due primarily to our net loss, a decreasedounts
payable because of reductions in purchases frormanufacturers, and a decrease in customer deplost® a
reduction in pending sales. These amounts weregpitimoffset by noncash charges, including the impant of
goodwill, stock-based compensation, and depreciatial amortization expense. The cash used in apgrat
activities was further offset by reductions in int@ies and accounts receivables due to the remuitisales trend
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2009, mastded by operating activities was due primatilythe
significant reduction of inventories.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2007,,200@B2009, cash used in investing activities was
approximately $9.4 million, $7.9 million, and $I8llion, respectively. For the fiscal year endegt®enber 30,
2007, cash used in investing activities was pritparsed to purchase property and equipment assalcveith
opening new retail facilities or improving and redting existing retail facilities and in the fingdition of certain
business acquisitions, partially offset by procemd®ived from the sale and involuntary conversibproperty and
equipment. For the fiscal year ended Septembe2(@IB, cash used in investing activities was prilyparsed to
purchase property and equipment associated withiog@&ew retail facilities or improving and reloicet existing
retail facilities. For the fiscal year ended Septem30, 2009, cash used in investing activities prawarily used to
purchase property and equipment associated withowimmy and relocating existing retail facilities.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2007 @@, Zash used in financing activities was approxaty
$5.3 million and $212.0 million, respectively. Rbe fiscal year ended September 30, 2008, cashdedby
financing activities was approximately $16.5 miflid-or the fiscal year ended September 30, 208h gsed in
financing activities was primarily attributableparchases of treasury stock and repayments of temg-debt,
partially offset by proceeds from net borrowingsshiort-term borrowings as a result of increasedroary levels
and proceeds from common shares issued upon theissxef stock options and under the employee spockhase
plan. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2888y provided by financing activities was primaaittributable
to a net increase in short-term borrowings, pdytiaffset by repayments of long-term debt. Forfikeal year ended
September 30, 2009, cash used by financing aetvitias primarily attributable to the repaymentshafrt-term
borrowings, partially offset by proceeds from oanumon stock sale.

We are party to a second amended and restated anebisecurity agreement, which has been amended on
various occasions since its original executionuineJ2006. As amended, our credit facility proviftesa line of
credit with asset-based borrowing availability ampproximately $230 million, stepping down to $1iilion by
September 30, 2010, with interim decreases betwaeim dates. The amended facility has certain fiahnovenant
as specified in the agreement. The covenants iaghuolvisions that our leverage ratio not excee8l &71; that our
current ratio must be greater than 1.25 to 1 dd 1021 depending on the time of year; and thathoaximum
EBITDA loss and annual EBITDA, both as definedhe fgreement, comply with certain thresholds asriesi
below. The EBITDA covenant requires that we doexateed the allowable cumulative negative EBITDA, as
defined in the agreement, for the first nine momthiscal 2010, which is $22 million as of DecemBé&, 2009 and
March 31, 2010 and $15 million as of June 30, 20¥8.are required to have a cumulative EBITDA gretiten or
equal to our interest expense for the fiscal yadirg September 30, 2010. EBITDA, as defined inaheement, is
our earnings before interest, taxes, depreciatind,amortization plus an add back for stock-basetpensation
expense and 50% of the proceeds of our SeptembB8rs20ck offering or approximately $10 million. Tamended
facility provides for a variable interest rate margf LIBOR plus 490 basis points through Septen8#r2010 and
thereafter at LIBOR plus 150 to 400 basis poingpeshding upon our financial and operating perforceaiVe paid
the lenders approximately $2.4 million in amendnfees during fiscal 2009. The amended facility megun May
2011, but includes two one-year renewal optionkjest to lender approval.

As of September 30, 2008 and 2009, we owed an gggref $372 million and $142 million, respectively
under our revolving credit facility and were in gollance with all of the credit facility covenansdvances under
the facility accrued interest at a rate of 4.0% &#¥o, as of September 30, 2008 and 2009, respdctifl|
indebtedness associated with our real estate lyddirere repaid during the fiscal year ended Sepged®, 2008.
As of September 30, 2009, the facility provideduith an additional borrowing availability of applimxately
$60 million.

Except as specified in this “Management’s Discussiod Analysis of Financial Condition, and Resafts
Operations” and in our consolidated financial steats, we have no material commitments for cafitathe next
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12 months. We believe that our existing capitabueses will be sufficient to finance our operatidosat least the
next 12 months, except for possible significantugsitions.

Contractual Commitments and Commercial Commitments

The following table sets forth a summary of our eniai contractual obligations and commercial commeitts
as of September 30, 2009:

Short-Term Other Long-Term Operating
Year Ending September 3( Borrowings(1) Liabilities(2) Leases(3 Total
(Amounts in thousands)

2010 $ 142,000 $ — $ 7,401 $149,40:
2011 — 3,831 6,671 10,50z
2012 — — 5,104 5,104
2013 — — 3,67¢ 3,67¢
2014 — — 2,66( 2,66(
Thereafte — — 6,232 6,23:
Total $ 142000 $ 3,831 $31,74. $177,57:

(1) Estimates of future interest payments for shomtborrowings have been excluded in the tabulargmtasion.
Amounts due are contingent upon the outstandingnicals and the variable interest rates. As of SdqeeB0,
2009, the interest rate on our sl-term borrowings was 5.29

(2) The amounts included in other long-term liabilit@msist primarily of our estimated liability folagms on
certain workers’ compensation insurance policiehil®\ve estimate the amount to be paid in excess of
12 months, the ultimate timing of the paymentaulgjact to certain variability. Accordingly, we hagkassified
all amounts as due in the following year for thegmses of this table

(3) Amounts for operating lease commitments do nouigelcertain operating expenses such as maintenance,
insurance, and real estate taxes. These amounstaaematerial component of operating exper

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any transactions, arrangementsher celationships with unconsolidated entities dra
reasonably likely to affect our financial conditjdiquidity, or capital resources. We have no sakgurpose or
limited purpose entities that provide difdance sheet financing, liquidity, or market agdit risk support; we do n
engage in leasing, hedging, or research and dewelopservices; and we do not have other relatipssthiat expos
us to liability that is not reflected in the finaalkcstatements.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

At September 30, 2009, all of our short-term defsebnterest at a variable rate, tied to LIBOR asfarence
rate. Changes in the underlying LIBOR interest tatthe spread charged under our performance grapiid on our
short-term debt could affect our earnings. For g¥anthe 100 basis point increase in the integston our short-
term debt, as defined in our June 2009 amendneptpjected to result in an increase of approxiipa#ig.4 million
in annual pre-tax interest expense. This estimiaigrgase is based upon the outstanding balancer aghort-term
debt as of September 30, 2009 and assumes no tinigigdnanges by us to reduce the outstanding besamo
additional interest assistance that could be reckikom vendors due to the interest rate incress@no changes in
the base LIBOR rate.

Products purchased from Italian-based manufactarersubject to fluctuations in the euro to U.Slado
exchange rate, which ultimately may impact theilrptéice at which we can sell such products. Acaugty,
fluctuations in the value of the euro as comparét the U.S. dollar may impact the price pointsvaich we can
profitably sell Italian products, and such pricént® may not be competitive with other product $irie the United
States. Accordingly, such fluctuations in excharajes ultimately may impact the amount of reverost of goods
sold, cash flows, and earnings we recognize fdiaftgoroduct lines. We cannot predict the effedts o
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exchange rate fluctuations on our operating resuitsertain cases, we may enter into foreign awayecash flow
hedges to reduce the variability of cash flows eisdéed with forecasted purchases of boats and gdidm Italian-
based manufacturers. We are not currently engagtdeign currency exchange hedging transactiomsanage ot
foreign currency exposure. If and when we do engadereign currency exchange hedging transactisescannot
assure that our strategies will adequately pratecbperating results from the effects of exchamadge fluctuations.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary D¢

Reference is made to the financial statementsiakes thereto, and the report thereon, commenging o
of this report, which financial statement, notes] eeport are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedure

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatretesigned to ensure that material informatouired tc
be disclosed by us in Securities Exchange Act tspsirecorded, processed, summarized and repoiteith the
time periods specified in the Securities and Exgea@ommission’s rules and forms, and that suchrimftion is
accumulated and communicated to our managemehiding the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Fin&ic
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisiorgarding required disclosure.

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial i0ér have evaluated the effectiveness of the demigh
operation of our disclosure controls and proced(asgslefined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-1&(e)er the Securiti¢
Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end of the perimgeoed by this report. Based on such evaluatioeh stficers
have concluded that, as of the end of the perieéreal by this report, our disclosure controls aratedures were
effective.

Changes in Internal Controls

During the quarter ended September 30, 2009, there no changes in our internal controls over fain
reporting that materially affected, or were reafbyéikely to materially affect, our internal cootrover financial
reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our CEO and CFO, doesxqct that our disclosure controls and interpatmols
will prevent all errors and all fraud. A controlstgm, no matter how well conceived and operatetdpoavide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the g the control system are met. Further, thggiteof a control
system must reflect the fact that there are regotwmastraints, and the benefits of controls mustdmsidered
relative to their costs. Because of the inherenitditions in all control systems, no evaluatiorcoftrols can provid
absolute assurance that all control issues andrioss of fraud, if any, within the company havenbeéetected.
These inherent limitations include the realitiest ludgments in decision-making can be faulty, tivad breakdowns
can occur because of simple error or mistake. Aafditly, controls can be circumvented by the indipal acts of
some persons, by collusion of two or more peopldyananagement override of the control. The desfgmy
system of controls also is based in part upon iteassumptions about the likelihood of future eseand there can
be no assurance that any design will succeed iiewol its stated goals under all potential futcoaditions; over
time, a control may become inadequate becauseanigels in conditions, or the degree of compliandk thie
policies or procedures may deteriorate. Becausieeoinherent limitations in a cost-effective cohsgstem,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur anda detected.
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CEO and CFO Certifications

Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 are the Certifications & @EO and the CFO, respectively. The Certificatianes
required in accordance with Section 302 of the &aeb-Oxley Act of 2002 (the Section 302 Certifias). This
Item of this report, which you are currently reaglia the information concerning the Evaluation nefd to in the
Section 302 Certifications and this information slddbe read in conjunction with the Section 302tifleations for
a more complete understanding of the topics predent

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaiimg adequate internal control over financigasing,
as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of theuites Exchange Act of 1934. Under the supervisiod with the
participation of the Company’s management, inclgdia principal executive officer and principaldimcial officer,
the Company conducted an evaluation of the effentigs of the Company’s internal control over fir@neporting
as of September 30, 2009 as required by the SesuEkchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-15(c). In makhig
assessment, the Company used the criteria settfpittiie Committee of Sponsoring Organizations eftheadway
Commission (COSO) imternal Control — Integrated FrameworBased on its evaluation, management concluded
that its internal control over financial reportings effective as of September 30, 2009.

Our internal control over financial reporting asSeptember 30, 2009 has been audited by Ernst andgy
LLP, an independent registered public accounting,fas stated in their report which appears below.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC A CCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
MarineMax, Inc.

We have audited MarineMax, Ins.internal control over financial reporting as ep&mber 30, 2009, based
criteria established in Internal Control — Integaframework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the C@8t@ria). MarineMax, Inc.’s management is respblesfor
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting, and for its assessment of the effeass of internal
control over financial reporting included in thecampanying managemeatteport on internal control over financ
reporting. Our responsibility is to express an apiron the Company'’s internal control over finaheggporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBoa
(United States). Those standards require that e g@hd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financieporting was maintained in all material respects. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugincial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and ¢ipgraffectiveness of internal control based onabsessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we comsldercessary in the circumstances. We believethaudit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesass
regarding the reliability of financial reportingathe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfeez A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (Iajpeto the maintenance of records that, in reasiendetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disghositions of the assets of the company; (2) idmveasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as ngctsparmit preparation of financial statementadcordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréwdipts and expenditures of the company are beadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management amdtdis of the company; and (3) provide reasonasdeirance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitex acquisition, use or disposition of the compaassets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjecheorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesdlitions, or that the degree of compliance wWithpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, MarineMax, Inc. maintained, in alhterial respects, effective internal control diueancial
reporting as of September 30, 2009, based on tHeCCEiteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), the consolidated balance shedtaaheMax, Inc. as of September 30, 2009 and 2868 the
related consolidated statements of operations, celmepsive income, stockholders’ equity and cashdlfor each
of the three years in the period ended Septemhet@®® of MarineMax, Inc. and our report dated Delser 14,
2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Certified Public Accountants
Tampa, Florida
December 14, 2009
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PART IlI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Govente

The information required by this Item relating tar @irectors is incorporated herein by referencenéo
definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuanRegulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2010 AainMeeting
of Stockholders. The information required by thésm relating to our executive officers includedRBusiness —
Executive Officers.”

Item 11. Executive Compensatio

The information required by this Item is incorp@éterein by reference to the definitive Proxy Stetnt to b
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchangé #c our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners atnbnagement and Related Stockholder Matt

The information required by this Item is incorp@éterein by reference to the definitive Proxy Stetnt to b
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchangé #ic our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independence

The information required by this Item is incorp@ctherein by reference to the definitive Proxy Stegnt to b
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchangé #c our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Servict

The information required by this Item is incorp@ctherein by reference to the definitive Proxy Stegnt to b
filled pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchang# for our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedul

(&) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Scheths

(1) Financial Statements are listed in the Inde€dosolidated Financial Statements on page F-histeport.

(2) No financial statement schedules are includsgzhbse such schedules are not applicable, areaquted, or
because required information is included in thesotidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number
31
3.2
33
4.1
4.2

10.1(k)

10.3(h)
10.3(i)
10.3(j)
10.4
10.5
10.12

10.18t

1C.19

10.20

10.20(a)
10.21t

Exhibit
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist, including all amendments to date
Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Redi§tB
Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Rapiating Preferred Stock(:
Specimen of Common Stock Certificate
Rights Agreement, dated August 28, 2001 betweersRagt and American Stock Transfer &
Trust Company, as Rights Agent
Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of March 30, 20@&g MarineMax of New York, Inc.;
Surfside-3 Marina, Inc.; Matthew Barbara, Paul Baah Diane Keeney, and Angela Chianese; and
certain affiliates of Surfsi-3 Marina, Inc.(Form 1(-Q filed May 10, 2006)(3
Employment Agreement between Registrant and WillianMcGill Jr.(4)
Employment Agreement between Registrant and MicHadcLamb(4)
Employment Agreement between Registrant and EdwaRlussell(4)
1998 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended through Nbeeitb, 2000(5
1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plai
Agreement Relating to Acquisitions between Reggteend Brunswick Corporation, dated
December 7, 2005(¢
Hatteras Sales and Service Agreement, effectivaustut, 2006 among the Registrant, MarineMax
Motor Yachts, LLC, and Hatteras Yachts DivisiorBrtinswick Corporation(7
Second Amended and Restated Credit and Securityehgent dated June 19, 2006 among the
Registrant and its subsidiaries as Borrowers, Kellizank, N.A., Bank of America, N.A., and
various other lenders, as Lenders
Agreement Relating to Acquisitions between Regigteend Brunswick Corporation, dated
December 7, 2005(¢
Sea Ray Sales and Service Agreemet
Second Amended and Restated Credit and Securitgesvggnt dated June 19, 2006 among the
Registrant and its subsidiaries, as Borrowers,Barnk of America, N.A., KeyBank, N.A., General
Electric Commercial Distribution Finance Corporati®Vachovia Bank, N.A., Wells Fargo Bank,
N.A., National City Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank, N.A., @Branch Banking and Trust company, as Ler
(8)

1C.21(a)1 First Amendment to Second Amended and Restatedt@med Security Agreement executed on

June 5, 2007 effective as of May 31, 2007 amondréngistrant and its subsidiaries, as Borrowers
Bank of America, N.A., KeyBank, N.A., General EléctCommercial Distribution Finance
Corporation, Branch Banking and Trust Company, esders(10

1C.21(b)1 Third Amendment to Second Amended and RestateditGued Security Agreement executed on

March 7, 2008, among MarineMax, Inc. and its subsiels, as Borrowers, and Bank of America,
N.A., Keybank, N.A., General Electric CommerciakBibution Finance Corporation, Wacho
Bank, N.A., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank, N.Branch Banking and Trust Company, and E
of the West, as Lenders(1
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit

1C.21(c)t Fourth Amendment to Second Amended and Restatetit@red Security Agreement executed on
December 15, 2008, by and among MarineMax, Inc.i@nglibsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Bank of
America, N.A., Keybank, N.A., GE Commercial Distitton Finance Corporation, Wachovia Bank,
N.A., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank, N.A., BadnBanking & Trust Company, and Bank of
West, as Lenders(1!

1C.21(d)1 Fifth Amendment to Second Amended and RestateditGred Security Agreement executed on
June 5, 2009, by and among MarineMax, Inc. ansubsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Bank of Ame
N.A., Keybank, N.A., GE Commercial Distribution Bimce Corporation, Wachovia Bank, N.A., W
Fargo Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank, N.A., Branch Bankingr&ust Company, and Bank of the West, as
Lenders(16

1C.21(e)1 Sixth Amendment to Second Amended and Restatedt@red Security Agreement executed on
September 10, 2009, by and among MarineMax, Intt.itarsubsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Bank of
America, N.A., Keybank, N.A., GE Commercial Distition Finance Corporation, Wachovia Bank,
N.A., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank, N.A., BcdmBanking & Trust Company, and Bank of
West, as Lendel

10.22 MarineMax, Inc. 2007 Incentive Compensation Plah

10.23 Form Stock Option Agreement for 2007 Incentive Cengation Plan(11

1C.24 Form Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for 208dentive Compensation Plan(]

10.25 Director Fee Share Purchase Program

21 List of Subsidiarie:

23 Consent of Ernst & Young LL

311 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as aptk

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as aptk

32.1 Certification pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350, @spéed pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

t Certain information in this exhibit has been onuitéand filed separately with the Securities and Bxge
Commission. Confidential treatment has been reqdesith respect to the omitted portio

(1) Incorporated by reference to Registration Stateraprform 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2891
filed on December 20, 200

(2) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’'s Form Rdfort dated September 30, 1998, as filed on Oc&he
1998.

(3) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 1f@Qhe quarter ended March 31, 2006, as filed/iay 10,
2006.

(4) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form ¢-K, as filed on June 13, 200

(5) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’'s Form 1i@Qhe quarterly period ended December 31, 208 filed
on February 14, 200:

(6) Incorporated by reference to Registration StaterapForm $-1 (Registratior33z-47873).

(7) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’'s Form 18-fQr the quarterly period ended March 31, 20G¥filed
on September 23, 200

(8) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 1f®iQhe quarterly period ended June 30, 2006iled dn
August 4, 2006

(9) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K as filed on December 9, 20C
(10) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form ¢-K as filed on June 11, 20C
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(11) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form ¢-K as filed on March 6, 200
(12) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form £-8 (File No. 33:-141657)as filed March 29, 200
(13) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form ¢-K as filed on November 26, 20C
(14) Incorporated by reference to Regist’sform &K as filed on March 12, 200
)

(15) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 1f@rQhe quarterly period ended December 31, 2088ijed
on February 9, 200!

(16) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 1f@Qhe quarterly period ended June 3, 2009,led tin
June 3, 200¢

(c) Financial Statements Schedule

(1) See Item 15(a) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas
duly caused this report to be signed on its behathe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MARINE M AX, INC.

/sl WiLLiam H. McGILL JRr.

William H. McGill Jr.
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Date: December 14, 2009

In accordance with the Securities Exchange Actd341 the following persons on behalf of the registrand in
the capacities and on the date indicated have @it report below.

Signature Capacity Date
/s/ WILLIAM H. MCGILL JR. Chairman of the Board, President, and December 14, 20(
William H. McGill Jr. Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

/s/ MICHAEL H. MCLAMB Executive Vice President, Chief Financ  December 14, 20(

Michael H. McLamb Officer, Secretary, and Director (Princi
Accounting and Financial Office
/s/ HILLIARD M. EURE Il Director December 14, 20(
Hilliard M. Eure I
/s/ JOHN B. FURMAN Director December 14, 20(

John B. Furmau

/s/ ROBERT S. KANT Director December 14, 20(
Robert S. Kan

/sl RUSSELL J. KNITTEL Director December 14, 20(
Russell J. Knitte

/s JOSEPH A. WATTER¢ Director December 14, 20(
Joseph A. Wattet

/s/ DEAN S. WOODMAN Director December 14, 20(
Dean S. Woodma
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC A CCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
MarineMax, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
September 30, 2009 and 2008, and the related ¢datal statements of operations, comprehensivariaco
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each ofttiree years in the period ended September 30, J0&S%e
financial statements are the responsibility of@menpany’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighargio
(United States). Those standards require that e g@hd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements are free of materisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢esa basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurtrifinancial statements. An audit also includeessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as evaluating thalbfirancial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredlbove present fairly, in all material respedis, ¢onsolidated
financial position of MarineMax, Inc. and subsidsrat September 30, 2009 and 2008, and the cdasadi results
of their operations and their cash flows for eaftcthe three years in the period ended Septembe2E®, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accountmigciples.

As discussed in Note 3 to the financial statement8008 the Company changed its method for acaogihor
income tax uncertainties.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), MarineMax, Inc.’s internal contookr financial reporting as of September 30, 2@@3ed on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integaframework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and goontedated December 14, 2009 expressed an unaakilifi
opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Certified Public Accountants
Tampa, Florida
December 14, 2009
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands except share and per share tig

September 3C  September 3C
2008 2009
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivale $ 30,260 $ 25,50¢
Accounts receivable, n 28,93 35,491
Income tax receivabl 6,744 9,98:
Inventories, ne 468,62 205,93:
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 7,94¢ 12,31«
Deferred tax asse 307 —
Total current asse 542,82: 289,23t
Property and equipment, r 113,86¢ 102,31¢
Other lon¢-term asset 3,42¢ 2,092
Deferred tax asse 1,20¢ —
Total asset $ 661,32 $ 393,64
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payabl $ 4,481 $ 15,84%
Customer deposi 6,50¢ 4,88z
Accrued expense 25,38( 29,32¢
Shor-term borrowings 372,00( 142,00(
Total current liabilities 408,36t 192,05
Other lon¢-term liabilities 4,37¢ 3,831
Total liabilities 412, 74( 195,88t
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDERY¢ EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $.001 par value, 1,000,000 shart®rized, none issued or
outstanding at September 30, 2008 and 2 — —
Common stock, $.001 par value; 24,000,000 shatt®azed, 19,215,387 and
22,496,659 shares issued and 18,424,487 and 215B08hares outstanding at
September 30, 2008 and 2009, respecti 19 22
Additional paic-in capital 178,83( 204,77
Retained earning 85,54+ 8,772
Treasury stock, at cost, 790,900 shares held daeSdyer 30, 2008 and 20! (15,810) (15,810
Total stockholder equity 248,58: 197,75t
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 661,320 $ 393,64

See accompanying notes.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Amounts in thousands except share and per share tig

Revenue
Cost of sale:
Gross profi
Selling, general, and administrative exper
Goodwill and intangible asset impairment
Income (loss) from operatiol
Interest expens

che

Income (loss) before income tax provision (bent

Income tax provision (benefi
Net income (loss

Basic net income (loss) per common st
Diluted net income (loss) per common sh

Weighted average number of common shares usedriputing net

income (loss) per common sha
Basic

Diluted

For the Year Ended September 3C

2007 2008 2009
$ 125598 $ 88540 $ 588,58
956,25 679,16 499,92
299,73 206,24 88,66(
245,22 217,42 159,99
— 122,09: —
54,51 (133,27 (71,339
26,95t 20,16+ 14,06+
27,55t (153,43¢) (85,40%)
7,48¢ (19,167) (8,630)
$ 20060 $ (13427) $ (76,779
$ 106 $ (730 $ (4.1
$ 10/ $ (730 $ (419
18,618,61 18,391,48 18,68542
19,289,23  18,391,48 18,685,442

See accompanying notes.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in thousands)

For the Year Ended September 3C

2007 2008 2009
Net income (loss $20,06¢ $(134,277) $(76,772)
Other comprehensive income (los
Change in fair market value of derivative instrutsenet of tax benefit of $30!
and $228 for the years ended September 30, 200Z2G08] respectivel (379 (365) —
Reclassification adjustment for gains includedehincome, net of tax of $62
and $211 for the years ended September 30, 2002G08] respectivel (100 337 —
Comprehensive income (los $19,59( $(134,30Y) $(76,777)

See accompanying notes.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY
(Amounts in thousands except share data)

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Common Stock Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Treasury Stockholders
Shares Amount _ Capital Earnings Income Stock Equity

BALANCE, September 30, 20C 18,529,52 $ 19 $156,61¢ $ 200,30¢ $ 507 $ (7,563 $ 349,88
Net income — — —  20,06¢ — — 20,06¢
Purchase of treasury sto (383,300) — — — —  (7,21) (7,219
Shares issued under employee stock purchase

plan 78,66¢ — 1,631 — — — 1,631
Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt 149,78( — 1,587 — — — 1,587
Stock-based compensatic 5,19 — 7,307 — — — 7,307
Tax benefits of options exercis — — 76¢ — — — 76¢
Change in fair market value of derivative

instruments, net of ta — — — — (479) — (479
BALANCE, September 30, 20C 18,379,86 19 167,91. 220,37 28 (14,777  373,55¢
Net loss — — — (134,27) — —  (134,27)
Purchase of treasury sto (71,300 — — — — (1,039 (1,035
Shares issued under employee stock purc

plan 105,39( — 1,207 — — — 1,207
Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt 102,35: — 1,02¢ — — — 1,02¢
Stock-based compensatic 8,181 — 8,46¢ — — — 8,46¢
Tax benefits of options exercis 228 — — — 228
Cumulative effect of adoption of FIN — — — (559 — — (559
Conversion of restricted stock awards to

restricted stock unit (200,001) — — — — — —
Change in fair market value of derivative

instruments, net of ta — — — — (28) — (28)
BALANCE, September 30, 20C 18,424,48 19 178,83( 85,54« — (15,81()  248,58:
Net loss — — — (76,779 — — (76,772)
Shares issued under employee stock purc

plan 198,29¢ — 63C — — — 63C
Shares issued upon vesting of equity aw. 45,407 — 74 — — — 74
Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt 20,55¢ — 62 — — — 62
Issuance of common sto 2,990,00! 3 19,61 — — — 19,61«
Stock-based compensatic 27,01: — 5,56¢ — — — 5,56¢
BALANCE, September 30, 20C 21,705,75 $ 22 $204,77: $ 8,77 $ — $(15,810 $ 197,75t

See accompanying notes.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Amounts in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to @shcprovided by (used in) operati
activities:
Goodwill and intangible asset impairme
Depreciation and amortizatic
Deferred income tax provision (bene
Loss (gain) on sale of property and equipn
Gain on involuntary conversion of property and equént
Stock-based compensation expel
Tax benefits of options exercis
Loss on extinguishment of de
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic
(Increase) decrease—
Accounts receivable, n
Income tax receivabl
Inventories, ne
Prepaid expenses and other as
Increase (decrease)—
Accounts payabl
Customer deposi
Accrued expense
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipm
Net cash used in acquisitions of businesses, setgsind intangible ass
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn
Proceeds from involuntary conversion of propertgt aquipmen
Net cash used in investing activiti
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayments of lor-term debi
Net (repayments) borrowings on st-term borrowings
Purchases of treasury stc
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic
Debt modification cost
Net proceeds from issuance of common s
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock und#ropnd employee purchase
plans
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENS:
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of peric
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of perio

See accompanying notes.
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For the Year Ended September 3C

2007 2008 2009
$20,06¢ $(134,27) $ (76,775
— 122,09: —
9,35( 11,09( 10,96¢
(1,367 (6,309) 1,51
(1,030 25¢ (64)
(612) — —
7,307 8,46¢ 5,56¢
76¢ 227 —
— 16C 49z
(54€) (16€) —
25€ 28,40: (6,566)
— (6,749 (3,239
(15,197 9,41( 262,69!
1,179 2,63¢ 1,36:
(17,419 (16,749 11,36¢
16,25( (26,919 (1,629
3,33¢ (361) 3,40¢
19,99 (8,789  209,10:
(9,507 (7,969) (2,109
(4,84) — —
2,91¢ 112 24C
2,007 — —
(9,43) (7,857 (1,86
(6,359 (30,83 —
4,50( 46,000 (230,000
(7,212) (1,035) —
54¢ 16¢ —
— — (2,379
— — 19,61
3,21¢ 2,231 76€
(5,309 16,53: (211,999
5,267 (111) (4,756
25,11 30,37¢ 30,26+
$3037 $ 3026: $ 2550¢
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. COMPANY BACKGROUND AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION:

We are the largest recreational boat retailer énUhited States. We engage primarily in the restalié,
brokerage, and service of new and used boats, sdtailers, marine parts, and accessories and siffeand
storage accommodations in certain locations. Irtiadd we arrange related boat financing, insuraacel extended
service contracts. As of September 30, 2009, weabtge through 55 retail locations in 18 statessisiimg of
Alabama, Arizona, California, Colorado, Connectjdtibrida, Georgia, Maryland, Minnesota, Missoigw Jerse)
New York, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Rhodai®l, Tennessee, and Tex

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Sea Ragt@oWhaler, Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian recreatiboats
and yachts, all of which are manufactured by Bruokworporation (Brunswick). Sales of new Brunswimmkats
accounted for approximately 51% of our revenuadod 2009. Brunswick is the world’s largest martdiger of
marine products and marine engines. We believeepeesented approximately 6% of all Brunswick masakes,
including approximately 31% of its Sea Ray boa¢satiuring our 2009 fiscal year.

We have dealership agreements with Sea Ray, B¥gtaier, Cabo, Hatteras, Meridian, and Mercury Marin
all subsidiaries or divisions of Brunswick. We alsve dealer agreements with Azimut. These agreesnadow us
to purchase, stock, sell, and service these matwéas’ boats and products. These agreements ikdso s to use
these manufacturers’ names, trade symbols, anitertteal properties in our operations.

We are party to a muliiear dealer agreement with Brunswick covering Saafoducts that appoints us as
exclusive dealer of Sea Ray boats in our geographitkets. We are party to a dealer agreement vatkekas
Yachts that gives us the exclusive right to selitétas Yachts throughout the states of Floridal(ehweg the Floride
panhandle), New Jersey, New York, and Texas. Walaoethe exclusive dealer for Cabo Yachts througttoe
states of Florida, New Jersey, and New York throaglealer agreement. We are also the exclusiverdieallitaly-
based Azimut-Benetti Group’s product line Azimutctigs for the Northeast United States from Marylemiaine
and for the state of Florida through a multi-yeaaldr agreement. We believe the non-Brunswick lsraffer a
migration for our existing customer base or fill@d in our product offerings, and accordingly,mwt compete with
the business generated from our other prominemidsta

As is typical in the industry, we deal with manutaers, other than Sea Ray and Azimut Yachts, under
renewable annual dealer agreements, each of whiek gs the right to sell various makes and modt®ats
within a given geographic region. Any change omieation of these agreements, or the agreemertsssised
above, for any reason, or changes in competitagylatory, or marketing practices, including relatecentive
programs, could adversely affect our results ofatp@ns. Although there are a limited number of ofanturers of
the type of boats and products that we sell, webelthat adequate alternative sources would bigahlato replace
any manufacturer other than Brunswick as a prosioietce. These alternative sources may not be alad the
time of any interruption, and alternative produnisy not be available at comparable terms, whicldcaffiect
operating results adversely.

General economic conditions and consumer spenditigrps can negatively impact our operating results
Unfavorable local, regional, national, or globabeomic developments or uncertainties regardingréuéconomic
prospects could reduce consumer spending in thkatsawve serve and adversely affect our businessdfaic
conditions in areas in which we operate dealersipgsicularly Florida in which we generated 44%%\ and 45%
of our revenue during fiscal 2007, 2008, and 2088pectively, can have a major impact on our ofmaTst Local
influences, such as corporate downsizing and myjlitase closings, also could adversely affect parations in
certain markets.

In an economic downturn, consumer discretionaryndijmg levels generally decline, at times resulimg
disproportionately large reductions in the sal&ugtiry goods. Consumer spending on luxury goods miay declin
as a result of lower consumer confidence levelsnéaf/prevailing economic conditions are favorali#hough we
have expanded our operations during periods ofhatatgor modestly declining industry trends, thelicgt nature of
the recreational boating industry or the lack afustry growth could adversely affect our
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business, financial condition, or results of operet in the future. Any period of adverse econocainditions or lov
consumer confidence has a negative effect on asinbss.

Lower consumer spending resulting from a downtarthe housing market and other economic factors
adversely affected our business in fiscal 2007cmdinued weakness in consumer spending resultomg f
substantial weakness in the financial markets amerabrating economic conditions had a very suliisthmegative
effect on our business in fiscal 2008 and fisc&l20 hese conditions caused us to defer our atiguigirogram,
delay new store openings, reduce our inventorylmages, engage in inventory reduction efforts, chosee of our
retail locations, reduce our headcount, and amendredit facility. We cannot predict the lengthsaverity of thes
unfavorable economic or financial conditions or éxéent to which they will adversely affect our oatéeng results
nor can we predict the effectiveness of the measueshave taken to address this environment orheheidditiona
measures will be necessary.

In order to provide comparability between periodsspnted, certain amounts have been reclassified thie
previously reported consolidated financial stateisiém conform to the consolidated financial statethpeesentation
of the current period. The consolidated finandatesments include our accounts and the accourasrafubsidiarie
all of which are wholly owned. All significant imeompany transactions and accounts have been alietin

2. ACQUISITIONS:

We were incorporated in Delaware in January 199Bcammenced operations with the acquisition of five
independent recreational boat dealers on MarcB98.1Since the initial acquisitions, we have aceii20
recreational boat dealers, two boat brokerage tipasa and two full-service yacht repair facilitiess a part of our
acquisition strategy, we frequently engage in dismns with various recreational boat dealers déggrtheir
potential acquisition by us. Potential acquisitiiscussions frequently take place over a long pesfdime and
involve difficult business integration and othesuss, including, in some cases, management successl related
matters. As a result of these and other factonsinaber of potential acquisitions that from timeitoe appear likely
to occur do not result in binding legal agreemeamis are not consummated. We did not complete amyfisiant
acquisitions during the fiscal years ended Septerd®e2008 and 2009.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of the consolidated statements offtash, we consider all highly liquid investment#tvan
original maturity of three months or less to behcaguivalents.

We made interest payments of approximately $26l6omj $20.6 million, and $14.5 million for the &ial years
ended September 30, 2007, 2008, and 2009, respciincluding interest on debt to finance our resthte
holdings and inventory. We made income tax paymehépproximately $26.0 million and $2.6 millionrfihe
fiscal years ended September 30, 2007 and 20(8:¢treely. No income tax payments have been madihéo
fiscal year ended September 30, 2009.

Vendor Consideration Received

We account for consideration received from our weadn accordance with FASB Accounting Standards
Codification 605, “Revenue Recognition, Customeyriants and Incentives” (ASC 605), previously reddrto as
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 02-16, “Actiogiy a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certa
Consideration Received from a Vendor.” ASC 605 nsigatificantly requires us to classify interestistssice
received from manufacturers as a reduction of itorgrcost and related cost of sales as opposedttmg the
assistance against our interest expense incurithdowr lenders. Pursuant to ASC 605, amounts reddiy us undt
our co-op assistance programs from our manufactamer netted against related advertising expenses.

F-9




Table of Contents

MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Inventories

Inventory costs consist of the amount paid to aeghie inventory, net of vendor consideration anctpase
discounts, the cost of equipment added, recondlitipoosts, and transportation costs relating taigicgy inventory
for sale. We state new boat, motor, and traileeimuries at the lower of cost, determined on aiipeidentification
basis, or market. We state used boat, motor, aildrtinventories, including trade-in’s, at the lemof cost,
determined on a specific-identification basis, @rket. We state parts and accessories at the loiveaist,
determined on an average cost basis, or markettifiZ= our historical experience, the aging of iimgentories, an
our consideration of current market trends as #séstfor determining lower of cost or market valaallowance.
As of September 30, 2008 and 2009, our lower of aomarket valuation allowance was $5.1 millioman
$17.7 million, respectively. During the fiscal 20@@ incurred losses and increased reserves faceeg losses
associated with market declines in brands we ngdoparry by approximately $12.6 million. If evewiscur and
market conditions change, causing the fair valualtdelow carrying value, the lower of cost ornket valuation
allowance could increase.

Property and Equipment

We record property and equipment at cost, net afimalated depreciation, and depreciate property and
equipment over their estimated useful lives usirgdtraight-line method. We capitalize and amotgasehold
improvements over the lesser of the life of thesdear the estimated useful life of the asset. Udieks for purpose
of computing depreciation are as follows:

Years
Buildings and improvemen 5-40
Machinery and equipme 3-10
Furniture and fixture 5-10
Vehicles 35

We remove the cost of property and equipment solétired and the related accumulated deprecidtam the
accounts at the time of disposition and include r@sylting gain or loss in the consolidated statesief operations
We charge maintenance, repairs, and minor replatsni@ operations as incurred; and we capitalizeaanortize
major replacements and improvements over theiubteés.

Valuation of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We account for goodwill and identifiable intangilalesets in accordance with FASB Accounting Stargdard
Codification 350, “Intangibles — Goodwill and Oth¢ ASC 350), previously referred to as Statemerfiofncial
Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Otheahgible Assets.” Under this standard, we as$ess t
impairment of goodwill and identifiable intangitdssets at least annually and whenever events ngeklan
circumstances indicate that the carrying value nybe recoverable. The first step in the assessinémne
estimation of fair value. If step one indicates fih@airment potentially exists, we perform the@®t step to
measure the amount of impairment, if any. Goodawilll identifiable intangible asset impairment exigten the
estimated fair value is less than its carrying galu

During the three months ended June 30, 2008, werxzed a significant decline in market valuatioiven
primarily by weakness in the marine retail indugtnd an overall soft economy, which hindered auaicial
performance. Accordingly, we completed a step orayais (as noted above) and estimated the fairevad the
reporting unit as prescribed by ASC 350, whichéatiéd potential impairment. As a result, we congulet fair
value analysis of indefinite lived intangible assahd a step two goodwill impairment analysis,eagiired by
ASC 350. We determined that indefinite lived intdnhg assets and goodwill were impaired and recoededn-cash
charge of $121.1 million based on our assessmeatwil/ not be required to make any current or fataash
expenditures as a result of this impairment charge.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

FASB Accounting Standards Codification 360-10-4@xdperty, Plant, and Equipment, Impairment of D&sdo
of Long-Lived Assets” (ASC 360-10-40), previoussferred to as Statement of Financial Accountingn&ads
No. 144 “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lidé\ssets,” requires that long-lived assets, such as
property and equipment and purchased intangiblgigsito amortization, be reviewed for impairmetienever
events or changes in circumstances indicate tleatdtrying amount of an asset may not be recowerabl
Recoverability of the asset is measured by compauds its carrying amount to undiscounted futureazesh flows
the asset is expected to generate. If such ageetomasidered to be impaired, the impairment teebegnized is
measured as the amount by which the carrying amafithe asset exceeds its fair market value. Eséisnaf
expected future cash flows represent our best attitmased on currently available information arsdoaable and
supportable assumptions. Any impairment recognizedcordance with ASC 360-10-40 is permanent aay mot
be restored. As of September 30, 2009, we hadeognized any impairment of long-lived assets imeeztion
with ASC 360-10-40 based on our reviews.

Customer Deposits

Customer deposits primarily include amounts reakivem customers toward the purchase of boats. We
recognize these deposits as revenue upon delivegoeptance of the related boats to customers.

Insurance

We retain varying levels of risk relating to theumance policies we maintain, most significantlyrkeos’
compensation insurance and employee medical bendfit are responsible for the claims and lossesriad under
these programs, limited by per occurrence dedwsibhd paid claims or losses up to pre-determireedmum
exposure limits. Our third-party insurance carrigaly any losses above the pre-determined expastits./We
estimate our liability for incurred but not repatt®sses using our historical loss experiencejumgment, and
industry information.

Derivative Instruments

We account for derivative instruments in accordamite FASB Accounting Standards Codification 815,
“Derivatives and Hedging” (ASC 815), previouslyegkd to as Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative lnstrents and Certain Hedging Activities,” Statemdrfinancial
Accounting Standards No. 138, “Accounting for Cierfaerivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Aityivan
Amendment of SFAS 133" and Statement of Financ@lcunting Standards No. 149, “Amendment of Statemen
133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging ActiwtidJnder these standards, all derivative instruhane
recorded on the balance sheet at their respecivgdiues.

We utilize certain derivative instruments, from éito time, including interest rate swaps and foda@mtracts,
to manage variability in cash flows associated witkrest rates and forecasted purchases of bodtgahts from
certain of our foreign suppliers in euros. At Segter 30, 2008 and 2009, no such instruments westamaling.

When utilized we designate and account for our éodicontracts and interest rate swaps as cashhitolges
(i.e., hedging the exposure to variability in exgeelcfuture cash flows that is attributable to aipalar risk).
ASC 815 provides that the effective portion of ¢faén or loss on a derivative instrument designatediqualifying
as a cash flow hedging instrument must be rep@sesl component of other comprehensive income asd lmeu
reclassified into earnings in the same line iterthinincome statement as the hedged item in the gamod or
periods during which the transaction affects easiiWe recognize the ineffective portion of thengai loss on
these derivative instruments, if any, in other medexpense in current earnings during the periathahge.
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For derivative instruments not designated as hegigistruments, we recognize the gain or loss iemth
income/expense in current earnings during the desfachange. When a cash flow hedge is terminaftéuk
forecasted hedged transaction is still probablecofirrence, amounts previously recorded in othermprehensive
income remain in other comprehensive income andeg@gnized in earnings in the period in whichhkedged
transaction affects earnings.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from boat, motor, and tradéées and parts and service operations at thethienleoat,
motor, trailer, or part is delivered to or acceptgdhe customer or service is completed. We reizegrommissions
earned from a brokerage sale at the time the telatekerage transaction closes. We recognize reviom slip
and storage services on a straight-line basis ttreeterm of the slip or storage agreement. We meizeg
commissions earned by us for placing notes withrfaial institutions in connection with customer tiir@ancing
when we recognize the related boat sales. We ré&zogmarketing fees earned on credit life, accidernt disability,
and hull insurance products sold by third-partyasice companies at the later of customer acceptibe
insurance product as evidenced by contract exectotiovhen we recognize the related boat sale. Botga
negotiated agreements with financial and insuramst#utions, we are charged back for a portiothese fees
should the customer terminate or default on thetedl finance or insurance contract before it istamiding for a
stipulated minimal period of time. We base the gbhack allowance, which was not material to thesobdated
financial statements taken as a whole as of See8®) 2008 or 2009, on our experience with repaymer
defaults on the related finance or insurance cotdra

We also recognize commissions earned on extendadiya service contracts sold on behalf of thirdbpa
insurance companies at the later of customer aggeptof the service contract terms as evidencexmbiyact
execution or recognition of the related boat sale.are charged back for a portion of these comomnssshould the
customer terminate or default on the service cehpsdor to its scheduled maturity. We determine ¢thargeback
allowance, which was not material to the consofiddinancial statements taken as a whole as oke8dr 30,
2008 or 2009, based upon our experience with repatsror defaults on the service contracts.

The following table sets forth percentages of @venue generated by certain products and serdaesach of
last three years.

2007 2008 2009

New boat sale 68.2% 63.2% 60.7%
Used boat sale 18.6% 20.5% 22.52%
Maintenance and repair servic 5% 6.6 7.%
Finance and insurance produ 3.6% 3% 2.™%
Parts and accessori 32% 44% 5.(%
Brokerage service 1.2% 14% 1.2%
Total Revenus 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective October 1, 2005, we adopted the provisiohFASB Accounting Standards Codification 718,
“Compensation — Stock Compensation” (ASC 718), jmnesly referred to as Statement of Financial Acctimgn
Standards No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” fosbare-based compensation plans. We adopted ASGsMig
the modified prospective transition method. Undiés transition method, compensation cost recognizelddes
(a) the compensation cost for all shhesed awards granted prior to, but not yet vestedf October 1, 2005, bas
on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordavith the original provisions of ASC 718 and (bt
compensation cost for all share-based awards grautesequent to September 30, 2005, based onghtdate
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fair value estimated in accordance with the prawisiof ASC 718. Additionally, we accounted for ries¢d stock
awards granted using the measurement and recagpitvisions of ASC 718. We measure the fair valighe
restricted stock awards on the grant date and rézeghem in earnings over the requisite servigmgdor each
separately vesting portion of the award.

Advertising and Promotional Costs

We expense advertising and promotional costs asried and include them in selling, general, and
administrative expenses in the accompanying catesteld statements of operations. Pursuant to AS&060be net
amounts received by us under our co-op assistaiegegms from our manufacturers against the relatkertising
expenses. Total advertising and promotional exmeapproximated $19.6 million, $19.3 million, and4nillion,
net of related co-op assistance of approximatel #iillion, $700,000, and $526,000, for the fisgahrs ended
September 30, 2007, 2008, and 2009, respectively.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with FA8Bounting Standards Codification 740, “Income
Taxes” (ASC 740), previously referred to as Statenoé Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Aaating for
Income Taxes,” and Financial Accounting StandardrBdnterpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncentiin
Income Taxes.” Under ASC 740, we recognize defetawdissets and liabilities for the future tax eapsences
attributable to temporary differences between tharicial statement carrying amounts of existinggssand
liabilities and their respective tax basis. We nueasleferred tax assets and liabilities using emhiEx rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the yeawshith we expect those temporary differences toebevered or
settled. We record valuation allowances to reduredeferred tax assets to the amount expected ttedhieed by
considering all available positive and negativedeuce.

Pursuant to ASC 740, we must consider all posaive negative evidence regarding the realizatiatteférred
tax assets, including past operating results anotdisources of taxable income. Under the provssif
ASC 740-10, we determined that our net deferredatmmet needed to be fully reserved given recentregr and
industry trends.

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@@ssued Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), Accongtfor
Uncertainty in Income Taxes, also included in ASID.7The Interpretation clarifies the accountingdacertainty ir
income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s findistédements and prescribes a recognition thresirodd
measurement attributes of income tax positionsitakesxpected to be taken on a tax return. Under48, the
impact of an uncertain tax position taken or expetd be taken on an income tax return must begrezed in the
financial statements at the largest amount thatoge-likely-than-not to be sustained upon audith®yrelevant
taxing authority. An uncertain income tax positigii not be recognized in the financial statemamttess it is more
likely than not of being sustained.

See Note 22 — “Subsequent Events” for the disclwseigarding a tax law enacted after the balancet slage
and prior to the issuance of the financial stateémen

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Stash&lBoard issued FASB Accounting Standards Codifinat
820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” (82G), previously referred to as Statement of Firan
Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measumsné& ASC 820 defines fair value, applies to othecounting
pronouncements that require or permit fair valuasneements and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. ASC 820 is effective for fiscal ybaginning after November 15, 2007 and interimguésiwithin
those fiscal years. The adoption ASC 820 did nuelmmaterial impact on our consolidated finansiatements.
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In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standd&dard issued FASB Accounting Standards Codificati
825, “Financial Instruments” (ASC 825), previoustferred to as Statement of Financial Accountiran8ards
No. 159,“Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Finahdiiabilities,” which permits an entity to measure
certain financial assets and financial liabilitegair value. ASC 825 is effective for fiscal yedneginning after
November 15, 2007. The adoption ASC 825 did nottewmaterial impact on our consolidated finandatesnents

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Stansl&ulard issued FASB Accounting Standards Codificati
805, “Business Combinations” (ASC 805), previouglferred to as Statement of Financial Accountirap8ards
No. 141R“Business Combinations.” ASC 805 will require, argasther things, the expensing of direct transaction
costs, in process research and development togditaltzed, certain contingent assets and liabditie be recognized
at fair value and earn-out arrangements may bdreghjito be measured at fair value recognized eadbgin
earnings. In addition, certain material adjustmevilisbe required to be made to purchase accourdiriges at the
initial acquisition date and will cause revisiongtreviously issued financial information in subseuqt filings. ASC
805 is effective for transactions occurring aftex beginning of the first annual reporting periegjinning on or
after December 15, 2008 and may have a materiadétgn our consolidated financial position, resfrtien
operations and cash flows should we enter into emahbusiness combination after the standardscgffe date.

In March 2008, the Financial Accounting Standardaf8 issued FASB Accounting Standards
Codification 815, “Derivatives and Hedging” (ASCH1previously referred to as Statement of Findncia
Accounting Standards No. 161, “Disclosures aboutvaéve Instruments and Hedging Activities — An
Amendment to SFAS 133" (SFAS 161). SFAS 161 appéiesl| derivative instruments accounted for undiscC
815 and requires entities to provide greater trarespcy on how and why entities use derivative imsgnts, how
derivative instruments are accounted for under 8%E, and the effect the derivative instruments maye on the
results of operations and cash flows. ASC 815fecafe for fiscal years and interim periods begignafter
November 15, 2008. Since ASC 815 only applies $aldsures it has not had a material impact on onsalidatec
financial position, results from operations, andrclows.

In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@éssued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 167, “Amendments to FASB Interpretaio. 46(R)” (SFAS 167). SFAS 167, addresses fiieets
of eliminating the qualifying special-purpose enfQSPE) concept from Statement of Financial Actiogn
Standards No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and/i8img of Financial Assets and Extinguishments.iadilities”
and addresses certain key provisions of FIN 46(R)uding transparency of enterprises’ involvemeith variable
interest entities (VIES). SFAS 167 is effective fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2009iatefim
periods within those fiscal years. We are curreasigessing the implications of this standard amatuating the
impact of adopting SFAS 167 on our consolidatedrfmal statements.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subjectaigoncentrations of credit risk, consist prindipaf cash
and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. @tyatiens of credit risk with respect to our casd aash
equivalents are limited primarily to amounts helthvfinancial institutions. Concentrations of cried$k arising
from our receivables are limited primarily to amtaudue from manufacturers and financial institusion

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of our financial instrumentpragimates fair value due either to length to mitwor
existence of interest rates that approximate pliegainarket rates unless otherwise disclosed isdtwmnsolidated
financial statements.
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Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial statesé@ntonformity with accounting principles geneyall
accepted in the United States requires us to mstkaaes and assumptions that affect the reportexiiats of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingessets and liabilities at the date of the conatdidl financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenuexgahses during the reporting periods. Signifiestimates
made by us in the accompanying consolidated fimdustatements relate to valuation allowances, tianaf long-
lived assets, and valuation of accruals. Actualltesould differ materially from those estimatéée have evaluate
subsequent events for recognition or disclosuraufin December 14, 2009, the date which we filesl thi
Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Comroissi

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE:

Trade receivables consist primarily of receivalitem financial institutions, which provide fundirfigr
customer boat financing and amounts due from fiiguestitutions earned from arranging financinghwour
customers. We normally collect these receivablelsimBO0 days of the sale. Trade receivables alslodi® amounts
due from customers on the sale of boats, partgiceeiand storage. Amounts due from manufactuegeesent
receivables for various manufacturer programs amts@nd service work performed pursuant to theufeaturers’
warranties.

The allowance for uncollectible receivables, whigs not material to the consolidated financialestetnts as
of September 30, 2008 or 2009, was based on owid=Eration of customer payment practices, passaetion
history with customers, and economic conditionseWhn account becomes uncollectable, we expenseaibad
debt and we credit payments subsequently recetvétbtbad debt expense account. We review the afiog/for
uncollectible receivables when an event or othangke in circumstances results in a change in tiraae of the
ultimate collectability of a specific account.

The accounts receivable balances consisted obtlusving at September 30,

2008 2009
(Amounts in thousands)
Trade receivable $10,40¢ $11,59¢
Amounts due from manufacture 18,34: 23,50!
Other receivable 18C 39¢

$28,93: $35,49:

5. INVENTORIES:

Inventories, net consisted of the following at epver 30,

2008 2009
(Amounts in thousands)
New boats, motors, and traile $386,99: $160,30:
Used boats, motors, and trail 72,627 39,11:
Parts, accessories, and ot 9,00¢ 6,51¢

$468,62¢  $205,93:
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6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:

Property and equipment consisted of the followin§eptember 30,

2008 2009

(Amounts in thousands)
Land $ 42,16(C $ 40,41(
Buildings and improvemen 79,641 76,411
Machinery and equipme 29,54( 28,00z
Furniture and fixture 5,80¢ 4,98
Vehicles 6,86: 5,711

164,01: 155,52:
Less— Accumulated depreciation and Amortizati (50,149 (53,206)

$113,86¢ $102,31¢

Depreciation and amortization expense on propertyeuipment totaled approximately $9.5 million,
$10.9 million, and $10.4 million for the fiscal yeeended September 30, 2007, 2008, and 2009, tesgec

During fiscal 2008 and 2009, we closed certain awetail locations in an effort to better match &xed costs
with the decline in retail business caused by tfeeconomic conditions. Accordingly, we enteretbiplans to
market and sell certain locations we have exited.assessed our plans to sell certain locationsthétleriteria
identified in FASB Accounting Standards Codificati®60, “Property, Plant, and EquipmemSC 360), previousl
referred to as Statement of Financial Accountirapn8ards No. 144, “Accounting for Impairment or Qispl of
Long-Lived Assets,” and determined the locationsudth be classified as available for sale. As oftSeyber 30,
2008 and 2009, we have reclassified $1.8 millioth $4.8 million, respectively, from property and gument to
prepaid expenses and other current assets withiodhsolidated balance sheets.

7. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS:

The changes in the carrying amounts of net goodwill identifiable intangible assets for the fisezdrs ended
September 30, were as follows:

Identifiable
Intangible
Goodwill Assets Total
(Amounts in thousands)

Balance, September 30, 2C $97,44¢ $ 23,72¢ $121,17:
Changes during the peri (97,446 (23,729 (121,174
Balance, September 30, 2C — — —
Changes during the peri — — —
Balance, September 30, 20 $ — % — 3 —

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 200&xperienced a significant decline in market vatrat
driven primarily by weakness in the marine retadlustry and an overall soft economy, which advgraéiected ou
financial performance. As a result, we completdgiravalue analysis of indefinite lived intangildssets and a step
two goodwill impairment analysis, as required by@QAS650. We determined that indefinite lived intafgilssets ar
goodwill were impaired and recorded a non-cashgghaf $121.1 million based on our assessment. Waetibe
required to make any current or future cash expereti as a result of this impairment charge.
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8. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS:

During February 2006, we became party to a joimtwes with Brunswick that acquired certain reabesand
assets of Great American Marina for an aggregatehpise price of approximately $11.0 million, of wliniwe
contributed approximately $4.0 million and Brunskveontributed approximately $7.0 million. The terofshe
agreement specify that we operate and maintaisghgce business and that Brunswick operate andtaiaithe
marina business. Simultaneously with the closihg,acquired entity became Gulfport Marina, LLC (@ait). We
account for our investment in Gulfport in accordaméth Financial Accounting Standards Board Accmgt
Standards Caodification 323, “Investment — Equityth and Joint Venture” (ASC 323), previously rederto as
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 18, “Theuity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common
Stock.” Accordingly, we adjust the carrying amoohbur investment in Gulfport to recognize our haf earnings
or losses.

During the three months ended June 30, 2008, werexed a significant decline in market valuatioiven
primarily by weakness in the marine retail indugtnd an overall soft economy, which adversely aég@our
financial performance. As a result of this weaknessrealized a goodwill and intangible asset impant charge,
as noted above. Based on these events, we revibeesluation of our investment in Gulfport in amtance with
ASC 323 and recoverability of the assets contawi¢itin the joint venture. ASC 323 requires the igruition of a
loss in value of an investment, which is other taaamporary decline. We reviewed our investmedtassets
contained within the Gulfport joint venture, whicbnsists of land, buildings, equipment, and goddw# a result,
we determined that our investment in the joint vemtvas impaired and recorded a non-cash char§g.@fmillion
based on our assessment. We will not be requirethtee any current or future cash expendituresrasudt of this
impairment charge.

9. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITY:

During fiscal 2006, we entered into an interest Rvap agreement with a notional amount of $4.0anjl
which was designated as a cash flow hedge, andtiety converted a portion of the floating ratédt a fixed
rate of 5.67%. At September 30, 2007, the swapeageeat had a fair value of approximately $45,000ctvivas
recorded in other long-term assets on the congelidaalance sheets.

During fiscal 2008, we entered into six interesé rewap agreements with a total notional amount of
approximately $23.2 million, which were designassdcash flow hedges that effectively convertedréigroof the
floating rate debt to fixed rates ranging from 4@& 4.87%. During fiscal 2008, we prepaid the taunding
balances of our long-term debt. With this prepaytyibre swaps were terminated and the pretax faiketaalue of
the swaps of approximately $550,000 was reclaskifan accumulated other comprehensive income and
recognized as income in the statements of opegation

During fiscal 2009, we have not entered into argriest rate swaps or currency hedging activity.

10. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS:

During fiscal 2008, we maintained our second ameérathel restated credit and security agreement,ezhieto
during June 2006. The credit facility provided Uga of credit with asset-based borrowing avallgbof up to
$500 million for working capital and inventory fineing, with the amount of permissible borrowingsedmined
pursuant to a borrowing base formula. The creditifg accrued interest at the London Interbanke®dfl Rate
(LIBOR) plus 150 to 260 basis points, with the et rate was based upon the ratio of our netandsig
borrowings to our tangible net worth. The creddility was secured by our inventory, accounts remigle,
equipment, furniture, and fixtures. The credit liacrequired us to satisfy certain covenants, udahg maintaining
leverage ratio tied to our tangible net worth.

During fiscal 2009, we maintained our second ameraaiel restated credit and security agreement, widsh
been amended on various occasions since its orighegution in June 2006. As amended, our credilitia
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provides for a line of credit with asdeised borrowing availability up to approximately8@2nillion, stepping dow
to $175 million by September 30, 2010, with intedetreases between such dates. The amended fhadityertain
financial covenants as specified in the agreendéré.covenants include provisions that our leveratje not
exceed 2.75 to 1; that our current ratio must leatgr than 1.25 to 1 or 1.20 to 1 depending otirthe of year; and
that our maximum EBITDA loss and annual EBITDA, libas defined in the agreement, comply with certain
thresholds as described below. The EBITDA covenaires that we do not exceed the allowable cutivela
negative EBITDA, as defined in the agreement, lierfirst nine months of fiscal 2010, which is $2®Blion as of
December 31, 2009 and March 31, 2010 and $15 mil®of June 30, 2010. We are required to haveraletive
EBITDA greater than or equal to our interest expefias the fiscal year ending September 30, 2010TEB, as
defined in the agreement, is our earnings befdexest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization @luadd back for
stock-based compensation expense and 50% of tkhequs of our September 2009 stock offering or agpmrately
$10 million. The amended facility provides for aiahle interest rate margin of LIBOR plus 490 bamimts
through September 30, 2010 and thereafter at LIBOR 150 to 400 basis points, depending upon oantiial and
operating performance. We paid the lenders apprabein $2.4 million in amendment fees during fis2@09. The
amended facility matures in May 2011, but incluties one-year renewal options, subject to lenderag.

As of September 30, 2008 and 2009, we owed an gggref $372 million and $142 million, respectively
under our credit facility and were in compliancehaall of the credit facility covenants. Advanceslar the facility
accrued interest at a rate of 4.0% and 5.2% agptetber 30, 2008 and 2009, respectively. As ofedaper 30,
2009, the facility provided us with an additionariowing availability of approximately $60 million.

As is common in our industry, we receive interestistance directly from boat manufacturers, incigdi
Brunswick. The interest assistance programs vampagufacturer and generally include periods of fiegncing or
reduced interest rate programs. The interest assistmay be paid directly to us or our lenders niéipg on the
arrangements the manufacturer has established|as&fy interest assistance received from manufactias a
reduction of inventory cost and related cost oésas opposed to netting the assistance againsttergst expense
incurred with our lenders.

The availability and costs of borrowed funds caveasiely affect our ability to obtain adequate bhoséntory
and the holding costs of that inventory as welhesability and willingness of our customers taafice boat
purchases. As of September 30, 2009, we had netengdebt. However, we rely on our credit facililypurchase
our inventory of boats. Our ability to borrow unaer credit facility depends on our continuing &isfy our
covenants and other obligations under our crediliia The aging of our inventory limits our bokming capacity a
defined curtailments reduce the allowable advaateas our inventory ages. Our access to funds underedit
facility also depends upon the ability of the batiiat are parties to that facility to meet theinding commitments,
particularly if they experience shortages of cdmiteexperience excessive volumes of borrowing estgifrom
others during a short period of time. A continuatid depressed economic conditions, weak consupgrng,
turmoil in the credit markets, and lender difficedt could interfere with our ability to utilize tlveedit facility to
fund our operations. Any inability to utilize ouredlit facility resulting from a covenant violationsufficient
collateral, or lender difficulties could require tasseek other sources of funding to repay amaooutistanding under
the credit agreement or replace or supplementmagitcagreement, which may not be possible atralinaler
commercially reasonable terms.

Similarly, the decreases in the availability ofdit@nd increases in the cost of credit adversiécathe ability
of our customers to purchase boats from us anehbleadversely affects our ability to sell our pro@duand impact
the profitability of our finance and insurance waitiies. Tight credit conditions during fiscal 20@6éversely affected
the ability of customers to finance boat purchagésch had a negative affect on our operating tesul
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11. LONG-TERM DEBT:

As of fiscal 2009, we had no long-term debt. Dutting fiscal year ended September 30, 2008, we joregla
outstanding mortgages and accelerated the amaotizaft the associated loan costs in the amounppfaimately
$160,000.

12. INCOME TAXES:

The components of our provision for income taxessisied of the following for the fiscal years ended
September 30,

2007 2008 2009
(Amounts in thousands)

Current provision (benefit

Federa $10,377  $(12,77¢ $(10,00¢)

State (1,524 (82 (139)

Total current provision (benefi 8,85: (12,85%) (10,149
Deferred provision (benefit

Federa (1,243 (5,726 1,38C

State (129 (577 138
Total deferred provision (benef (1,367 (6,309 1,51:
Total income tax provision (benef $ 7,48¢  $(19,16) $ (8,630

Below is a reconciliation of the statutory fedérelome tax rate to our effective tax rate for tisedl years
ended September 30,

2007 2008 2009

Federal tax provisio 35.(% (35.0% (35.0%
State taxes, net of federal effi 2.2% (4.9% (4.0%
State income tax settleme 13.90% — —
Stock based compensati 21% 0.3% 0.4%
Valuation allowanct 1.5% 25.5% 29.5%
Other 0.9% 1.1% (1.0%
Effective tax rate 27.2% (12.5% (10.1)%

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 200&etted certain tax positions under an initiatiered by
one of the states in which we conduct operatiossa Aesult of this settlement, we reduced our veskar continger
income tax liabilities by approximately $5.2 millioDue to the amount paid under the settlement;gtiection in
income tax expense was approximately $3.8 millartlie fiscal year ended September 30, 2007. Witthis!
reduction, the effective tax rate would have begraximately 40.9% for the year ended Septembe2G07.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of tempoditferences between the amount of assets ahiiities
recognized for financial reporting purposes ancdhsarmounts recognized for income tax purposes. &effects of
these temporary differences representing the coamsrof deferred tax assets (liabilities) at Sepem30 were as
follows:

2008 2009
(Amounts in thousands)

Current deferred tax asse

Inventories $ 3,228 $ 5,16¢
Accrued expense 2,91t 4,092
Current deferred tax asst 6,14( 9,262
Valuation Allowance (5,837 (9,267)
Net current deferred tax ass $ 307 % —

Long-term deferred tax asse
Depreciation and amortizatic $24,48: $21,39:
Stock based compensati 6,582 6,01(
FIN 48 deferred tax ass 634 58¢
Tax loss carryforward 3,33( 23,49
Other 88 111
Long-term deferred tax asse 35,117 51,597
Valuation allowanct (33,91) (51,599
Net lon¢-term deferred tax asse $ 1,206 $ —

Pursuant to ASC 740, we must consider all posaive negative evidence regarding the realizatiatteférred
tax assets, including past operating results attdisources of taxable income. Under the provs@mASC 740,
we determined that the entire net deferred taxt assgled to be reserved given recent earningsnaludtry trends.
The total valuation allowance at September 30, 20@82009 was $60.9 million and $39.7 million, exspely.

We have adopted the provisions of FIN 48, now udde€ 740. Under ASC 740, the impact of an unceitizt
position taken or expected to be taken on an indaxeeturn must be recognized in the financiakestents at the
largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to bstained upon audit by the relevant taxing authoAn uncertain
income tax position will not be recognized in tiahcial statements unless it is more likely thahaf being
sustained. On October 1, 2007, we recognized gehafr$554,000 to retained earnings as a restitteoddoption ¢
FIN 48. As of September 30, 2008 and 2009, we ppdoximately $2.1 million and $1.9 million, respigety, of
gross unrecognized tax benefits, of which approiafyebl.4 million and $1.3 million, respectivelyrecognized,
would impact the effective tax rate.

The reconciliation of the total amount recordeduorecognized tax benefits at the beginning andoéice
fiscal years ended September 30, 2008 and 20G9fdlaws:

2008 2009

(Amounts in thousands)

Unrecognized tax benefits at the beginning of thar $2,24: $2,064
Increases in tax positions for prior ye 81 69
Decreases in tax positions for prior ye (200 (62
Lapse of statute of limitatior (159 a7y
Unrecognized tax benefits at September $2,06¢ $1,89/
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Consistent with our prior practices, we recogniteriest and penalties related to uncertain taxipasias a
component of income tax expense. As of Septemhe2@, interest and penalties represented appatiyn
$660,000 of the gross unrecognized tax benefiterd have been no significant changes to the balsfnoterest
and penalties subsequent to adoption.

Since inception, we have been subject to tax bly festeral and state taxing authorities. Until tbepective
statutes of limitations expire, we are subjecnimme tax audits in the jurisdictions in which weemte. We are no
longer subject to U.S. federal tax examinationdifmal years prior to 2006, and we are not sulietudits prior to
the 2005 fiscal year for the majority of the statisdictions.

It is reasonably possible that a change to the aot@unt of unrecognized tax benefits could ocouhe next
12 months based on examinations by tax authorttiesexpiration of statutes of limitations, or putal settlements
of outstanding positions. It is not possible tareate a range of the possible changes at this tifoeiever, we do
not expect the change to be significant to thea/balance of unrecognized tax benefits.

13. STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY:

In November 2005, our Board of Directors approvethare repurchase plan allowing our company to
repurchase up to 1,000,000 shares of our commek.dttmder the plan, we may buy back common stomfftime
to time in the open market or in privately negatihblocks, dependant upon various factors, inctughice and
availability of the shares, and general market @¢@rs. Through September 30, 2009, we had purchase
aggregate of 790,900 shares of common stock uhdgrlan for an aggregate purchase price of appwateim
$15.8 million.

In September 2009, we completed a public offerihg, 890,000 shares of common stock at a priced@tiblic
of $7.00 per share for total gross proceeds of#0N00 million. The net proceeds of the offeringrevused to
reduce our short-term borrowings and general catpgrurposes.

14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION:

In accordance with ASC 718, we use the Black-Schedduation model for valuing all stock-based
compensation and shares granted under the ESPReaA&Ire compensation for restricted stock awards an
restricted stock units at fair value on the gratedased on the number of shares expected tangshe quoted
market price of our common stock. We recognize camsption cost for all awards in earnings, net tfreged
forfeitures, on a straight-line basis over the isitgiservice period for each separately vestimtiqro of the award.

Cash received from option exercises under all shased compensation arrangements for the fiscas yaate
September 30, 2007, 2008, and 2009 was approxiynbde2 million, $2.2 million, and $766,000, respeely. Tax
benefits realized for tax deductions from optioereises for the fiscal years ended September 3, 20d 2008
was approximately $769,000 and $223,000, respéytiVaere were no tax benefits realized for taxwudgins from
option exercises for the fiscal year ended Septe®3®e2009. We currently expect to satisfy shareedaawards
with registered shares available to be issued.

15. THE INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS:

During February 2007, our stockholders approverbagsal to approve our 2007 Incentive Compensdlan
(2007 Plan), which replaced our 1998 Incentive E@lan (1998 Plan). Our 2007 Plan provides forgtant of
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restdatock, stock units, bonus stock, dividend eqeived, other stock
related awards, and performance awards (collegtawehrds), that may be settled in cash, stockirmrqroperty.
Our 2007 Plan is designed to attract, motivataimeaind reward our executives, employees, offjairectors, and
independent contractors by providing such persdtisamnual and longerm performance incentives to expend 1
maximum efforts in the creation of stockholder \llihe total number of shares of our common stoakrhay be
subject to awards under the 2007 Plan is equal@0]000 shares, plus (i) any shares
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available for issuance and not subject to an awad#r the 1998 Plan, (ii) the number of shares véfipect to
which awards granted under the 2007 Plan and tB8 B8an terminate without the issuance of the sharavhere
the shares are forfeited or repurchased; (iii) wétspect to awards granted under the 2007 PlathentP98 Plan,
the number of shares that are not issued as & cdshk award being settled for cash or otherwiseissued in
connection with the exercise or payment of the anand (iv) the number of shares that are surrextler withheld
in payment of the exercise price of any award grtar withholding requirements in connection wittyaward
granted under the 2007 Plan and the 1998 Plan20@@ Plan terminates in February 2017, and awagyslra
granted at any time during the life of the 2007PTEhe Board of Directors or the Plan Administratetermines the
date on which awards vest. The Board of Directoith® Plan Administrator also determines the eserprices of
options which are at least equal to the fair maviatte of shares of common stock on the date aftgfidne term of
options under the 2007 Plan may not exceed tersy@&he options granted have varying vesting peribddate, w
have not settled or been under any obligation titeseny awards in cash.

The following table summarizes option activity fr@eptember 30, 2008 through September 30, 2009:

Weighted
Average
Shares Aggregate Remaining
Available Options Intrinsic Weighted Average Contractual
for Grant  Outstanding Value Exercise Price Life
(In thousands]
Balance at September 30, 2( 1,215,000 1,740,12i $ — $ 18.41 5.1
Options grante: (1,195,70) 1,195,701 $ 2.9¢
Options cancelled/forfeited/expir 920,08 (920,08() $ 16.1¢
Restricted stock units issu (20,000 —
Restricted stock units cancell 99,04 —
Options exercise (20,554 (20,559 $ 3.01
Balance at September 30, 2( 1,007,87! 1,995,119 $ 517 $ 10.37 7.C
Exercisable at September 30, 2( 927,81¢ $ 1,165 $ 13.17 54

The weightedaverage grant date fair value of options grantethduhe fiscal years ended September 30, 2
2008, and 2009 was $12.13, $6.12, and $1.75, régplyc The total intrinsic value of options exesed during the
fiscal years ended September 30, 2007, 2008, ab@l ®8s approximately $2.0 million, $541,000, and,$60,
respectively.

As of September 30, 2008 and 2009, there was appataly $2.1 million and $1.2 million, respectivebf
unrecognized compensation costs related to noredegitions that is expected to be recognized ovarighted
average period of 2.5 years and 2.1 years, respéctiThe total fair value of options vested durthg fiscal years
ended September 30, 2007, 2008, and 2009 was aptieky $1.9 million, $2.1 million, and $1.2 miltio
respectively.

We continued using the Black-Scholes model to egtnthe fair value of options granted during fis2@09.
The expected term of options granted is derivethftioe output of the option pricing model and reprs the peric
of time that options granted are expected to bstantling. Volatility is based on the historicalatdlty of our
common stock. The risk-free rate for periods witlie contractual term of the options is based enils. Treasury
yield curve in effect at the time of gra
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The following are the weighted-average assumptiesl for the fiscal years ended September 30:

2007 2008 2009
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rat 4.6% 3.4% 2.2%
Volatility 42.7% 44.2% 63.4%
Expected life 6.5yearr 7.5year 6.0year

16. EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN (THE STOCK PURCHASE PL AN):

During February 2008, our stockholders approved2@®8 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (2008 Plan). The
2008 Plan provides for up to 500,000 shares of comstock to be available for purchase by our regetaployees
who have completed at least one year of contingengce. The 2008 Plan provides for implementatibap to 10
annual offerings beginning on the first day of Qeostarting in 2008, with each offering termington
September 30 of the following year. Each annuaraffy may be divided into two six-month offering@r each
offering, the purchase price per share will beltreer of (i) 85% of the closing price of the comm&tnck on the
first day of the offering or (ii) 85% of the clogjmprice of the common stock on the last day ofaffiering. The
purchase price is paid through periodic payrolldgins not to exceed 10% of the participant’s im@sduring
each offering period. However, no participant maychase more than $25,000 worth of common stockahn

During 2009, we continued using the Black-Scholeslehto estimate the fair value of options grarited
purchase shares issued pursuant to the Stock RerEttan. The expected term of options grantedrigetefrom the
output of the option pricing model and represelnésperiod of time that options granted are expeictdut
outstanding. Volatility is based on the historiealatility of our common stock. The risk-free rdte periods within
the contractual term of the options is based ortl& Treasury yield curve in effect at the timegdnt.

The following are the weighted-average assumptimesl for the fiscal years ended September 30:

2007 2008 2009
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rat 4.9% 2.3% 5%
Volatility 43.4% 75.6% 160.4%
Expected life six-months  six-months  six-months

As of September 30, 2009, we had issued 264,488d500,000 shares of common stock reserved foaise
under our 2008 employee stock purchase plan.

17. RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS:

During fiscal 2007, 2008, and 2009, we granted wested (restricted) stock awards or restrictedkstmits
(collectively restricted stock awards) to certa@y kemployees pursuant to the 1998 Plan or the POY. The
restricted stock awards have varying vesting psribdt generally become fully vested at eitherethe of year four
or the end of year five, depending on the speaifiard. The awards granted in fiscal 2008 requirtatelevels of
performance by us before they are earned. The peafice metrics must be achieved by September 20thk o
awards will be forfeited. The stock underlying thessted restricted stock units will be deliveredupesting.

We accounted for the restricted stock awards gdagitieing fiscal 2007, 2008, and 2009 using the nnessent
and recognition provisions of ASC 718-10. Accordingve measure the fair value of the restrictedlstmwards on
the grant date and recognize the fair value iniegsnover the requisite service period for eactassply vesting
portion of the award.
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The following table summarizes restricted stockvitgtfrom September 30, 2008 through Septembe2809:

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

Non-vested balance at September 30, 2 830,000 $ 23.2¢
Changes during the peri

Shares grante 10,00 $  3.64

Shares veste (220,88) $ 5.3¢

Shares forfeite: (99,049 ¢ 7.3¢

Non-vested balance at September 30, 2 520,07 $ 6.3¢

As of September 30, 2009, we had approximately 8llion of total unrecognized compensation cositesl
to restricted stock awards granted under the Rlanexpect to recognize that cost over a weiglatgztage period
1.5 years.

18. NET INCOME PER SHARE:

The following is a reconciliation of the sharesdigethe denominator for calculating basic andtéiluearnings
per share for the fiscal years ended September 30:

2007 2008 2009
Weighted average common shares outstanding ussdaulating basi
net income per sha 18,618,61 18,391,48  18,685,42
Effect of dilutive option: 670,62( — —
Weighted average common and common equivalent shige in
calculating diluted net income per sh 19,289,23  18,391,48  18,685,42

Options to purchase approximately 742,000, 1,7@&0@ 764,000 shares of common stock were outstgndi
at September 30, 2007, 2008, and 2009, respectivetywere not included in the computation of ditliearnings
per share because the exercise prices were gtiearethe average market price of our common stmait therefore,
their effect would be anti-dilutive.

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES:
Lease Commitments

We lease certain land, buildings, machinery, eqeipinand vehicles related to our dealerships undef
cancelable third-party operating leases. Certamuofleases include options for renewal periodsmodisions for
escalation. Rental expense, including month-to-imoentals, were approximately $13.2 million, $18lion, and
$9.2 million for the fiscal years ended Septemtr2®07, 2008, and 2009, respectively. Rental esgpémrelated
parties under both cancelable and wancelable operating leases approximated $385@0fath of the fiscal yea
ended September 30, 2007, 2008, and 2009.

The rental payments to related parties, under baricelable and non-cancelable operating leasesgdiiscal
2007, 2008, and 2009, represent rental paymentsuititings to an entity partially owned by a fornodficer of our
company. We believe the terms of the transactiercansistent with those that we would obtain fromdt parties.
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Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgd@eating leases at September 30, 2009, werelaw/fol

(Amounts in thousands)

2010 $ 7,401
2011 6,671
2012 5,10¢
2013 3,67¢
2014 2,66(
Thereaftel 6,232

Total $ 31,74

Other Commitments and Contingencies

We are party to various legal actions arising mahdinary course of business. The ultimate lighilf any,
associated with theses matters was not believbd toaterial at September 30, 2009. While it isfeasible to
determine the actual outcome of these actions &gptfember 30, 2009, we do not believe that thegters will
have a material adverse effect on our consolidi@@dcial condition, results of operations, or célsiws.

During fiscal 2007, we received approximately $illion of insurance proceeds, of which approxinhate
$1.4 million offset the related losses associatid the destruction of marina docks and significexpenses we
incurred regarding damage and related clean uptatteDecember 2006 snow and ice storms in Missdhe
excess insurance proceeds received, of approxiyr®6€0,000, were recorded as a gain on involurdaposal of
assets. Additionally in fiscal 2007, we receivedi$aillion of business interruption insurance pred® for claims
associated with Hurricane Wilma, which occurre®ictober 2005. The business interruption insuramcegeds
were to reimburse us for the interruption in ouergtions that resulted in lost revenue and relptefits in addition
to the significant expenses incurred to move apdirénventory and to reimburse us for uninsuressés recognize
by certain locations. The gain on disposal andrarste proceeds received were recorded as a reduotselling,
general, and administrative expenses in the cateelil statements of operations during fiscal 2007.

During fiscal 2008 and 2009, we incurred costs e@iased with store closings of approximately $3.0iom and
$6.2 million, respectively. These costs primar#jated to the future minimum operating lease paysehthe
closed locations. The store closings were a keypoorant in our effort to better match our fixed sostth the
decline in retail business caused by the soft emdmoonditions. The store closing costs have beeluded in
selling, general, and administrative expensesérctinsolidated statements of operations durin@lfd@08 and
20009.

We are subject to federal and state environmeatallations, including rules relating to air and evgiollution
and the storage and disposal of gasoline, oil,rathemicals and waste. We believe that we arenmpiance with
such regulations.

20. EMPLOYEE 401(k) PROFIT SHARING PLANS:

Employees are eligible to participate in our 40 Rkdfit Sharing Plan (the Plan) following their
90-day introductory period starting either Apribd October 1, provided that they are 21 years ef &pder the
Plan, we match 50% of participants’ contributiomg,to a maximum of 5% of each participant’'s compéns. We
contributed, under the Plan, or pursuant to presgmilar plans, approximately $1.9 million, $1.8lion, and
$167,000 for the fiscal years ended September@D7,2008, and 2009, respectively. Beginning Jagnia2009,
our matching was suspended in an effort to redueeat! costs.
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21. PREFERRED SHARE PURCHASE RIGHTS:

During September 2001, we adopted a StockholdegitR Plan (the Rights Plan) that may have thecefié
deterring, delaying, or preventing a change in @tibat might otherwise be in the best intere$tsup
stockholders. Under the Rights Plan, a dividendre Preferred Share Purchase Right was issueddbrshare of
common stock held by the stockholders of recordfdlse close of business on September 7, 2001. &gich
entitles stockholders to purchase, at an exercise pf $50 per share, one-thousandth of a shaaenefvly created
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock.

In general, subject to certain limited exceptidhs, stock purchase rights become exercisable wipensan or
group acquires 15% or more of our common stocktenéder offer or exchange offer for 15% or morewf
common stock is announced or commenced. After aaly event, other stockholders may purchase additgrare
of our common stock at 50% of the themrrent market price. The rights will cause subshdilution to a person «
group that attempts to acquire us on terms notosgipr by our Board of Directors. The rights shouddl interfere
with any merger or other business combination apgidy the Board of Directors. The rights may liesmed by
us at $0.01 per stock purchase right at any tiniere@ny person or group acquires 15% or more@btltstanding
common stock. The rights expire on August 28, 2011.

The Rights Plan adoption and Rights Distribution ison-taxable event with no impact on our finanaaults.

22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS:

During November 2009, the Worker, Homeownershi, Basiness Assistance Act of 2009 (the “Act”) was
signed into law. The Act contains a number of tax thanges, including a provision that permits canigs to
carryback certain 2008 or 2009 net operating lof<€4d.) up to five years. Under existing tax lawgorto the Act,
we could only carryback an NOL a maximum of tworngea offset prior taxable income. The excess petating
loss generated in fiscal 2009, which could notdeied back under the prior law, will be able todagried back fivi
years under the Act. The additional carryback galherate an additional tax refund of approxima$al9 million.
As a result, our effective tax rate in the firsagper of fiscal year 2010 will be significantly imgted.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

23. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED):

The following table sets forth certain unauditedugerly financial data for each of our last eighaigers. The
information has been derived from unaudited finahsiatements that we believe reflect all adjusts)eonsisting
only of normal recurring adjustments, necessarytferfair presentation of such quarterly finanaidbrmation.

December 31  March 31, June 30, September 3C December 31 March 31, June 30,

September 3C
2007 2008 2008 2008 2008 2009 2009 2009
(Amounts in thousands except share and per share &g
Revenue $ 21526( $ 233,26: $ 271,27 $ 165600 $ 100,22: $ 129,60¢ $ 151,51 $ 207,23¢
Cost of sale: 167,14: 178,78( 209,43. 123,80t 76,521 109,89« 118,89¢ 194,61.
Gross profit 48,12 54,47¢ 61,84 41,79« 23,70: 19,71« 32,61¢ 12,627
Selling, general, and
administrative expenst 53,19: 56,19¢ 51,62% 56,41« 38,86: 36,36( 38,97t 45,80:
Goodwill and intangible asset
impairment — — 122,09: — — — — —
Loss from operation (5,06¢€) (1,719 (111,869 (14,620 (15,159 (16,646 (6,359 (33,179
Interest expens 5,881 5,952 4,76F 3,56€ 4,062 3,774 3,38( 2,84¢
Loss before income tax bene (20,94 (7,677 (116,639 (18,18¢) (19,22)) (20,42() (9,739 (36,029
Income tax benefi (4,52¢) (4,167) (3,377) (7,099) (4,88) (152) (559) (3,039)
Net loss $ (6,418 $ (3,509 ¢ (113,25)$% (11,099% (14,340$% (20,269 % (9,180 % (32,989
Net loss per shari
Diluted $ (0.35 $ (0.19 % (6.15 % (0.60) $ (0.79 $ (1.09 $ (049 % (1.72)
Weighted average number of
shares
Diluted 18,364,67 18,363,69 18,415,79 18,421,62 18,500,79 18,512,10 18,575,33  19,148,49

In order to provide comparability between periodssgnted, certain amounts have been reclassifiedthe

previously reported interim financial statementsaaform to the consolidated financial statemesspntation of
the current period.
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Exhibit 10.21 (e

NOTE: PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT INDICATED BY[****]"  ARE SUBJECT TO A CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST, ADNNHAVE BEEN OMITTED FRON
THIS EXHIBIT. COMPLETE, UNREDACTED COPIES OF THISXHIBIT HAVE BEEN FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCIHANGE COMMISSION AS PAR’
OF THIS COMPANY'S CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST.

SIXTH AMENDMENT
TO SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED
CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

ThisSIXTH AMENDMENT TO SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CRED IT AND SECURITY
AGREEMENT (this “ Sixth Amendment’) is entered into as of September 10, 2009 (th8ixth Amendmer
Effective Date’), by and amondMARINEMAX, INC. , a Delaware corporation (the * Compdhyand each of the <
(6) other Borrowers set forth on _Schedulatiached hereto and by the reference incorporageeirh (each of tr
Company and each of such six (6) Persons othertb@@ompany, singularly, a “ Borrowgrand the Company a
all of such Persons other than the Company, coliegt the “ Borrowers”), KEYBANK NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION , a national banking association, both individuaflp such capacity, “ KeyBanK) and a
administrative agent (in such capacity, the * Adistiative Agent’) for the Lenders (as hereinafter defineBANK
OF AMERICA, N.A., a national banking association, individually (irckicapacity, “ BOA’), as collateral agent (
such capacity, the “ Collateral Agehtand as documentation agent (in such capacig,”tbocumentation Agerit)
and the various other financial institutions as @renay become parties hereto, including, as ofdidie hereofGE
COMMERCIAL DISTRIBUTION FINANCE CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (* GE Commercig|
WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association (* Wachovja WELLS
FARGO BANK, N.A., a national banking association (* Wells FafyoU.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
a national banking association (* US Bahk BRANCH BANKING & TRUST COMPANY , a North Carolin
corporation (“ BB&T"), and BANK OF THE WEST , a California corporation (* Bank of the Wée3$t(KeyBank
BOA, GE Commercial, Wachovia, Wells Fargo, US BaBIB&T, Bank of the West, and such other finan
institutions, collectively, the “ Lender¥, amending that Second Amended and Restated CreditSacurit
Agreement dated as of June 19, 2006, by and amamgwers and Lenders as heretofore amended by itist
Amendment to Second Amended and Restated CrediSaadrity Agreement dated as of May 31, 2007, e
Amendment to Second Amended and Restated CrediSaadrity Agreement dated as of October 1, 20G¥ ,Tthirc
Amendment to Second Amended and Restated CrediSaadrity Agreement dated as of March 7, 2008 Finertr
Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credifaadrity Agreement dated as of December 15, 2808 the
Fifth Amendment to Second Amended and RestateditCaad Security Agreement dated as of June 5, 2069
Agreement’). Unless otherwise defined in this Sixth Amendmefitdafined terms used in this Sixth Amendn
shall have the meanings ascribed to such termshénAgreement. This Sixth Amendment is entered iin
consideration of, and upon, the terms, conditiondsagreements set forth herein.

1. Background Borrowers and Lenders desire to amend certain giang of the Agreement effective
of the Sixth Amendment Effective Date.

2. Changed Definitions The definitions of the following terms heretoforefided in the Agreement ¢
hereby amended to read in their entirety as follows

“ Commitment Amouhtshall mean (a) effective as of Sixth Amendmenfektive Date,
three hundred million dollars ($300,000,000), (feetive as September 30, 2009, two hundred fifty
million dollars ($250,000,000), (c) effective asdeeber 31, 2009, two hundred thirty-five




million dollars ($235,000,000), (d) effective as mga31, 2010, two hundred twenty million dollars
($220,000,000), (e) effective as June 30, 2010, twmdred million dollars ($200,000,000), and
(f) effective as September 30, 2010, one hundreergg-five million dollars ($175,000,000). All such

reductions in the Commitment Amount shall reduee @ommitments of the Lenders in accordance with
their Pro Rata Percentages, as follows:

(000
omitted) (000 (000 (000
Pro Rata Amend omitted) omitted) (000 omitted’ omitted) (000 omitted]

Lenders Percentagt No. 5 Date 9/30/09 12/31/09 3/31/10 6/30/10 9/30/10
27% $ 81,00C $ 67,50C $ 63,45C $ 59,40C $ 54,00C $47,25C
KeyBank 20% $ 60,00C $ 50,00C $ 47,00 $ 44,00C $ 40,00C $35,00C
GE Commercia 18% $ 54,00 $ 45,00 $ 42,30C $ 39,60C $ 36,00C $31,50C
Wachovia 10% $ 30,00C $ 25,00C $ 23,50C $ 22,00C $ 20,00C $17,50C
Wells Fargc 7% $ 21,00C $ 17,50C $ 16,45C $ 15,40C $ 14,00C $12,25C
US Bank 6% $ 18,00C $ 15,00C $ 14,10C $ 13,20C $ 12,00C $10,50C
6% $ 18,00C $ 15,00C $ 14,10C $ 13,20C $ 12,00C $10,50C
Bank of the Wes 6% $ 18,00C $ 15,00C $ 14,10C $ 13,20 $ 12,00C $10,50C
100% $ 300,00 $250,00C $235,00C $ 220,00( $200,00C $175,00C

Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the applicablen@nitment Amount under each of (a), (b), (c), (dj a
(e) above shall be reduced by the aggregate anmfu@ommon Stock Net Proceeds received by the
Company after the Sixth Amendment Effective Datd an or before December 31, 2009, but shall never
be reduced under this clause (i) to less than omelded seventy-five million dollars ($175,000,00and

(ii) the applicable Commitment Amount under (f) aboshall be or become one hundred seventy-five
million dollars ($175,000,000) at September 30,®@%en if prior to such date the Company shall have
received no Common Stock Net Proceeds. In additioa,applicable Commitment Amount (A) may be
increased by virtue of any exercise of the accordieature set forth in Section 2.01(a)(2) of the
Agreement, and (B) shall be reduced in connectidh sales of Additional Real Estate Collateral e t
manner set forth in Section 4.08(g) of the Agreeimen

“ EBITDA shall mean, for any period, the earnings befoterest, Taxes, Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R stock-basedpensation, depreciation, amortization, and any
intangible asset impairment charge deducted inrehéng the earnings of the Borrowers on a
consolidated basis for such period; provided, h@wevhat for each of the four quarterly periods o th
Borrowers ending on December 31, 2008, March 31)92Qune 30, 2009 and September 30, 2009,
EBITDA shall be calculated by adding back nonreagrrestructuring charges associated with business
location closings, leasehold improvement impairmgrdrges, lease termination charges, Lender closing
costs associated with the Fourth Amendment, thén Aimendment, and the Sixth Amendment to the
Agreement, and actual [****] inventory repurchasetttement writedowns up to a maximum of [****];
provided further, that for each




of the four quarterly periods of the Borrowers @gdon December 31, 2009, March 31, 2010, June 30,
2010 and September 30, 2010, EBITDA shall be catedl by adding to earnings the lesser of (a) fifty
percent (50%) of the total Common Stock Net Prosaedeived by the Company at any time after the
Sixth Amendment Effective Date and on or before ddelger 31, 2009, and (b) fifteen million dollars
($15,000,000). For purposes of calculating EBITIMAmmon Stock Net Proceeds actually received after
the Sixth Amendment Effective Date and on or befeeptember 30, 2009 shall be deemed to have been
received by the Company during the quarterly peeioding on December 31, 2009.

3. Added Definitions. The following new defined terms are hereby addedséstion 1.01 of tf
Agreement.

“ Common Stock Net Proceédhall mean the cash proceeds from any New Common
Stock Sale, net of all fees (including investmeanling fees), discounts, commissions, costs aner oth
expenses, in each case incurred in connectionsuicth New Common Stock Sale. In connection with the
calculation of Common Stock Net Proceeds with respe any New Common Stock Sale, all fees,
discounts, commissions, costs and expenses shalldeated on a pro rata basis among the shardsrsol
such New Common Stock Sale.

“ New Common Stock Salehall mean any public or private cash sale of wmm stock
of the Company occurring at any time after the IsiAimendment Effective Date and on or before
December 31, 20009.

“ Sixth Amendment Effeaiate” shall mean September 10, 2009, the effective date
the Sixth Amendment to the Agreement.

4. Legal Fees and Expenses of Sixth Ameneint . Borrowers shall reimburse the Administrative At
and the Collateral Agent for their legal fees ardemses in connection with the execution and dslieé this Sixtl
Amendment.

5. Representations and Warranties of thBorrowers . The Borrowers represent and warrant tc
Agent, the Collateral Agent, and the Lenders that Sixth Amendment and each related Loan Docurhastbee
duly authorized by all necessary action on the pheach of the Borrowers, has been duly executeddalivered b
each of the Borrowers, and constitutes a validlanding agreement of each of the Borrowers enfdresagainst suc
Borrower in accordance with its terms.

6. Opinion of Counsel This Sixth Amendment shall not become effectiveluhé Agent, the Collater
Agent, and the Lenders shall have received an @piof counsel to the Company and the other Borrswegisonab
satisfactory to the Agent, the Collateral Agentd @ahe Lenders to the effect set forth in Sectioof &his Sixtt
Amendment; provided, howevethat such opinion of counsel may be subject tdaary qualifications.

7. Effect on Agreement Except as specifically amended and modified by 8iidh Amendment, ¢
terms, conditions, covenants and agreements $btifothe Agreement
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shall remain in full force and effect. The misce#aus provisions of Article IX of the Agreement Istegoply with
equal force to this Sixth Amendment.

8. Counterparts. This Sixth Amendment may be executed in two or nomenterparts, each of whi
shall constitute an original but all of which whitken together shall constitute one agreement.

[SIGNATURES FOLLOW]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Sixth Amendment to the Second Amended andaRsbiCredit and Secur
Agreement has been executed and delivered by thiepéincluding 100% of the Lenders) as of the dag year firs
above written.

“BORROWERS”
MARINEMAX, INC. , a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Kurt M. Frahn
Kurt M. Frahn, Vice Presider

MARINEMAX EAST, INC. , a Delaware corporatior

By: /s/ Kurt M. Frahn
Kurt M. Frahn, Assistant Secreta

MARINEMAX SERVICES, INC. , a Delaware corporatior

By: /s/ Kurt M. Frahn
Kurt M. Frahn, Assistant Secreta

US LIQUIDATORS, LLC , a Delaware limited liability
company

NEWCOAST FINANCIAL SERVICES, LLC , a Delaware
limited liability company

By: MARINEMAX, INC. , sole member

By: /s/ Kurt M. Frahn
Kurt M. Frahn, Vice Presider

MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC , a Delaware limited
liability company

BOATING GEAR CENTER, LLC , a Delaware limited
liability company

By: MARINEMAX EAST, INC. , sole member

By: /s/ Kurt M. Frahn
Kurt M. Frahn, Assistant Secreta

Signhature Page




“LENDERS”

KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION ,a
national banking association

By: /s/ Brian T. McDevitt

Name:Brian T. McDevitt
Title: Vice President

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., successor b
merger to Banc of America Specialty Finance,
Inc.

By: /s/ L. Ransom Burts

Name:L. Ransom Burts
Title: Senior Vice Presider

GE COMMERCIAL DISTRIBUTION
FINANCE CORPORATION, a Delaware
corporation

By: /s/ David M. Campbell

Name:David M. Campbell
Title: Portfolio Management Directc

WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION , a national banking associati

By: /s/ Leslie Fredericks

Name:Leslie Fredericks
Title: VP

Signhature Page




WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. , a national banking associati

By: /s/ Roger Fruendt

Name:Roger Fruendt
Title: Senior Vice Presider

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a natione
banking association

By: /s/ Sean Devillers

Name:Sean Devillers
Title: Vice President

BRANCH BANKING & TRUST COMPANY, a
North Carolina corporatio

By: /s/ Brigitta Lawton

Name:Brigitta Lawton
Title: Senior Vice Presider

BANK OF THE WEST, a California corporatio

By: /s/ Mark Weiser

Name:Mark Weiser
Title: Vice President

“ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT ”

KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION ,a
national banking association

By: /s/ Brian T. McDevitt

Name:Brian T. McDevitt
Title: Vice President

Signhature Page




“COLLATERAL AGENT " and
‘DOCUMENTATION AGENT”

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., successor by merger
to Banc of America Specialty Finance, Inc.

By: /s/ L. Ransom Burts

Name:L. Ransom Burts
Title: Senior Vice Presider

Signature Page
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Schedule |

. MARINEMAX EAST, INC. , a Delaware corporatic

. MARINEMAX SERVICES, INC. , a Delaware corporatic

. US LIQUIDATORS, LLC , a Delaware limited liability compar

. NEWCOAST FINANCIAL SERVICES, LLC , a Delaware limited liability compar
. MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC , a Delaware limited liability compar

. BOATING GEAR CENTER, LLC , a Delaware limited liability compar

Schedule



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 33300®) pertaining to the 2008 shelf registratioMafrineMax, Inc. and the related
Prospectus,

2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33B6B4) pertaining to the 2007 Incentive Compensdtilam of MarineMax, Inc.,
3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33383b6) pertaining to the 1998 Employee Stock Puretrdan of MarineMax, Inc.,
4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333323 pertaining to the 1998 Incentive Stock PlaMafineMax, Inc.,

5) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333633 pertaining to the 1998 Incentive Stock Plad e 1998 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan of MarineMax, Inc., and

6) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 3383B8) pertaining to the 2008 Employee Stock Purelfdan of MarineMax, Inc.;

of our reports dated December 14, 2009, with radpete consolidated financial statements of Malax, Inc. and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting of MarMax, Inc., included in this Annual Report (Form KPef MarineMax Inc. for the year end
September 30, 2009.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Tampa, Florida
December 14, 2009



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
[, William H. McGill Jr., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Maax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opere, and cash flows of the registrant as of, amdthe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedores designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentisimeport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures as of the end of the period cousyéhis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the teghig’s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regits fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the igant’s internal control over financial reportiremd

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize, esmbrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawaanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/sIWiLLiam H. McGILL, (R.
William H. McGill Jr.
Chief Executive Office

Date: December 14, 2009



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
I, Michael H. McLamb, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Maax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opere, and cash flows of the registrant as of, amdthe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedores designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentisimeport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures as of the end of the period cousyéhis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the teghig’s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the
registrants most recent fiscal quarter (the registrants fofiscal quarter in the case of an annual repbei has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize, esmbrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawaanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ MicHAEL H. McLAawmB
Michael H. McLamb
Chief Financial Officel

Date: December 14, 2009



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTS OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fMarineMax, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year eddgeptember 30, 2009, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiohe date hereof (the “Report”), I, William H. Méi@r., Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, to my best knowledge and befiefsuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursad&h906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExaeAct of 1934 (15 U.S.C.
78m(a) or 780(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations
of the Company.

/s/WiLLiam H. McGILL JR.
William H. McGill Jr.
Chief Executive Officer

Date: December 14, 2009



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTS OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fMarineMax, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year eddgeptember 30, 2009, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioithe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Michael H. Mahb, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, to my best knowledge and befiefsuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursad&h906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(3) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExaeAct of 1934 (15 U.S.C.
78m(a) or 780(d)); and

(4) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations
of the Company.

/s/ MicHAEL H. McLAwmB
Michael H. McLamb
Chief Financial Officer

Date: December 14, 2009



